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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to
invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Prime Intelligence Solutions Group Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no
other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERE®E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Prime Intelligence
Solutions Group Limited (the “Company”), | hereby present the annual
report of the Company and its subsidiaries (together the "Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Reporting Period”).

LISTING

On 14 February 2018, the Company was successfully listed (the “Listing”)
on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The Listing has laid a foundation for the Group’s continuous
development.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a provider of biometrics identification solutions in Hong Kong
(“‘Hong Kong”) Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC” or “China”), Macau Special Administrative Region of the
PRC (“Macau”) and the PRC. The Group markets itself using the brand
“Solution Expert”. The Group markets its products through the sales
of products which include biometrics identification devices and other
devices and accessories, and provision of auxiliary and other services.
The Group’s biometrics identification devices have one or more of the
following functions: face identification; fingerprint identification; finger vein
identification; hand geometry identification; and iris identification.

The Group would like to share more details of its performance, financial
position and other information for the year ended 31 March 2025
with shareholders (“Shareholders”) in the following section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis”.

PROSPECTS

Apart from its commitment to the development of its principal business,
the Group will actively make progress to generate growth and strive for
potential and new business opportunities. The Group plans to further its
growth in existing business by strengthening its marketing capabilities
and expanding its product portfolio through enhancing software
development, with a view to further enlarging its market share in Hong
Kong and Macau and becoming one of the active biometrics identification
solutions providers in the PRC. As such, the Group has utilised the net
proceeds from the Listing on (i) enhancing the quality of after-sales and
strengthening the operation support as part of the expansion plan of the
business in the Southern China; (i) improving its information technology
system; (iii) setting up a new and separate software development centre
in the PRC to further enhance and develop the Group’s software; and (iv)
research and development on touchless biometrics identification devices
and Artificial Intelligence & Internet of Things (“AloT”).
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHRE

The Group plans to diversify its business to maintain a healthy portfolio.
Leveraging on the experience of the Directors, the Group considers
setting up new business lines including artificial intelligence technology
solutions, catering management and trade services.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group remains committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance. All board committees have effectively supported the Board
in carrying out its responsibilities. By conducting its business under good
corporate governance, the Group’s and Shareholder’s long term interests
will be maximised.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my warmest thanks to the
management and the staff of the Group for their significant contributions.
I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to all Shareholders and
investors for their endless support. With the solid business base and the
effort of all staff, the Group will endeavour to open a new chapter in the
future.

Wang Yicheng
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREN WD

OVERVIEW

The Group is a provider of biometrics identification solutions in Hong
Kong, Macau and the PRC. The Group derives revenue from the
following business activities: (i) sales of biometrics identification devices,
security products, and other accessories; and (i) provision of auxiliary
and other services. The Group’s biometrics identification devices have
one or more of the following functions: (i) face identification; (i) fingerprint
identification; (iii) finger vein identification; (iv) hand geometry identification;
and (v) iris identification. The revenue of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2025 was approximately HK$67.4 million, representing an
increase by approximately 23.9% from approximately HK$54.4 million
for the year ended 31 March 2024. The increase in revenue was mainly
attributable to (i) increase in sales of biometrics identification devices,
security products and other accessories by approximately HK$5.3 million
(or 14.2%) as compared with the corresponding period in 2024; and (ji)
increase in revenue derived from provision of auxiliary and other services
by approximately HK$7.2 million (or 41.9%) as compared with the
corresponding period in 2024.

Revenue represents the invoiced values of goods sold and services
rendered, after allowances for returns and discounts during the reporting
periods.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE DN

Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

The majority of the Group’s cost of sales and services rendered was
costs of inventories sold. The Group’s costs of inventories sold increased
by approximately 22.2% to approximately HK$24.8 million for the year
ended 31 March 2025 (2024: approximately HK$20.3 million). The gross
profit margin dropped from approximately 46.3% for the year ended 31
March 2024 to approximately 46.1% for the year ended 31 March 2025.
The gross profit raised from approximately HK$25.2 million for the year
ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$31.1 million for the year
ended 31 March 2025. The increase in gross profit was mainly due to the
increase in revenue.

Expenses

Staff costs for the year ended 31 March 2025 was approximately
HK$31.9 million (2024: approximately HK$34.2 million), representing a
decrease by approximately HK$2.3 million as compared with that of last
corresponding period, which was mainly due to the decrease in bonus
and allowances during the period.

Administrative expenses for the year ended 31 March 2025 were
approximately HK$23.5 million (2024: approximately HK$33.4 million),
representing a decrease of approximately HK$9.9 million as compared
with the last corresponding period, which was mainly due to the decrease
in staff costs and impairment loss on right-of-use assets.

Taxes

The income tax expense comprised Hong Kong Profits Tax, Macau
Complementary Tax and PRC Enterprise Income Tax for the year.
The income tax expense for the year ended 31 March 2025 was
approximately HK$24,000 (2024: Nil).

Under the two-tiered Profits Tax Regime, one of the Company’s Hong
Kong subsidiaries is subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax at the rate of 8.25%
for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: 8.25%) for the first HK$2 million
of its estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% for the year ended 31
March 2025 (2024: 16.5%) on its estimated assessable profits above
HK$2 million. Other Hong Kong subsidiaries not qualifying for the two-
tiered Profit Tax Regime are subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax at the rate
of 16.5% for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: 16.5%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREN WD

The Group’s subsidiary established and operated in the PRC is subject
to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at the rate of 25% for the year ended 31
March 2025 (2024: 25%). Approximately HK$24,000 of PRC Enterprise
Income Tax has been provided for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024:
Nil).

The Group’s subsidiary established and operated in the Macau Special
Administrative Region (“Macau”) of the PRC is subject to Macau
Complementary Tax, under which taxable income of up to Macau Pataca
(“MOP”) 600,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: MOP600,000)
is exempted from taxation with taxable income beyond this amount to be
taxed at the rate of 12% for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: 12%).

Profit for the Year

The Group incurred a net profit of approximately HK$1.6 million for the
year ended 31 March 2025, as compared with a net loss of approximately
HK$15.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2024. The decrease in net
loss was mainly due to (i) increase in revenue and gross profit; and (i)
decrease in selling and distribution costs and administrative and other
operating expenses.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

Historically, the Group has funded the liquidity and capital requirements
primarily through operating cash flows, bank borrowings and proceeds
from Listing. The Directors believe that with the new capital from Listing,
the Group is in a healthy financial position to expand its core business
and to achieve its business objectives. As at 31 March 2025, the Group
issued 6 tranches of promissory notes with the aggregate principal
amounts of approximately HK$1.9 million. The interest for the promissory
notes is charged at 5% per annum. (31 March 2024: Nil). The Group
requires cash primarily for working capital needs. As at 31 March 2025,
the Group had approximately HK$4.2 million in bank and cash balances
(31 March 2024: approximately HK$3.8 million).

Gearing Ratio

At as 31 March 2025, the gearing ratio was 21.1% (31 March 2024:
26.4%). Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing total debt by total equity
as at the respective period end. For the avoidance of doubt, total debt
includes promissory notes and lease liabilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE DN

OPERATION REVIEW

Outlook

The ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (the “Shares”) of the Company
have been successfully listed on GEM on 14 February 2018. The Board
considers that such public listing status will allow the Company to gain
access to the capital market for corporate finance exercise, assist the
Company in the future business development, enhance the Group’s
corporate profile and recognition and strengthen its competitiveness.

Considering the decrease in market demand and the uncertainties
brought by the post-COVID-19 era in the PRC, the Group has decided
to suspend the plan to launch affordable locally manufactured fingerprint
identification devices as part of the expansion plan of the business in the
Southern China, and has reallocated part of the utilised net proceeds
from the Listing to other business plans, namely (i) enhancement of the
quality of after-sales services and strengthening of the operation support;
(i) improving the information technology system; (iii) research and
development on touchless biometrics identification devices and AloT; and
(iv) working capital.

The Group has observed that there has been a change of market trend
from touch biometrics identification devices to touchless biometrics
identification devices due to increased public health awareness since
the COVID-19 pandemic. As such, the Group has applied part of the net
proceeds from the Listing for research and development on touchless
biometrics identification devices and AloT. The Group plans to diversify
the functions of its touchless biometrics identification devices and their
applications by utilizing AloT in order to capture the market of touchless
biometrics identification devices with healthcare-related functions.
Looking forward, the Board takes the view that AloT and its functions
can be applied in many different scenarios that the Group’s biometrics
identification devices can be involved. The Group plans to capture and
develop new markets in light of the growing popularity and application of
AloT in daily life.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total of 79 employees. The
Group’s staff cost for the year ended 31 March 2025 amounted to
approximately HK$31.9 million (2024: approximately HK$34.2 million).
The Group’s remuneration policies are in line with the prevailing market
practise and are determined on the basis of performance, qualification
and experience of individual employee. The Group recognises the
importance of a good relationship with its employees. The remuneration
payable to its employees includes salaries and allowances. Other benefits
and incentives include training and share option.

In Hong Kong, the Group’s employees have participated in the mandatory
provident fund prescribed by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong). In the PRC, the
Group’s employees have participated in the basic pension insurance,
basic medical insurance, unemployment insurance, occupational injury
insurance, maternity insurance prescribed by the Social Insurance Law of
the PRC ((FF2E A R 2R B+t &R 2% )), and housing fund prescribed
by the Regulations on the Administration of Housing Fund ({{F B A& &
EIBIEM)). Al PRC based employees have the right to participate in the
social insurance and housing provident fund schemes.

Capital Expenditure

The Group purchased property, plant and equipment amounting to
approximately HK$0.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024:
approximately HK$2.4 million).

Capital Commitments
The Group did not have any significant capital commitments as at 31
March 2025 (2024: Nil).

Foreign Currency Risk
The Company does not have significant exposure on foreign currency
risk.

The functional currency of the Group’s entities are principally denominated
in HK$, Renminbi (‘RMB”), MOP and Great British Pound. The Group
has certain exposure to foreign currency risk as some of its business
transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated in currencies other
than the functional currencies of respective Group entities such as United
Stated dollars (“US$”), RMB and EURO. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities.

The Group did not engage in any derivatives agreement and did not

commit to any financial instruments to hedge its foreign exchange
exposure during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE DN

Significant Investments held, Material Acquisitions and Disposals
of Subsidiaries, and Future Plans for Material Investments or
Capital Assets

On 14 November 2024, the Group acquired 100% of the issued
capital of Yingke Huachuang Technology (Chengdu) Company Limited*
(& B2 8l ®l H (6K #)A R 2 7)) for a total consideration of RMB1.
Yingke Huachuang Technology (Chengdu) Company Limited is engaged
in providing online information and digital marketing services. The
acquisition is for the purpose of diversifying the Group’s business.

On 7 March 2025, the Group disposed of its entire interests in its wholly-
owned subsidiary, Prime Intelligence Information Technology Company
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong, to an independent third
party at a consideration of HK$1.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
did not have any other significant investment, material acquisition or disposal
of subsidiaries or any plan for material investments or capital assets.

Charges over Assets of the Group
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, there were no charges over assets of the
Group.

Dividend
The Directors do not recommend payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

Share Option Schemes

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Share Option Scheme”)
was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed by the then shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) on 18 January 2018 for the primary
purpose to attract, retain and motivate talented participants, to strive for
future developments and expansion of the Group. Eligible participants of
the Share Option Scheme include any employees, executive Directors,
non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors),
advisers, consultants of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

The Share Option Scheme will remain valid and effective for a period of
10 years commencing on the date on which the Share Option Scheme
is adopted, after which no further share options will be granted but the
provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall in all other respects remain in
full force and effect and share options which are granted during the life of
the Share Option Scheme may continue to be exercisable in accordance
with their terms of issue. The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme
were summarized in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme”
in Appendix IV to the prospectus (the “Prospectus”) published by the
Company in relation to the Listing. No share option has been granted,
exercised, expired, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme
since its adoption and up to the date of this report.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEEEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline (“Ms. Pauline Yuen”), aged 56, is an
executive Director. She was redesignated as an executive Director on
6 November 2015 and is mainly responsible for overseeing corporate
policies and human resources of the Group. She is a director of Power
Truth, SE Technology, SE Engineering, SE R&D and SE Shenzhen. Ms.
Pauline Yuen resigned from the positions of compliance officer of the
Company and member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company
with effect from 20 July 2024.

Ms. Pauline Yuen has over 32 years of experience in accounting, during
which she has also obtained over 18 years of experience in finance and
management. She obtained a bachelor of science degree in business
administration and accounting from the California State University in
the United States in August 1992. She worked in Wing On Department
Stores (Hong Kong) Limited from November 1992 to April 1994, with her
last position being assistant accountant. She then worked in China Online
(Bermuda) Limited, from April 1994 to September 1999, with her last
position being senior accountant. She was the accounting manager of
Tricom CyberWorld Holdings Limited from September 1999 to December
2000. From September 2001 to January 2006, she worked in Hing Wah
Lung QOil & Rice Limited with her last positing being the accounting and
administration manager. She was employed by Pacific Century Matrix
(HK) Limited from February 2006 to May 2007 with her last position being
manager, finance and administration and was mainly responsible for
management of treasury function and finance and accounting operations.

Ms. Pauline Yuen is the sister of Mr. Tony Yuen (a non-executive Director)
and Ms. Jazzy Wong (a member of the senior management).
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EENEREEERE

Mr. Lin Shixing (“Mr. Lin”), aged 49, is an executive Director. He was
appointed on 22 December 2023.

He has around 21 years of experience in the wine industry. Since
2016, he has been the general manager of Guangzhou City Jiachi Wine
Company Limited (& M 1 1 1 8 2 A% 5 & BR 22 A1) and Shandong
Hannuo Jiachi Wine Company Limited (L1 B2/& 55 B 2D AR A 7).
Prior to that, Mr. Lin has approximately 13 years of working experience
in several wine companies, including Jinan Nver Hong Liquor Sales
Limited (7 m 2 5 41 5B $8 & A BR 2 7), Changsha Sanliangsan Good
Wine Limited (K2 =M =1 B% AR 2 7)) and Shaanxi Xifengjiu Group
Company Limited (B 78 73 Bl E £ B A% {5 A BR 2 7). Mr. Lin has been
appointed as the committee member of Zaozhuang City Political and
Consultative Conference. He has also been appointed as the executive
chairman of Zaozhuang City Fujian Chamber of Commerce and the vice
chairman of Hunan Province Wine Industry Association.

Mr. Lin completed the Advanced Management Program at Guanghua
School of Management of Peking University in 2022.

Mr. Wang Yicheng (“Mr. Wang”), aged 31, is an executive Director,
the chairman of the board of Directors, the chief executive officer and
a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company. He was appointed on 26 January 2024 and
re-designated on 13 May 2024.

He has over 11 years of experience in the industries of project investment
and corporate governance and has been an investor focusing on
securities investment. He has participated in the initial public offerings
of shares, acquisitions, mergers, and financing projects of several Hong
Kong listed companies. He has extensive professional knowledge in
different aspects, particularly in corporate governance, venture capital,
corporate restructuring, listing, and financing businesses. Mr. Wang is
currently the chief executive officer of a financial holding company, which
provides financial services in Asia-Pacific.

Ms. Zhang Yushan (“Ms. Zhang”), aged 32, is an executive Director.
She was appointed on 12 April 2024. She obtained legal advice on 28
March 2024 according to the requirements of Rule 5.02D of the GEM
Listing Rules, and has confirmed she understood her obligations as a
director of a listed issuer.

She has over 8 years of experience in the marketing industry. From
August 2017 to June 2019, she was the assistant marketing director at
Qigin Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd* (& &= &% (It )R AR A7), a
company in digital marketing industry and has been the assistant general
manager at Shenyang Baochen Trading Co., Ltd* (BB REEER A7)
since September 2019.

Ms. Zhang obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Performing Arts from The
Central Academy of Drama* (R EiEI 27 ) in Beijing in 2014.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEEEE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Yuen Kwok Wai, Tony (“Mr. Tony Yuen”), aged 54, is one of the
founders of the Group and a non-executive Director of the Company. He
joined the Group as a director on 28 June 1999 and was re-designated
as a non-executive Director on 13 May 2024. Mr. Tony Yuen is a director
of Power Truth Holdings Limited (“Power Truth”), Solution Expert
Technology Limited (“SE Technology”), Solution Expert Engineering
Limited (“SE Engineering”) and Solution Expert Technology (R&D)
Limited (“SE R&D”). He is also the chairman, general manager and legal
representative of Solution Expert Technology (Shenzhen) Limited* (“SE
Shenzhen”).

Mr. Tony Yuen has over 28 years of experience in software programming.
He obtained a bachelor of engineering degree from the University of
Hong Kong in January 1995. Before he joined the Group, he was the
head of information systems department of PENTAX group in Hong Kong
from 1996 to 1998, and was responsible for developing networking and
computer solution systems in different computerisation projects. Mr. Tony
Yuen has not held any directorship in any other public companies, the
securities of which are or have been listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years.

Mr. Tony Yuen is a brother of Ms. Pauline Yuen (one of the executive

Directors) and the spouse of Ms. Jazzy Wong (a member of the senior
management).
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EENEREEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Ching Wan (“Mr. Wong”), aged 58, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 17 June 2022 and has been
redesignated as the chairman of each of the Remuneration Committee,
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company with effect
from 31 July 2024. He has profound experience in audit, internal control,
financial control and capital markets. He has acted as director in different
listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Wong has been an independent
non-executive director of Top Standard Corporation, a company listed
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (stock code: 8510) since January 2020. He has been the
chief financial officer of Intelligent Living Application Group Inc. (stock
code: ILAG) since June 2020. He was a director of Network CN, Inc. (stock
code: NWCN), which shares are duly traded in the USA, from August
2015 to July 2017, and has been its independent director since January
2022.

Previously, Mr. Wong was an independent non-executive director of
Grand Field Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 115) between December 2008 to
January 2009. From May 2015 to June 2018, he was an independent
non-executive director of Huge China Holdings Limited (currently known
as Cocoon Holdings Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 428). He served as the company
secretary and authorized representative of China Oil Gangran Energy
Group Holdings Limited (currently known as Century Energy International
Holdings Limited), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8132) from December 2015 to October 2016 and from
December 2015 to January 2017, respectively. From March 2016
to April 2022, he was an independent non-executive director of On
Real International Holdings Limited (currently known as Shanyu Group
Holdings Company Limited), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8245).

Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Business and Administration from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong in May 1989 and a Bachelor of Business
from The University of Southern Queensland in April 1992. Mr. Wong is
a member of CPA Australia since October 1992, Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada since January 1999, the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since March 1999 and fellow member of The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong since October 2012.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEEEE

Mr. Yang Chuan (“Mr. Yang”), aged 36, is an independent non-
executive Director and a member of each of the Remuneration
Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company. He was appointed on 12 April 2024. He obtained legal advice
on 28 March 2024 according to the requirements of Rule 5.02D of the
GEM Listing Rules, and has confirmed he understood his obligations as a
director of a listed issuer.

He has 11 years of experience in business management. In 2014, Mr.
Yang founded Sichuan Longwentang Enterprise Management Co., Ltd*
(T BEXX E B AR AR and acted as its chief executive officer.
In 2015, Mr. Yang founded Kanke Technology Chengdu Co., Ltd* (E)%&
RIF R # AR A 7)) and acted as its chief executive officer.

Mr. Yang obtained a Diploma in Building Electrical Engineering
Technology from the department of electrical engineering at Chengdu
Institute of Technology* (A #B T2 £2FT) in 2013.

Ms. Li Dongxian (“Ms. Li”), aged 29, is an independent non-executive
Director and a member of each of the Remuneration Committee, Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. She was
appointed on 31 July 2024. She obtained legal advice on 19 July 2024
according to the requirements of Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing Rules,
and has confirmed she understood her obligations as a director of a listed
issuer.

She has 4 years of experience in the field of human resources
management. From 2020 to 2024, Ms. Li worked at Shenzhen Dixin
Technology Co.* (& JIl 7 18 & £ & IR A A]) and acted as the human
resources manager.

Ms. Li obtained a Bachelor’s Degree from Shenzhen University* (YK E)
in China in 2020.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wong Ka Man, Jazzy (“Ms. Jazzy Wong”), aged 46, is the senior
manager of SE Engineering and is responsible for assisting the Group’s
sales and marketing. She is also a director of SE Shenzhen. Ms. Jazzy
Wong obtained a bachelor of arts degree in computing from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in November 2004. Prior to joining the
Group, she worked at South China Media Limited as web developer in
the online department from July 2000 to September 2000. She joined SE
Engineering in October 2000.

Ms. Jazzy Wong is the spouse of Mr. Tony Yuen (a non-executive

Director), and a sister-in-law of Ms. Pauline Yuen (one of the executive
Directors).
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EENEREEERE

Mr. Chou Chiu Ho (“Mr. Chou”), aged 44, is the company secretary
and financial controller of the Group, and is responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting, financial planning, financial control and
company secretarial matters. He first joined as the company secretary of
SE Technology in September 2015 and was subsequently promoted as
the company secretary and financial controller in November 2016. He was
appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) in November 2015.

Mr. Chou has over 20 years of experience in accounting and auditing.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chou worked in an accounting firm from
September 2003 to January 2006, with his last position being semi-senior
auditor. He then joined PricewaterhouseCoopers from January 2006 to
December 2010. From January 2011 to March 2012, Mr. Chou worked
as the head of corporate services of Beijing Sports and Entertainment
Industry Group Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 1803) (formerly known as ASR Logistics
Holdings Limited). Since April 2013, Mr. Chou has been working as the
financial controller and company secretary of Millennium Pacific Group
Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM, stock code: 8147) (“MP
Group”). Mr. Chou resigned as the financial controller and the company
secretary of MP Group in September 2014 and March 2017 respectively
and has been re-appointed as the company secretary and the authorised
representative on 1 April 2024. Mr. Chou also served as the chief financial
officer of HF Financial Group Limited and subsequently transferred to
HF Management (China) Limited from January 2015 to July 2016. Mr.
Chou has been the director of Archon Prime Strategic (Group) Limited
since April 2013. Mr. Chou has been an executive director and the
authorised representative of Xinming China Holdings Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2699) on 5
February 2020 and re-designated as a non-executive director on 1 May
2020. Mr. Chou resigned as a non-executive director and the authorised
representative of Xinming China Holdings Limited on 18 November 2021
and 25 November 2021 respectively. Mr. Chou is also the company
secretary of Momentum Financial Holdings Limited (a company listed on
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1152) on 30 April 2024,
an independent non-executive director of Singasia Holdings Limited (a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8293) on 8
March 2024, an independent non-executive director of King Stone Energy
Group Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
663) on 22 April 2024. From 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025, Mr. Chou
served as an independent director of Junee Limited, a company listed on
NASDAQ (Nasdag: JUNE).

Mr. Chou obtained a bachelor of arts degree in accountancy from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 2003. Mr. Chou was
admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountant in November 2011. He was also admitted as a member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in November 2010
and subsequently a fellow member in November 2015.
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BACKGROUND

The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempt
company in the Cayman Islands with limited liability under the
Companies Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands on 16 October
2015.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in sales of biometrics identification devices and
security products and provision of application software and repair
and maintenance services during the year ended 31 March 2025
which is same as those of last year. The Company is listed on GEM
of Stock Exchange on 14 February 2018 (stock code: 8379).

ABOUT THE REPORT

The Group primarily adopts the principles and basis of the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (‘ESG
Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2 to the GEM Listing Rules, with
an aim to establish a sound environmental, social and governance
structure.

This report covers the Group’s overall performance in two subject
areas, namely, environmental and social aspect of the business
operations in Hong Kong office for the period from 1 April 2024 to
31 March 2025 (the “Year” or “2025”), unless otherwise stated.

This report comprises the review of environmental, social and
governance areas (“ESG”), which sets out the Company and
its major subsidiaries’ policies and practices in respect of three
environmental aspects and eight social aspects in accordance
with ESG Guide for the Year. This report is designed to allow
the Company’s stakeholders, such as Shareholders, investors,
customers, suppliers, employees, creditors, regulators and the
general public to have comprehensive understanding of the long-
term sustainability information of the Group. The Group seeks to
balance the views and interests of these stakeholders through
constructive conversation with a view to setting the course for
long term prosperity. The Board is responsible for evaluating and
determining the environmental, social and governance risks of the
Group, and ensuring that relevant risk management and internal
control systems are in place and operate effectively.

Unless otherwise specified, the reporting boundary of this report
covers the principal businesses of the Group. We regularly review
the scope of the ESG Report to ensure that significant impacts to
the Group’s overall business portfolio are covered.
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The basis of reporting principles:

° Materiality:

The Group determines material ESG issues by stakeholder
engagement and materiality assessment.

° Quantitative:

Information is presented with quantitative measure,
whenever feasible, including information on the standards,
methodologies, assumptions used and provision of
comparative data.

° Consistency:

The Report will use consistent methodologies for meaningful
comparisons in the past years unless improvements in
methodology are identified.

BOARD STATEMENT

The Board has a primary role in overseeing the Group’s ESG
issues. During the Year, the Board, the management and the ESG
working team spent significant time in evaluating the impacts of
ESG-related risks towards the operation and formulating ESG-
related policies in dealing with relevant risks. The oversight of the
Board ensures that the management and the ESG working team
can have all the right tools and resources to oversee the ESG
issues.

The management and ESG working team is primarily responsible for
reviewing and supervising the ESG process and risk management
of the Group. ESG governance matters and ESG-related issues are
reviewed at the regular meeting during the Year.

The Board has identified potential and material issues to the
business and its stakeholders. The Board has also taken part in
the materiality assessment as one of the key stakeholders of the
company in providing constructive opinions on the materiality of
ESG issues.
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HE

4 MATERIALITY MATRIX 4 EEMEME
During the Year, the Group has evaluated a number of FR - AEEHZARE L ENELHEFRE
environmental, social and operation related issues, and assessed TR - WBASBERENEZERELHED
their importance to stakeholders and the Group through various ERAEENEEN -
channels.
Importance to the Group
HEAEENEEM
Low Medium High
& A =
High e Anti-discrimination Talent management Customers’ satisfaction level
= RIEAR AT ER EPREREE
® Protecting labour rights Staff training and promotion Anti-corruption
IRAEL THEF opportunity S=V&]
BIEIIREFEkE Product quality and safety
Staff compensation and EmEEREZR
welfare policies Suppliers management
8 T8 REFEER HERE R

Occupational health and
workplace safety

BERREMTESHZE

HERENEEY

Importance to Stakeholders

Medium °

Community involvement

trlE 2

Use of resources

BIREM

Operational compliance
EBEH

Protecting customers’
privacy

RERPEIL

Air emissions

REEHE

&

Low °

Preventive measures for
child and forced labour
HET RoRALHHTENTE
i}

Non-hazardous wastes
produced

EENEEED

Use of raw materials
R R A
Hazardous wastes produced

EENBEED

B EBRGRAT / £$2025
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The table underneath shows aspects on the ESG Guide to be THRINESGRERIDFFEEFENER
assessed and those ESG issues were determined to be material to RETRAHAEEMEBEANESGHERE °
the Group.

ESG Aspects as set forth in ESG Guide
(ESG W EIES| )P FIRESG EMH

Material ESG issues to the Group
HAEEMSBEAHNESGHE

LA

(A) Environmental

A) ERE
A1 Emissions
Al R
A2  Use of Resources
A2 EBREA

A3 Environment and Natural Resources
A3 EIRERAEIR
A4 Climate change
A4 RIREE
(B) Social
(B) H&
B1  Employment and Labour Practices
Bl ERMBEIER
B2 Health and Safety
B2 REEHEZE
B3  Development and Training
B3 & KIE
B4  Labour Standards
B4 HTI%A|
B5  Supply Chain Management
B5 fEsEE IR
B6  Product Responsibility
B6 EmEE
B7  Anti-corruption
B7 RES
B8 Community Involvement
B8 ttm&

22

Energy consumption
HE=
Use of energy and paper

BEIR M Ao (£ 8

Labour practices

BITER

Workplace health and safety

TESMERRERZ S

Employee development and training

BT R REI

Anti-child and forced labour

RET K% T

Supply chain management

HrEEEn

Product responsibility

EmAE

Anti-corruption, fraud prevention and anti-money laundering
k&R - REFF R ROEE

Community programs, employee volunteering and donation
fMEEE - BIERMEE B

Prime Intelligence Solutions Group Limited / Annual Report 2025



ENVIRONMENTAL

Environmental protection is one of the core values of the Group.
The Group has proactively looked for and implemented new
technology at various stages of its business in order to minimise its
impact on the environment. The Group’s products are designed
to be safe and environmental friendly for customer use, meaning
recyclable and safe to dispose materials are specified in its designs,
and clean production processes are adopted in its business
process. Moreover, unnecessary packaging that can cause harm to
environment is not introduced into its products.

The Group considers environmental protection an essential
component of sustainable and responsible business. The Group
strives to negative impacts on the environment and to seek
environmental friendly methods of operation. Given the nature of
the Group’s business, electricity was the most significant resources
consumed in Hong Kong, Macau and Shenzhen, the PRC during
the Year.

The Current Environmental Policies

The Group’s main task is to measure and report the efforts in
reducing carbon footprints, promote waste reduction at source,
enhance its waste disposal management and set targets on
environmental performance. To minimise the environmental impacts
concerning the activities, products and services, the Group will:

° comply with applicable legal requirements and other
requirements which relate to the Group’s environmental
aspects, and to which the Group subscribes;

o identify environmental impacts associated with the operations
and set the targets to reduce stress on the environment in
consideration of social expectations;

. prevent pollution, reduce waste and minimise the
consumption of resources from all daily operations and
actively promote recycle, reuse and replace; and

° educate, train and motivate employees to develop a social
viewpoint that enables them to conduct business activities in
an environmentally responsible manner.
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The Group is committed to ensuring its businesses are operated
in compliance with the following laws and regulations which have
significant impact:

the Law of the PRC on Import and Export Commodity
Inspection (A R H MBI A i@ is);

Guangdong Safety Technology and Prevention Regulation

(BRA RN EBEIL G,

Product Quality Law of the PRC (P #EARLNHERE &
EN

Environmental Protection Law of the PRC {# % A R H A1 E
RIBREE);

the Law of the PRC on Prevention and Control of
Environmental Noise Pollution 3 A R L B IR B 1R85
ABFIEED;

the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes {F A K& HF1EH &
BEYSRARRNIRE);

the Regulations on the Administration of Construction Project
Environmental Protection {3 :% 18 E IR 35 R & & 1 15 01);
and

the Anti-terrorism Law of the People’s Republic of China
(hEARLME KR M EFE L) and Guangdong Safety
Technology and Prevention Regulation { & B & % & £ il i
E0EIRIEM1).

REBBNBREEBLELETUTAAEAY
BHRFERIER -

a.  (PEARAMBBEL OBEMREE)

b. (EREZERMOIBEREKN) :

c. (PFEARANEERLEZE):

d. (PEARANBERFREEL)

e. (PFEARANMBERFERESRIGE)

f. (hEARANMBEEEEYSEREN A

E)

9. (EREEBRFEFREEREI): K

h.  (PEARAMBERRMHERE)KERE
2 BRI EE IR A ©
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A1.1. Emissions Data from Gaseous Fuel Consumption
During the Year, the key environmental impacts from the
Group’s operations were energy and paper consumptions.
To achieve environmental protection, the Group encourages
employees increase the use of e-statement or scanning
instead of traditional photocopying to reduce the use of paper
and greenhouse gas emissions; to switch-off all computers
and office equipment (such as lighting and air-conditioner) at
the end of each working day.

(@  Since the Group did not have town fuel and town gas
consumption during the Year, therefore no relevant
emissions data is available.

(b)  The Company had certain motor vehicles during the
Year, the emissions data applied to the Group’s motor
vehicles are set out below:

A1l SREEMEDHZNERER

RER AREBEEPRELENTIEZRE
FERRERIARER - RERFRFE
AEEZBMETENERETFHRRATHE
REBGEH  WRADHKERIAER
BHNG AEBEIERARK  BEEME
BB AR (IR R =) -

F 7 A R B A 4 1 3 A R R I T R
R T REE - MO AR B PR B
]

RERN - ARREEET A= B
MNAKETER S REERIIMT -

Key Performance Index (“KPI”)
BEENER (BRENEED

2025 Unit %

2025 By %

NOx 107.2 g 34%
n&Ey 7

SOx 203.5 g 64%
maEky 7

PM 7.9 g 2%
Al A B8R ) 7

Total 318.6 g 100%
e %
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A1.2. Greenhouse Gas Emission Al.2 BRERBEHN
KPI
BRENIER
2025 Unit %

2025 §F B %
Scope 1
&iE1
Direct Emission 37,298 Kg 32%
B BB AR
Scope 2
giE2
Indirect Emission 79,479 Kg 68%
el 7 BE A NI
Scope 3
E3
Other indirect Emission - Kg 0%
HAth PRI HE A N
Total 116,777 Kg 100%
me N

During the Year, there were 116,777 kg (2024: 117,694 kg)
of greenhouse gases (mainly carbon dioxide, methane and
nitrous oxide) emitted from the Group’s operation.

The total gross floor area coverage for the Group during the
Year was 2,102m? (2024: 2,102 m?). The annual emission
intensity was 55.6 KgCO,e/m? (2024: 56.0 KgCO,e/m?).

The Group has previously set the amount of GHG emission
for the Year to 150kg. The target will be reviewed in 2026.
The Group has achieved this target during the Year.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations:

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste of the Group during the Year. In
addition, no significant fines or non-monetary sanctions for
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations had been
reported in the Year.

RER BAEEEEMEENAER
mXEA Al PRRELTA)AE
116,777 AT (20244 : 117,694 X fT) °

RER - AEBBREEmMER2,102 5K
(2024 F : 2102 F HK) - FHMEE B
BT HKE5.6 A —A litE & (2024 4F :
FBFEHKBORAT_AILIREE) -

AEELHBFRNAERBHERERER
1502 T o BRI 2026 F sl - AEH
RENDERBR -

BTERZERRE

RER REBRBEREIFNERBBELR
SE=ROBEREHR - AKE
W ELEAEREEERERVEHEBERER
ERNBBAREMS - I RERNRBERSE
BT ARRER LA LI X 2 EAE R
HIEEMHIE, o
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A1.3 & A1.4 Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste

The Group generates no hazardous waste in its operation.
However, there were non-hazardous waste which the
management of the Group believe to be insignificant arose
from the use of electricity during the Group’s operation.
Wastes produced by the Group during production were
passed to qualified recycler for recycling.

A1.5&A1.6

A2.1

Since the management of the Group believe the non-
hazardous waste is insignificant, there is no mitigation plan
for handle non-hazardous waste.

Use of resource

The Group is committed to minimising the impact of business
activities on the environment, and supporting environmental
protection. In particular, a number of initiatives designed to
conserve resources were introduced to promote employee
awareness of the need to achieve efficient utilisation of
resources.

Energy conservation will not be effective without the support
of employees. The Group has been encouraging employees
to establish energy-saving habits at office, such as switching
off lights and electronic appliances before leaving the office,
as well as maintaining indoor temperature at 25.5°C. To
further conserve electricity, the Group has leased energy-
efficient high-speed printers for its daily operation. The Group
believed that the usage of water consumption and usage of
packing material is insignificant.
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A3

-HERER

wE

During the Year, the energy consumption by type in total of
the Group are showed as below:

RER  REBBERERBIZER
oW :

8

KPI
BRENER
% increase/
2025 2024 Unit (decrease)
i (/Ji“z'l‘
2025 £ 2024 F B ZBS

Electricity consumed 147,184 141,873 kWh 4%
EE TELE

QOil consumed 134,094 147,703 kWh (9%)
R TRE

Total energy consumed 281,278 289,576 kWh (8%)
BRRNRER TEE

Total floor area of facilities 2,102 2,102 m? -
AR E AR K

Electricity consumed per square meter 134 138 kWh/m? (8%)
FEHKABE TRE, 75K

The Group has set targets to 300,000 kWh of the total
energy consumption (i.e. electricity and oil consumed). The
target will be reviewed in 2026. The Group has achieved the
target during the Year.

Environmental and Natural Resources

The Group’s activities did not have direct significant impact
on the environment and natural resources beyond the
resource consumption and emissions issues discussed
above. The Group will continue to explore ways of integrating
environmental considerations into its business decisions and
the services it provides, including promoting and supporting
ways to combat climate change.

There was no non-compliance case with any environmental
laws and regulations for the Year.

A3

RNEBEBEFREEE(ANAEE &mE
£) B 2% 5F A300,000 FELE - BEERN
2026 Fifs] c REERFADEKBIZ -

RIGEBFRER

B Lt B ROE FE SR BE R RSN - AR E
EBHRERARERTEEENENY
2 -AEEKEERSEE BREAE
MARERRRRENRT - B RER
B s RIEREREE -

RER - WEE RAERERFDER SR o
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Climate change

Global climate change is getting worse and global warming
has been a serious problem. The Group, as a responsible
enterprise, is committed to implement certain measures to
reduce greenhouse gas emissions from business operations.

To cope with adverse weather conditions, the Group
takes precautionary and protective measures including
home office arrangement, work schedule rearrangement
and redeployment of resources, to ensure the safety of
employees, to minimize the impact on business process and
to avoid any physical damages to assets of the Group.

B. SOCIAL
Being a responsible business and employer, the Group is
committed to consistently looking for ways to meet the corporate
social responsibilities. The Group focuses on the welfare of its staff,
environment and community as well as its business partners.

B1.

Employment and Labour Practices

The Group places a significant emphasis on developing
human capital, provides competitive remuneration and welfare
packages. Promotion opportunities and salary adjustments
are benchmarked against individual performance. Employees
are entitled to benefits such as annual leave, sick leave,
maternity leave, marriage leave, funeral leave and medical
coverage in accordance with local regulations.

The Group emphasises on equal opportunities for all
personnel in respect of hiring, pay rates, training and
development, promotion and other terms of employment.
The Group is committed to providing a work environment
free from any form of discrimination on the basis of ethnicity,
gender, religion, age, disability or sexual orientation.

The Group has a wide diversity of cultures including
employees with different genders, ages, skills, educational
backgrounds, industry experiences and other qualifications in
order to achieve the most suitable composition and balance.
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The Group’s remuneration package is structured with
reference to the individual performance, working experience
and prevailing salary levels in the market. In additional to
basic salaries and mandatory provident fund for the Group’s
Hong Kong employees, fringe benefits including flexible leave
arrangement, medical coverage scheme and annual dinner
are available.

The Group complies with relevant ordinances and statutory
requirements, such as the Employment Ordinance (Chapter
57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485
of the Laws of Hong Kong) of Hong Kong. During the Year,
the Group has had no non-compliance with any laws and
regulations on employment.

The employee handbook of the Group’s PRC subsidiary had
been developed in accordance with the Labour Law of the
PRC and has been distributed to all employees since they
joined. The remuneration policies are determined on the basis
of performance, qualification and experience of individual
employee. The remuneration generally includes salaries and
allowances.

During the Year, the Group’s PRC subsidiary had subscribed
to those basic pension insurance, basic medical insurance,
unemployment insurance, occupational injury insurance,
maternity insurance as prescribed by the Social Insurance
Law of the PRC, as well as housing fund schemes as
prescribed by the Regulations on the Administration of
Housing Fund.

Employees’ wages, overtime payments and related benefits
are made not less than the local government’s minimum
requirements. The normal working hours for general
employees are generally 8 hours a day and 40 hours a week.
Integrated computation of working hours is implemented with
reference to the requirements of the Labour Law of the PRC.

AEENHFH D RIBRBEARR - T
IEERIA R T 5 T IR IT RN TR Y
B AEBENBEETIRERNTE MR
HIEREEIN - M INEN B REEERNKR
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B30 E R AT AR R R AR SR D) -

AEETEMER TR E TFMARES
EARAMBLEEZGE - REIMAR
AR () HOREE - HMBRBIRERIE T
B BREERIREETE - I —RBE
o MoEBE

RER - AEBECRTENHBELE B
BIREE(ThEARAMBELSREIEIR
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The Group is committed to ensuring its businesses are
operated in compliance with the following laws and
regulations which have significant impact:

a. Employees’” Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of
the Laws of Hong Kong);

b. Occupiers Liability Ordinance (Chapter 314 of the Laws
of Hong Kong);

c. Minimum Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws
of Hong Kong);

d. Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

e. Construction Workers Registration Ordinance (Chapter
583 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

f. Regulatory Regime to which SE Macau is subject in
relation to Labour Matters in Macau;

g.  the Labour Law of the PRC (/R #E A R MBI A EE);
h. the Labour Contract Law of the PRC, the Provisional
Regulations on Collection and Payment of Social

Insurance Premium (& 1R BB E 1T16451); and

i. The Regulations on Management of Housing Provident
Fund (EE RIES BEIREA).
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Staff Composition

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed a total of 79 (2024
77) staff, including operational office, sales and marketing,
and back office division. All staff members are allocated in
Hong Kong and the PRC.

(a)  Employee’s Employment Type Distribution

AB#BHK
20253 A31 8 AEBELEATIZE
T (20244 : 77%)  BREEBRAE -
& MBITHBREZERAE - TETLHE
ABHDREEBARFE o

@ RIEFEEIZH5 M

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
Employment type Male Female Male Female
ERER Bt eg S g
Part-time staff 0% 0% 0% 0%
FBET
Full-time staff 75% 25% 75% 25%
2BET
Total 75% 25% 75% 25%
By
(b)  Employee’s Age and Gender Distribution (b)  IZIEEFH R IEFIE 5 H) 5
2025 2024
2025 2024
Age Group Male Female Male Female
FHe AR Bt feg Eslis M
0-15 0% 0% 0% 0%
0% -1575%
16-18 0% 0% 0% 0%
165518 5%
19-30 18% 4% 19% 5%
1955 -30 5%
31-45 38% 10% 37% 10%
3175545 5%
46-60 18% 11% 18% 10%
46 5% —60 5%,
=61/>61 1% 0% 1% 0%
613%3A
Total 75% 25% 75% 25%
mE

32

Prime Intelligence Solutions Group Limited / Annual Report 2025



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE - -dHERERHRE

(c)  Employee’s Geographical and Gender Distribution

€ BKIESHERIFEZE M

2025 2024
2025 2024
Geographical Male Female Male Female
& Bt 7 S g
Hong Kong 52% 18% 49% 17%
6
The PRC 23% 7% 26% 8%
+
Total 75% 25% 75% 25%
By
The Group will continue to provide a well-structured AEBEGKERELETRESZERL -
and caring environment to employees to raise their BENRE  UReEASEEING
sense of belonging and work efficiency in the Group. B R TSR -
The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance RER > AEBEEHESRRE B2
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a BEF - TIERRE - RERMHE - #e
significant impact on compensation and dismissal, HE - ZEE - RERREMBEN R
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest FBRERERANERTE - RERE
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination A EBARKEREZM o 1O RER -
and other benefits and welfare of the Group during REEMETETEREARRAENZE
the Year. In addition, no non-compliance with relevant BEASIAAH RS -
laws and regulations that resulted in significant fines or
sanctions had been reported during the Year.
B2 Employees’ Health and Safety B2 EEREHEZZ

The management of the Group recognises that the
operational efficiency of an enterprise and the maintenance of
a healthy and safety working environment for all employees
are closely related. The Group continues to maintain a healthy
and safety working environment for its employees so as to
attract and retain talented employees which is in line with
established internal guidelines and systems of the Group.

MR EE AR AR / 32025

AEBEEERBICENSERTAR
ERETAR - ERELENITIERES
UIAER - AEBEERETHBEERY
BN TIERERE  UESILBEFEAEKE
EMAREEGENEFET -
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The Group provides its employee with flexible rest leave
arrangement, medical and hospital scheme. The Group
understands that a good working environment for its
employees with a safe and comfortable working condition is
very important. A set of clear guideline of work arrangement
under typhoon and rainstorm warning had been formulated
by the Group for its employees to follow.

Occupational Health and Safety Data
The information of work accidence are set out below:

2025
2025 F
Health and Safety Male Female
BEREZE ] zit

AEERETREEENRSRELEE
BRELBEGTE - AEEAQRE TRH
—fEAZE FENTEREFRFER - K
SECHEAMORR  RRESTHER
HHEsl BB THILTTE -

BEEFHET2EN
THEERNERITRATR
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Male Female Male Female
M M 51 M

Rate of work-related fatalities -

E TYERBAR ML T B9 A B

Lost hours due to work injury -
AT EE R TIERE

During the Year, the Group had no non-compliance with any
laws and regulations on occupational health and safety.

Development and Training

Staff development forms an important aspect of the
Group’s human resources policy. The Group places a
strong emphasis on providing training to its employees to
retain appropriate and suitable personnel for its long-term
development.

The Group has committed to provide on-the-job education
and training to its employees in order to enhance their
knowledge and skills. All employees are encouraged to
enhance their skills and knowledge at every opportunity
in order to perform their current job more efficiently and
effectively and to be better prepared for career opportunities
which may arise. During the Year, regular training courses
were provided to the employees included but not limited to
orientation training, technical training and quality training.

Performance evaluations are initiated annually. In order
to recognise the value in the skill and experience of the
Group’s employees, the Group has adopted a policy that
any promotions will be considered internally first before hiring
any outside staff. It is the Group’s policy to select the most
suitable candidate for appointment to a higher rank based on
merit, rather than on the seniority of the candidates.

B3

RER - NREBEWRERE BBERRFHE
ZREVER KR -

R RIEF
BTEREASEEANERBENEE —
Re ARBEFFERME TREZD - AU
BERBAR  REARNRERRE -

REBMBE NN RS TREERIE mIEl -
LAdR = H AR B aE - s B PR A B TAIA
FA%SRETECHRALEME - UE
PR BEMRNOSARTEBNNT
1 205 4 b AR T A2 L IR AV B S B
Bl RERN - AEELSE TRHESE
FIERE - BEETRNE RIFI - BMsE
FI R E R

BT ETFET -  RABRINAEEHET
RN ER  AEEET - HK
B BAERBEMINEE T ZAT BRE
EEABET - ARBENBERR  RES
B 12 R S B AV R AR - DAMREA
HIhAETIEF B RERE -

Prime Intelligence Solutions Group Limited / Annual Report 2025



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B -

B4

B5

HEREGRE

Labour Standard

The Group is fully awarded that child labour and forced
labour violate fundamental human rights, International Labour
Conventions and Recommendations and poses a threat to
sustainable social and economic development. Therefore, the
Group strictly complied with relevant laws and regulations.
The Group prohibits the hiring of child labour by reviewing the
actual age of the interviewee during the recruitment process,
including the examination of identity documents and detailed
records. The Group only carries out the requirements of
standard labour contract and does not adopt any means
to unfairly restrict the employment relationship between
employee and the enterprise by, for example, withholding a
deposit or identity documents.

For entry registration, all employees must present to the
Group valid documents as follows: (i) identity card and
vocational qualification certificate; (i) social security card; (iii)
medical or health certificate; (iv) recent photos; and (v) other
relevant information and documents.. The above procedures
can ensure no child labour will be employed.

Being people-oriented, the Group has hosted various social
events and activities such as company trips and parties for
its employees with the aim of promoting work-life balance.

During the Year, the Group had no non-compliance with any
child labour and forced labour laws.

Supply Chain Management

The Group has the greatest respect for the laws and
regulations that govern its business. The Group strives
to adhere to international best practices and conduct fair
and unbiased procurement processes when dealing with
suppliers.

The Group adheres to the principle of transparency and
implements the value of honesty, integrity and fairness in
its supply chain management. The Group’s procurement
procedures provide directions and guidelines on evaluation
and engagement when dealing with suppliers of goods
and services to ensure business is conducted with legally,
financially and technically-sound entities. In addition, approval
procedures are in place to ensure that supplier engagements
are monitored and approved by the appropriate level of
management.

MR EE AR AR / 32025

B4
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B TR

AEEZRHDRHD BEIRBHETIER
ERARE BERSEIAL WAl e
BREEN AR RBRAE - Bt - &
SEBRRETHREEZERRN - AEEE
PBESEHRBARTRASENERFLR -
BREESNEMHEFACENES - Ut
RERET - AEEERTRELHSR
MER MEREMFE  PIMTEES
ZHNEMF PRFHRHEEEARZ
EERIRREER -

ABERR  MTEEINERASEEHREMH
ATRBHMSH - (B BERBEERES
(iHEEREFR (BEREEEH (Vi
HitER RV EMABAENRESR - Lt
TR RRBRERET -

REEBUARA  RETRHSAZEN
HRREEY  MARKRTREESE - BA
SRR TR AR T -

RER AEETERERET FBHST
SER o

HfrEgER
AEBUREEEBHER LRI TR
ANWBE - AEEBKRBENBFERSE
Hox  EEBRERR  RALFRERN
REBIRE -

AEERFEARY  EHEEEEDE
BHE FERARATHEE - £EEEY
BB HERE  ARENRBRIERE
REHEFFER2ENIESI R - ARERER
SETT R MEEREM LRE20ER -
BESN - HOE R INE BEAE - AR RS
BRI AISRIE R M E IR B B S B o
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During the selection process of suppliers, the Group takes
into account such as its reputation, quality of services and
products, past performance and green elements.

When choosing a new supplier, the Group give priority to
the suppliers who are environmentally friendly and socially
responsible in order to promote and support environmentally
preferable products and services in supply chain.

Performance of suppliers impose direct impact on the
sustainability of the Group’s operation. The Group implements
the procedures on selection of suppliers strictly to minimize
both the environmental and social risks of the Group’s supply
chain. A systematic supplier management mechanism has
been set up to closely monitor the performance of suppliers.
As at 31 March 2025, the Group has 74 major suppliers.

The geographical distribution of suppliers are set out below:

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERRE

EHREMEZERET  AEENEREX
BIEERE RBELERER BEFXAE
ARRRAE ©

BEFHERE  AEEELEEHRE
RighHteaBnHER ek
FEM D W REENNER LR -

HEFNRAEHASELCENAIHELRES
HEYZ  AEERBHATHERERD
BE URDAEEHEENRERITE
[EBE - RMBELE RFOHEY BRI
Hl - BRI FER AR o 20254 3
A31H AEEBTAREEHER -

i@ E S N EER I TR

By Location 2025
R EE 5 2025 £
Hong Kong 56%
B

China 38%
H

Korea 3%
EE:

Other countries 3%
HMER

Total 100%
B
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Product Responsibility

A high priority for the Group is to ensure customer
satisfaction in terms of the products and services. Strenuous
efforts are made to ensure compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations relating to product health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters of the jurisdictions in
which the Group operates. The Group requires its employees
to comply with applicable governmental and regulatory laws,
rules, codes and regulations.

Quality Control and Product Warranty

Instruction guidelines regarding product quality inspection,
return and repair of defective products have been set to
further ensure that the quality of our products are up to
standard and customers who have received verified defective
products can get their replacement. Upon receiving a
defective unit of a product, the unit is subject to different
procedures depending on the situation, which will be
accepted for exchange or repair if the customer can provide
valid purchase and warranty documents. Our customer
service team is responsible for monitoring and handling
customer complaints and a set of procedures have been
formulated so that complaints can be categorized and solved
by the designated staff timely.

Data Privacy Protection

The Group emphasises the importance of protecting and
safe-guarding its customers’ privacy, especially for money
lenders’ information. Thereby, the Group would be cautious
upon the collection, procession and usage of customers’
personal data in order to comply with the provisions of the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance.

During the Year, the Group did not have any products subject
to recall and did not receive any compliant from its customers
in relation to either the quality of its services or products. The
Group had no non-compliance cases regarding violations of
relevant laws and regulations on product responsibility and
data privacy.

MR EE AR AR / 32025

B6

EmEE
BEREZMERMNERRRBEAEE
MERER AKEBNERAKEEE
mig - 22 BEE - SHURLEES
HETASEKEMAERDERRBEER
ER e ARBETREREBETHBNERF
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BB 12H R E IR
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EmNEENARE  BWRERERRRE
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ERRBERPIEH  YEHE—ERRF
VAE 6 7E B T R iy 20 $8 R R

BEHRERE
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Anti-corruption

Corruption, bribery or fraud in any form is strictly prohibited.
The Group’s anti-corruption policies set out standards of
conduct to which all employees are required to adhere in
order to promote the integrity environment in the workplace.

The management believes that the integrity of business is
the foundation of corporate social responsibility, as well as a
fundamental element for a business’s competitive advantage
and sustainability. The Group is committed to the highest
possible standards of openness, probity and accountability.

To combat corruption and to govern conflicts of interest,
unless with the Group’s approval, Directors and employees
are prohibited from accepting any valuable items from co-
workers, customers, suppliers or other stakeholders. Unless
with approval the Board, senior management members are
also prohibited from engaging in any activities that involve a
potential conflict of interest with the Group or may do harm
to the Group’s overall interests. Breaches are subject to
disciplinary actions, including termination of employment
contracts where necessary.

Various policies have also been formulated to accord with
the Securities and Futures Commission’s Guideline on
Anti-Money Laundering and Counter- Terrorist Financing,
including the basic procedures for customer identification
and due diligence, suspicious transactions report and
recordkeeping. Ongoing staff training has also been carried
out to ensure each of the employees is fully aware of these
policies.

During the Year, the Group provide 1 training hours in relation
to anti-corruption to its staffs.

In the Year, there was no legal case concerning corruption
brought against the Group or employees.

Community Involvement

The Group always seeks to be a positive force in the
communities in which it operates and to maintain close
communications and interactions with the communities in
order to contribute to local development from time to time.

The Group strives to improve its social image and social
responsibility through community investment. All employees
of the Group are encouraged to participate in helping and
supporting the local communities and neighbours with their
own initiatives.

B7

B8
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group has committed to upholding high standards of corporate
governance. The Board considers that enhanced public accountability
and corporate governance are beneficial to the healthy growth of the
Group, improving customer and supplier confidence and safeguarding the
interests of Shareholders.

The Company has adopted and complied with the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to The Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) as its own code and has complied with the CG Code for
the year ended 31 March 2025, except for the following deviation. The
Board has continued to monitor and review the corporate governance
principles and practices to ensure compliance.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

CG Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. Mr. Wang was appointed as the Chairman and the
chief executive officer on 13 May 2024. Given that the scale of the Group
is not mega and that the Company’s and the Group’s current business
operations and administration have been stable, the Board is justified that
the current structure is able to enable the effective discharge of the duties
of both positions. However, going forward, the Board will review from
time to time the need to separate the roles of the Chairman and the chief
executive officer if the situation warrants it.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors (the “Model Code”) on terms no less exacting
than the required standard of dealings (the “Required Standard of
Dealings”) as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Upon the specific enquiry made to all the Directors, apart from Mr. Wang
Yicheng, the Company was not aware of any non-compliance with the
Model Code and the Required Standard of Dealings regarding securities
transactions by the Directors for the period from the date of the Listing to
the date of this report.

According to code provision Rule 5.56(a) of the GEM Listing Rules, a
Director must not deal in any securities of the Company on any day on
which its financial results are published and during the period of 60 days
immediately preceding the publication date of the annual results or, if
shorter, the period from the end of the relevant financial year up to the
publication date of the results. According to Rule 5.61 of the GEM Listing
Rules, a director must not deal in any securities of the issuer without first
notifying in writing the chairman or a director (otherwise than himself)
designated by the board of directors of the Company for the specific
purpose and receiving a dated written acknowledgement.

MR EE AR AR / 32025
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An executive Director, Mr. Wang Yicheng, due to inadvertent mistakes,
purchased 136,230,000 shares of the Company from 30 May 2024 to
13 June 2024 without notifying the designated Director or the Board
and obtaining the designated Director’s approval before purchasing the
relevant shares, which was in contravention of Rules 5.56(a) and 5.61 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has taken the following remedial steps to avoid the
reoccurrence of similar incidents:

° Communicated and reminded Mr. Wang Yicheng that the blackout
period of the Group;

° Recirculated the Model Code to the Board and reminded the
Directors of the procedures that they should follow should they
wish to deal in the Company’s shares; and

° Arranged refresher training on Directors’ duties under the GEM
Listing Rules for Mr. Wang Yicheng.

The Board considers that by adopting the aforesaid measures, it would
enable the Directors to understand the dealing restriction during the
black-out period and the procedures that they need to follow before
dealing in the securities of the Company. The Board therefore considered
that the implementation of the above measures would minimize the
chance of breach of the Model Code by the Directors in the future.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board currently comprises eight Directors, including four executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three Independent non-
executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Yicheng (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(Re-designated on 13 May 2024)

Ms. Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline

Mr. Lin Shixing

Ms. Zhang Yushan (Appointed on 12 April 2024)

Mr. Hui Cho Lung (Resigned on 31 May 2024)

40
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Non-executive Director
Mr. Yuen Kwok Wai, Tony (Re-designated on 13 May 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Ching Wan

Mr. Yang Chuan (Appointed on 12 April 2024)
Ms. Li Dongxian (Appointed on 31 July 2024)
Mr. Chung Billy (Resigned on 31 July 2024)
Mr. Ke Tianxiong (Resigned on 31 July 2024)

Details of backgrounds and qualifications of all Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this
annual report. All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the
affairs of the Group. Each executive Director has sufficient experience,
knowledge and execution ability to hold the position so as to carry out his
or her duties effectively and efficiently.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, one general meeting, eleven
regular Board meetings and other Board meetings were held in addition
to circulation of written resolution. Attendance record of these meetings
are shown below:

FHITES
BT (& Jc 4 (1R 2024 5 A 13 HAE)

BFHITES

B (R2024F 4 512 AEZ(T)
TRG L+ (R2024F7 531 HEZT)
EELEE (R2024 4 7 A31 HEHT)
T RIS (R 2024 6 7 A 31 HEHT)

FEEENSSNERFBERAFR(EZREAE
BEREE] —f - MEEFCRMBARB LB IRA
SEEY - BRTEFAB LR  MEBERBITED
RABEGRBL - WAL SRETR -

HE2025F3AZIALFE  BRTEBEEERER
BRI ARERRE - 11AERETeeEEMES
g TRIEFLEIRAT

General Audit Remuneration Nomination
Name of member BE%ER Meeting Board Committee Committee Committee

RRAE g8 ERZES FMZEE REZES
Number of total meetings eRay 1 11 2 4 4
Number of Meetings BEEEE

attended/Total /R VgL
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wang Yicheng (Chairman and TRk (FERITHAEH)

Chief Executive Officer) (R2024F5 5 13 HFT)

(Re-designated on 13 May 2024) 1 11/11 N/AZ i 4/4 4/4
Ms. Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline mERLL 1 10/11 N/ATER 12/2 N/ATEH
Mr. Lin Shixing MEELE 1 9/11 N/ATER N/ATER N/ATE A
Ms. Zhang Yushan R L (12024 F

(Appointed on 12 April 2024) 4512 ARE() 1 1/11 NAT# A NATEH NATEE
Mr. Hui Cho Lung R (R 2024 %

(Resigned on 31 May 2024) 5531 HEHF) 1 11 N/AiE R N/ANiiE N/ATNE A
R AR A A / F482025 41
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General Audit Remuneration Nomination
Name of member BE%A Meeting Board Committee Committee Committee
RRKXE Ezg ENZEES FMzEg REZES

Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Yuen Kwok Wai, Tony Bl 58 4 (2024 F

(Re-designated on 13 May 2024) 5A13858F) 1 10/11 NATEA N/ATE A NATEHA
Independent non-executive BUFHITES

Directors
Mr. Wong Ching Wan TEERAE 1 14/14 2/2 4/4 4/4
Mr. Yang Chuan Bk & (32024

(Appointed on 12 April 2024) 1A 12 AEZT) 1 11/11 2/2 4/4 4/4
Ms. Li Dongxian FRELL(R2024%

(Appointed on 31 July 2024) 7H31 HEZE) 1 4/4 11 N/ATiEF N/ATiE A
Mr. Chung Billy EERLE(R2024F

(Resigned on 31 July 2024) 7 A31 HEHE) NATER 5/5 il 2/4 2/4
Mr. Ke Tianxiong IR S5 (K 2004

(Resigned on 31 July 2024) 7 F31 A#HT) N/ATER 5/5 1/1 2/4 2/4
THE RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD EEZENRE
The Board is responsible for the control and leadership of management EE€EBFHHIMNBEEEARER THEEFSiEE

company’s business and is collectively responsible for the Company’s
affair under the Board’s direction and supervision. All the Directors should

MEBETHA T$i“"ﬁ#ﬂz¥<%f& EREERTEL
EHFFE AR A ME AR

make decision objectively in the interests of the Company

The overall responsibilities of the Board include considering and making

EESNERBEREMATEEELZEIORE

decisions on the following matters:

@

(i)

TERRERHEAE

setting the cooperate goals of the Group and formulating the BEANE
Group’s strategy and monitoring the implementation; 17

diversification and extension of activities into new business area; iy BT ERRAREBENEBHES

(i)  approving the annual, half year and quarterly resullts; (i) BLEERF - FFERFEEE:
(iv)  dividend policy; (iv) BREIBCE
(v)  material acquisitions and disposal; v  ERKEBRHE:
(vi)  reviewing and monitoring the Group’s internal control systems; V)  RFREEAREBANIEEE
(vii)  monitoring the performance of the Management; and (vi) EREFEENXRR R
(vii)  determining and reviewing the composition and diversity of the  (vii) MERFFHESSHEKLZ T °
Board.
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BOARD COMPOSITION AND DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy since 18 January
2018. The policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity in the
Board that should have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Group’s business
and compliance with policies. The composition and diversity policies of
the Board is reviewed annually and regularly. The Board should ensure
that its changes in composition will not result in any undue interference.
The Board members should possess appropriate professionalism,
experience and trustworthiness in performing duties and functions. The
Board would diversify its members according to the Company’s situations
and need. While participating in nomination and recommendation of
director candidates during the year, each member of the Board may
consider a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, or professional
experience in achieving diversity for the benefit of the Company’s various
business development and management. The Board is to review the
policy concerning diversity of Board members, and to disclose the policy
or a summary of the policy in the corporate governance report, including
any quantitative targets and standards and its progress with policy
implementation.

In 2025, the Board has reviewed the diversity of the Board and
considered the Board composition and diversity policy is appropriate.

MANAGEMENT

The daily management, administration and operation of the Company
are delegated to the chief executive officer and senior management
(the “Management”). The delegated functions and assignments are
periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to
entering into any significant transactions by the above mentioned officers.

The overall responsibilities of the Management include considering and
making decisions on the following matters:

i) implementing the Group’s policy and strategies as set by the
Board;

(ii) strategic planning of different business and functions;

(i) closely monitoring operational and financial results in accordance
with plans and budgets;

(iv)  putting adequate operational, planning and financial control
systems in place; and

(v)  managing the Group’s day-to-day business.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed three Independent non-executive Directors;
and at least one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise. Each of the
independent non-executive Directors has made an annual confirmation
in writing of his independence pursuant to the factors set out in Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company considers that all the
independent non-executive Directors were independent during 2025
since their respective date of appointment.

All Independent non-executive Directors are identified as such in all
corporate communications containing the names of the Directors by the
Company.

Mr. Tony Yuen (a non-executive Director) and Ms. Jazzy Wong (a member
of the senior management) are spouse. Mr. Tony Yuen and Ms. Pauline
Yuen (an executive Director) are siblings. Ms. Jazzy Wong and Ms.
Pauline Yuen are sisters-in-law. Save as otherwise disclosed herein, there
is no family or other material relationship among members of the Board.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, should
keep abreast of their collective responsibilities as Directors and of the
businesses and activities of the Group. The Group also provides briefings
and other training to develop and refresh the Directors’ knowledge and
skills, and updates all Directors on the latest developments regarding
the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to
ensure compliance and to enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices.

44

BIAER

BRRGEM EHRBIFE5.05N RQ K ARRERI=
EEAIIERITES EIEF';ZEQ‘—%Eﬁé\i@??%ﬁT%EE
CHAEEVBEREEENG - SBUERTESDR
BEGEM E MR BB 500K H A E B 8 HF
EHRE  MARRRE  2EBYIFNITESN2025
FHESEZTHSRYBEBNY -

BBAARRIESHAN R REATEIAZEE T
FEMITEEZHMD

et GFTER) REXE(RREREKE) B
BB EERL L (RITESR) RRKH - T X
T RBLERIRGIR - BRARESAREIN EFE
BB 2 PR S R sk L B R RRR

FREXER

2REF(BREBIINTESR) REMEREEINAK
SEEBREHOHAREST - ARBETSREBRER
HAbIFF - PASER K AT E A A N BB - Wl GEM
EHRAREMEREERENRIERADEESR
HEMER BRAALINABEREHRIFEXELAER

=5
Y Sl

Prime Intelligence Solutions Group Limited / Annual Report 2025



Corporate Governance Report

N Al

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Directors provided their
training record to the Company in respect of their participation in

HZE2025F3A31HILFE  EERFEELX2HSRE
EEALIMARNESZBERBENFINES (WHE

training activities such as attending seminars relevant to their duties and &) MR R BRHEEFI4LCE: - FFIBWOT ¢
responsibilities as directors of a listed company, particulars of which are
as follows:
Reading Attending
materials the seminar
relevant to Attending relevant to
directors’ the seminar the skill of the
duties and provided by the Director’s
responsibilities Company position
RERESHK HEEESRN
kBEE® HEARDE BEEERY
pE REHHTE g
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wang Yicheng (Chairman and TRk (FERITHARE)

Chief Executive Officer) (R2024 455 13 HFFT)

(Re-designated on 13 May 2024) 4 4 v
Ms. Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline PrEIS L+ v v v
Mr. Lin Shixing WEESE v v v
Ms. Zhang Yushan SR 4+ (30 2024 F

(Appointed on 12 April 2024) 4512 BEZ(T) v v v
Mr. Hui Cho Lung FTEER S (R 2024 FF

(Resigned on 31 May 2024) 5431 HEHT) N/A T3 A N/A 3 A N/A T3 A
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Yuen Kwok Wai, Tony B BI{& 5t 4 (R 2024 F

(Re-designated on 13 May 2024) 5813 H#F) v 4 v
Independent non-executive Directors BIFHITES
Mr. Wong Ching Wan IEERAE v v v
Mr. Yang Chuan B (302024 F

(Appointed on 12 April 2024) 4712 A%ZF) v v v
Ms. Li Dongxian FREL L (R 2024 F

(Appointed on 31 July 2024) 7531 A#EZ(T) v v v
Mr. Chung Billy BTEAE S E (R 2024 F

(Resigned on 31 July 2024) 7 531 BEHE) v 4 v
Mr. Ke Tianxiong TR S A (R 2024 %F

(Resigned on 31 July 2024) 7 531 AEHE) v v v
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Wang is both the Chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company. The role of the Chairman is primarily responsible for managing
the Board, whereas the role of the chief executive officer is primarily
responsible for overseeing the various businesses of the Group. Their
respective roles and responsibilities are summarised as follows:

Responsibilities of the chairman include: (i) leading the Board and
ensuring that the Board functions effectively and smoothly; (ii) chairing
the Board and Shareholder’s meetings; (iii) approving the agenda for
each Board meeting, taking into account, where appropriate, any matters
proposed by the other Directors and the Company Secretary for inclusion
in the agenda; (iv) ensuring all Directors receive all relevant information
prior to each meeting and are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings; (v) ensuring all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the
Board in a timely and constructive manner; (vi) encouraging all Directors,
including the independent non-executive Directors, to actively participate
in all Board and Board committees meetings and promoting a culture
of openness for the Directors to share and voice their concerns on all
matters during each meeting; (vi) ensuring good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established and followed; and (viii) taking
appropriate steps to provide effective communication with Shareholders
and to ensure that Shareholders’ view are communicated to the Board as
a whole.

Responsibilities of the chief executive officer include: () implementing the
Group’s policy and strategies as set by the Board; (ii) strategic planning
of different business and functions; (iii) closely monitoring operational and
financial results in accordance with plans and budgets; (iv) assuming full
accountability to the Board for all aspects of the Group’s operations and
performance; (v) maintaining ongoing dialogue with the Chairman and the
other Directors; (vi) developing and leading an effective executive team;
(vii) putting adequate operational, planning and financial control systems
in place; and (viii) representing the Company and managing the Group’s
day-to-day business.

CG Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. Mr. Wang was appointed as the Chairman and the
chief executive officer on 13 May 2024. Given that the scale of the Group
is not mega and that the Company’s and the Group’s current business
operations and administration have been stable, the Board is justified that
the current structure is able to enable the effective discharge of the duties
of both positions. However, going forward, the Board will review from
time to time the need to separate the roles of the Chairman and the chief
executive officer if the situation warrants it.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

All Directors are appointed for an initial term of three years and subject to
retirement by rotation and eligible for re-election in accordance with the
Company’s articles of association (the “Articles”). At each annual general
meeting, not less than one third of the Directors then in office shall retire
and every Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

Each executive Director, non-executive Director and independent
non-executive Director is appointed for an initial term of three years
and renewable for successive terms of one year each commencing
from the day next after the expiry of the then current term, subject to
rotation, removal, vacation, or termination of such office as set out in
the Articles or the disqualification to act as a Director under the Articles.
Each independent non-executive Director is further required to inform
the Company as soon as practicable if there is any change that may
affect his independence and must provide an annual confirmation of his
independence to the Company.

All existing executive Directors, non-executive Director and independent
non-executive Directors are entitled to a fixed remuneration per month or
fee per annum respectively. The remuneration of each Director is subject
to the annual review of the Board with reference to his/her contribution in
terms of time, effort and his/her expertise.

Details of remuneration paid to each of the Directors during the year are
disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.

All Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable expenses
incurred during the performance of their duties to the Company and are
eligible for share options under the Share Option Scheme.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three board committees, namely, the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”), all with specific terms of reference
clearly defining the powers and responsibilities of the respective board
committees. All board committees are required by their respective terms
of reference to report to the Board in relation to their decisions, findings
or recommendations.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written terms of
reference (revised pursuant to a board resolution on 30 December 2022)
that are in conformity of the requirements of the CG Code which are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee is currently composed of the three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Ching Wan and Mr. Yang
Chuan and Ms. Li Dongxian and chaired by Mr. Wong Ching Wan, with
all members being independent non-executive Directors in full compliance
with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, two Audit Committee meetings were
held and the members’ attendance is shown on page 41 of this annual
report.

The role and functions of the Audit Committee include:

() Relationship with the Company’s auditor
(@ to consider and be primarily responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and
to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of
the external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or
dismissal;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee
should discuss with the auditor the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences.
In connection, the Audit Committee shall:

° consider all relationships between the Company and
the external auditor (including non-audit services);

° obtain from the external auditor annually information
about policies and processes for maintaining
independence and monitoring compliance with relevant
requirements, including those for rotation of audit
partners and staff; and

° meet with the external auditor, at least annually, in
the absence of the management, to discuss matters
relating to its audit fee, any issues arising from the audit
and any other matters the external auditor may wish to
raise;
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to develop and implement policy on engaging an external
auditor to supply non-audit services. For this purpose,
external auditor includes any entity that is under common
control, ownership or management with the audit firm or any
entity that a reasonable and informed third party knowing all
relevant information would reasonably conclude to be part of
the audit firm nationally or internationally. When assessing the
external auditor’s independence or objectivity in relation to
non-audit service, the Audit Committee shall consider:

° whether the skills and experience of the audit firm
make it a suitable supplier of the non-audit services;

° whether there are safeguards in place to ensure that
there is no threat to the objectivity and independence
of the audit because the external auditor provides non-
audit services;

° the nature of the non-audit services, the related fee
levels and fee levels individually and in total relative to
the audit firm; and

° criteria for compensation of the individuals performing
the audit.

The Audit Committee should report to the Board, identifying
and making recommendation on any matters where action or
improvement is needed; and

to approve the policies on hiring employees or former
employees of the external auditors and monitoring the
application of these policies and consider whether there
has been or appears to be any impairment of the auditor’s
judgement or independence for the audit.
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(ii)

50

Review of the Company’s financial information

(@)

(©

to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual reports and accounts, half-year reports and,
if prepare for publication, quarterly reports, and to review
significant financial reporting judgements contained in them.
It is the responsibility of the Audit Committee to determine
the scope and extent of the review. The Audit Committee
may refer to relevant statements of auditing standards and
audited guidelines in relation to review of these reports for
guidance. In reviewing these reports before submission to
the Board, the Audit Committee should focus particularly on:

(1) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(2)  major judgement areas;

(8)  significant adjustments resulting from audit;

(4)  the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

(5)  compliance with accounting standards; and

(6) compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting.

regarding point (a) above:

(1) members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the
Board and Company’s senior management and the
Audit Committee must meet, at least twice a year, with
the Company’s auditors; and

(2)  the Audit Committee should consider any significant
or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in the report and accounts, and it should give due
consideration to any matters that have been raised by
the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function, compliance officer or
auditors.

to provide full details of any disagreement by the Audit
Committee with the accounting treatment adopted by the
Company.

(i) BERAANHBEER

@ ERARAFNNFBREUAREERSE RE
B ¥FERSR(EHAB)ZEREDN
TR WEMBREREMAEHETE
HBHERFE FEREZECAERERE
BrEELEE BREZEE2REH
MEBHNEEMNEER REIESIER
EE| - EREBCHERNEFQRIZER
HRIEH R - ARSI EE

(1) EFBEREBOEMER
@ HREZHENHRE
@ EEEmBRNERE

@ CEFELENBRRREFNREE

"
(6) REEETEFER:

6) REETHEBEWERABHGEM LT
IRAIRCRRIATE ©

) BLtEIEME :
(1) BREEGNEARHEZGNALQA
BREEASRE BREZEGAS
D EFEEARBOZEEFEE WA
K

@ BREEGEZENZSHENRE
TR FE R EMERE AT
BER UREEEERIMEAAF

BT RUBERRE  aRTE
HRBEIRE A ER -
© HARAMKAMNESFERTETRAR

- R EREZ RS TRENFARBR

Prime Intelligence Solutions Group Limited / Annual Report 2025



Corporate Governance Report
L o SO A

(iii)

R REERRA

Overseeing of the Company’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control procedures

(@)

to review the Company’s financial controls, and unless
expressly addressed by a separate board risk committee,
or by the Board itself, to review the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems;

to discuss the risk management and the internal control
systems with management to ensure that management has
performed its duty to have effective systems. This discussion
should include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function;

to consider major investigations findings on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or
on its own initiative and management’s response to these
findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-
ordination between the internal and external auditors, and to
ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and has appropriate standing within the Company, and to
review and monitor its effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to review the external auditor’s management letter, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management about
the accounting records, financial accounts or systems of
control and management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’'s management letter;

to report to the Board on the matters in these terms of

reference and those set out in the code provisions as stated
in Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing Rules from time to time;
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(i) to review arrangements by which employees of the Company
can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other
matters, and the Audit Committee should ensure that
proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent
investigation of these matters and for appropriate follow-up
action;

() to act as the key representation body for overseeing the
Group’s relationship with the external auditor;

(k) to establish a whistleblowing policy and system for
employees and those who deal with the Company (e.g.
customers and suppliers) to raise concerns, in confidence,
with the audit committee about possible improprieties in any
matter related to the Company;

(I) to review the half-year report prepared by the Group’s
corporate guarantee committee on its work and information
relating to the provision of corporate guarantees; and

(m)  to consider other topics, as defined by the Board.
Major accomplishments in 2025 comprised the following:

(@) reviewed the financial statements for disclosure on a
quarterly, half-yearly and annually basis, where applicable;

(b)  reviewed the external auditor’s significant findings and
management’s response to the recommendation raised, if
any;

(¢) reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system
and the adequacy of the accounting and financial reporting
function of the Group;

(d)  reviewed and approved the external auditor’s statutory audit
scope for 2025 and the letter of representation to be given by

the Board; and

(e)  considered and approved the 2025 external audit fees and
engagement letters.
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The Group’s internal control system is reviewed regularly by management.
With the view of enhancing the Group’s internal control system, during
the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company had appointed McMillan
Woods Corporate Service Limited, as independent consultant, to review
the Group’s internal control systems and recommend actions to improve
our internal controls.

Based on the review, the Audit Committee is of the view that the
Group’s internal control system was effective and in compliance with the
requirements of the CG Code D.2.1 for the year ended 31 March 2025.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
on the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external
auditor for the year ended 31 March 2025.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 and recommended approval to
the Board.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee with written
terms of reference (revised pursuant to a board resolution on 30
December 2022 to extend the duty of the Remuneration Committee to
review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter
23 of the GEM Listing Rules) in accordance with the requirement of the
CG Code. The terms of reference are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee is currently composed of the one executive
Director and three Independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Wang Yicheng, Mr. Wong Ching Wan, Mr. Yang Chuan and Ms. Li
Dongxian and chaired by Mr. Wong Ching Wan.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, four Remuneration Committee
meetings were held and the members’ attendance is shown on page 41
of this Report.
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The role and functions of the Remuneration Committee include:

(i)

(i)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii

(ix)

54

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and senior
management of the Group and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management.
This should include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment;

to determine the policy and make recommendations to the Board
on remuneration of non-executive Directors;

to assess the performance of executive Directors;

to approve the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Company and its subsidiaries;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of
office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual
terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they
are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable
and appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration;

EOES

(i)

()

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

(x)
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(xi)  to form a view in respect of service contracts to be granted by
the Group under Rule 17.90 of the GEM Listing Rules that require
shareholders’ approval and advise shareholders (other than
shareholders who are Directors with a material interests in the
service contracts and their associates) as to whether the terms
are fair and reasonable, advise whether such contracts are in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole and
advise shareholders how to vote. An independent non-executive
Director who has a material interest in any such contracts shall not
sit on the Remuneration Committee;

(xi)  to consider the granting of share options to Directors pursuant to
any share option scheme adopted by the Company;

(xiii)  to ensure due compliance with any relevant disclosure requirements
in respect of the remuneration of Directors under the GEM
Listing Rules, the Companies Ordinance and any other statutory
requirements;

(xiv) to consult the Chairman of the Board and/or chief executive of the
Company about their remuneration proposals for other executive
Directors;

(xv)  to do any such things to enable to the Remuneration Committee to
discharge its powers and functions conferred on it by the Board;

(xvi) to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may
from time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in
the Memorandum of Association and the Articles or imposed by
legislation and the GEM Listing Rules;

(xvii) to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules; and

(xviii) to consider other topics, as defined by the Board.

Major accomplishments in 2025 comprised the review of matters relating
to the remuneration packages and emoluments of Directors and senior
management. In 2025 and as at the date of this report, there has been
no material matters relating to the share option scheme of the Company
which required review or approval by the Remuneration Committee.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee with written terms
of reference (revised pursuant to a board resolution on 30 December
2022). The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are in
conformity with the requirements of the CG Code and are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee is currently composed of the one executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Wang Yicheng, Mr. Wong Ching Wan, Mr. Yang Chuan and Ms. Li
Dongxian and chaired by Mr. Wong Ching Wan.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, four Nomination Committee meetings
were held and the members’ attendance is shown on page 41 of this
annual report.

The role and functions of the Nomination Committee include:

(i) to formulate nomination policy for consideration of the Board and
implement the nomination policy laid down by the Board;

(i)  without prejudice to the generality of foregoing;

(@  to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;

(b)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

(c) to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

(d)  to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and re-appointment of Directors, and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive;

(e)  to determine the policy for the nomination of Directors;

(] to adopt nomination procedures, process and criteria to
select and recommend candidates for directorship;

(9  todo any such things to enable to the Nomination Committee

to discharge its powers and functions conferred on it by the
Board; and
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(h)  to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation
that may from time to time be prescribed by the Board or
contained in the Memorandum of Association and the Articles
or imposed by legislation and the GEM Listing Rules;

(i) in respect of any proposed service contracts to be entered into by
any members of the Group with its Director or proposed Director,
which require the prior approval of the shareholders of the Company
at general meeting, to review and provide recommendations to the
Shareholders of the Company (other than Shareholders who are
Directors with a material interest in the relevant service contracts
and their respective associates) as to whether the terms of the
service contracts are fair and reasonable and whether such service
contracts are in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders
as a whole, and to advise Shareholders on how to vote;

(iv)  to review the policy concerning diversity of the Board and the
measurable objectives for implementing such policy from time
to time adopted by the Board, and to review the progress on
achieving these objectives; and

(v)  to consider other topics, as defined by the Board.

Major accomplishments in the year ended 31 March 2025 comprised the
recommendation to the Board the appointment of Mr. Yang Chuan and
Ms. Zhang Yushan on 12 April 2024, Mr. Wang Yicheng on 13 May 2024
and Ms. Li Dongxian on 31 July 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance

functions which includes:

(i) developing and reviewing the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(ii) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(i) reviewing and monitoring the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv)  developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors; and

(v) reviewing the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the CG Report.
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Major accomplishments in 2025 comprised the following:

(i) evaluated the Group’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and made appropriate amendments;

(ii) arranged the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management; and

(i) reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
The fees in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the

R2025 FEMRMEZSIHBE NIISIHE :
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external auditor McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited and its  &3EIEHKAER AT REBEK B rmAs EiRHts
network firm to the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are as %’fi&#%’fiﬁﬁ%?ﬁﬁﬂT :
follows:
Services rendered HK$
R R BT
Audit services EIZRS
— Audit the consolidated financial statements of the — ERAEEEHE2025F3 A31HILFE

Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 ZERABIISRER 530
Non-audit services SEELIRTS 50
Non-audit services include review of quarterly and FEERELEENAEETEN

interim financial information of the Group R HRBT S B R

The accounts for the year ended 31 March 2025 were audited by HZE2026F3A31ALFE RECARS(FHE)E

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited whose term of office
will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Audit
Committee has recommended to the Board that McMillan Woods (Hong
Kong) CPA Limited be re-appointed as the auditor of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of
the Group’s financial statements to give a true and fair view. The
responsibilities of auditor in respect of the financial statements are set out
in the report of the auditor forming part of this Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Group emphasises the importance of a sound internal control system
which is also indispensable for mitigating the Group’s key risk exposures.
The Group’s system of internal control is designed to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to
manage and eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and fulfilment
of the business objectives. The internal control system is reviewed on an
ongoing basis by the Board in order to make it practical and effective in
providing reasonable assurance in relation to protection of material assets
and Shareholders’ interests. During the year under review, McMillan
Woods Corporate Service Limited has reviewed the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and has provided written reports to
the Audit Committee.

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to
identify, assess and manage different types of risks. At the first line
of defence, business units are responsible for identifying, assessing
and monitoring risk associated with each business or transaction. The
management, as the second line of defence, defines rule sets and
models, provide technical support, develops new system and oversees
portfolio management. It ensures risks are within acceptable range
and that the first line of defence is effective. As the final line of defence,
McMillan Woods Corporate Service Limited assists the Audit Committee
to review the first and second lines of defence.

The Group is committed to the identification, evaluation and management
of risks associated with its business activities through ongoing
assessment of a risk register, by considering the likelihood and impact
of each identified risk. The Group has implemented an effective control
system which includes a defined management structure with limits
of authority, a sound management system and periodic review of the
Group’s performance by the Audit Committee and the Board.

The Group regards periodic review of internal control system as an
important part of the Board’s oversight function. The Group has not
set up an internal audit function, however, the Group has engaged an
external consultant, McMillan Woods Corporate Service Limited, to
conduct review on the internal control system of the Group. The review
shall be conducted once every year. During the year ended 31 March
2023, a review has been conducted and the Directors considered the
internal control system of the Group to be effective and adequate.

Through the Audit Committee, the Board has conducted annual review
of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems for the year ended 31 March 2025, covering the material
financial, operational and compliance controls, which are considered
effective and adequate.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience, training and budget of the accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions on an annual basis.
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Company does not have an internal audit department. The Board
has reviewed the need for an internal audit function and is of the view
that in light of the size, nature and complexity of the business of the
Group, as opposed to diverting resources to establish a separate
internal audit department, it would be more cost effective to appoint
external independent professionals to perform independent review of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. Nevertheless, the Board will continue to review at
least annually the need for an internal audit department.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company assesses the likely impact of any unexpected and
significant event that may impact the price of the shares of the Company
or their trading volume and decides whether the relevant information
is considered inside information and needs to be disclosed as soon as
reasonably practicable pursuant to Rules 17.10 and 17.11 of the GEM
Listing Rules and the Inside Information Provisions under Part XIVA of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) (Chapter 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong). The executive Directors have responsibility for approving
certain announcements and/or circulars to be issued by the Company
under powers delegated by the Board from time to time.

The Company has put in place procedures on handling and dissemination
of inside information in a timely manner in such a way so as not to place
any person in a privileged dealing position and to allow time for the market
to price the listed securities of the Company with the latest available
information. The Company has appropriate internal control and reporting
systems to identify and assess potential inside information. Dissemination
of inside information of the Company shall be conducted by publishing
the relevant information on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company, according to the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

COMPANY SECRETARY

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company Secretary was Mr.
Chou Chiu Ho.

Details of backgrounds and qualification of the Company Secretary
are set out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

A written record had been received by the Company from Mr. Chou Chiu
Ho confirming that he took not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the year ended 31 March 2025. The Company is of the
view that Mr. Chou has complied with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

60

R EPEF LI BE

ARRLEAREZEF - EFSCHHERNBELR
BE2FER URARERAEEXBORIE  HEREM
BE  BHEREERE TR —EBE LN AILEZS
Fl - ZESEIBZFEA TR ASEE R EE M AE
ERGHRIEE B RIETELES B EAKA
o A BEESRRESFRL —RFIHHRSERX
MRAZHE -

AR E R

AR R FHE A ARl BT E RSB ATBE 8 AR B kD
BRIARRENTE  WRATHBEHEERANEE
B MZARBEGEM LR AIE 171018 %1711 R F
HREAEGRON(TRERAEHRM ) (BBEMES7T1E)
EXVAZSHNE A BHEXIE GBI 1TIE R TR RIS -
BITESEEMERADRRIBESS TREEM TN
EFRAER/SiEK

RAFE RFERAERIE R EMATER T A2 EHIE
A ALTEARRBMEEIA - LTINS ERHA
BEHRNBERAT  AREREAELART LTESZE
& ARBERBEZNONMEERERRL - LB K
FHEEENER - RIEGEM EHRARE - ARFR
BE R T BB 52 B e A B Ak T B AR B R i 2
W o

NEAME

BHZE2025F3 A31 HILFE - RAWERBERBMILLE -

N

BERRTAMENESRERZHBERAFRIESZR
BREEEREE] & -

ARARCEERBMALEZEMLE  BRERER
2025 3A31HILFEELERFLRI5/NENEESR
3| - ARFRAELEEDETGEM EHEAIES.15

&~

Prime Intelligence Solutions Group Limited / Annual Report 2025



Corporate Governance Report
B (o S0 4 4

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS TO CONVENE
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

In order to safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolutions are proposed at Shareholders’ meetings on each substantial
issue, including the election of individual Directors, for Shareholders’
consideration and voting.

The following procedures for Shareholders of the Company to convene
an extraordinary general meeting are subject to the Articles, and the
applicable legislation and regulation, in particular the GEM Listing Rules:

(i) any one or more shareholders of the Company holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company (the “Eligible Shareholder(s)”) carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”),
to require an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”) to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles; and

(i) if within 21 days of the deposit of the requisition, the Board fails
to proceed to convene such EGM, the requisitionist(s) himself/
themselves may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

PROCEDURES FOR SENDING ENQUIRIES TO THE
BOARD

Apart from sending email to ir@primeintelligence.com.hk, Shareholders
may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing them
to the headquarter and principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong at Room 1506. 15/F, Olympia Plaza, 255 King’s Road, North
Point, Hong Kong, by post or by fax to (852) 2988 8660, for the attention
of the Company Secretary.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company has adopted a dividend policy, a summary of which is
disclosed as below.

Any amount of dividends of the Company will be at the discretion of the
Directors and will depend on, among other things, the Company’s trading
results, cash flows and financial condition as well as operating and capital
requirements. Any declaration and payment as well as the amount of
dividends will be subject to the Company’s constitutional documents
and the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands, including the approval of Shareholders.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

Pursuant to the Articles, Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may
by means of requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set out
above.
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The Directors present their report together with the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.

AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company proposed to adopt the third amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association (the “New Memorandum and
Articles of Association”) in order to bring the existing memorandum
and articles of association up to date and in line with the latest regulatory
requirements in relation to the paperless listing regime, the electronic
dissemination of corporate communications by listed issuers and the
relevant amendments made to the Listing Rules which took effect on
31 December 2023. The New Memorandum and Articles of Association
was proposed to be adopted in substitution for and to the exclusion of
the existing memorandum and articles of association with effect from the
proposed change of company name becoming effective and passing
of the relevant special resolution at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 9 September 2024 (the “Conditions”). However, as
one of the Conditions, which is the proposed change of company name
becoming effective, has not been fulfilled by proposing the relevant
resolution at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 9
September 2024, it is not feasible to adopt the New Memorandum and
Articles of Association. During the Reporting Period, the Company did not
amend its memorandum and articles of association.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of
the principal activities principal subsidiaries are set out in note 36 to the
financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of
the Group’s principal activities during the year.

The analysis of geographical locations of the Group for the year is set out
in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025 are set out in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the year and analysis of the
Group’s performance using financial key performance indicators and
prospects of the Group’s business are provided in the sections headed
“Chairman’s Statement” on pages 5 to 6 and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 7 to 12 of the annual report. The discussion forms
part of this Director’s report.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION
Details of segment reporting are set out in note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 and the state
of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 82 to 167.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2025.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the “Consolidated Statement of Changes in
Equity” and note 34 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
The Company’s reserve available for distribution as at 31 March 2025
was approximately HK$0.1 million.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 17 to the financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required
by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) when the Directors’ report prepared by the Directors
is approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles and association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 168 of the annual report.

PURCHASES, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 March 2025.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Yicheng (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(Re-designated on 13 May 2024)

Ms. Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline

Mr. Lin Shixing

Ms. Zhang Yushan (Appointed on 12 April 2024)

Mr. Hui Cho Lung (Resigned on 31 May 2024)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Yuen Kwok Wai, Tony (Re-designated on 13 May 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Ching Wan

Mr. Yang Chuan (Appointed on 12 April 2024)
Ms. Li Dongxian (Appointed on 31 July 2024)
Mr. Chung Billy (Resigned on 31 July 2024)
Mr. Ke Tianxiong (Resigned on 31 July 2024)

ROTATION OF DIRECTORS IN THE FORTHCOMING
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

In accordance with the Article 108 of the Articles, Mr. Lin Shixing, Ms.
Zhang Yushan and Ms. Li Dongxian, shall retire from office as Directors
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Mr. Lin Shixing,
Ms. Zhang Yushan and Ms. Li Dongxian have agreed to offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF
APPOINTMENT

Ms. Pauline Yuen has entered into a service agreement with our Company
for an initial term of three years with effect from the date of Listing and
such service agreements have been renewed for another year. Mr. Lin
has entered into service agreement with our Company for an initial term
of three years with effect from the 22 December 2023. Mr. Wang has
entered into service agreement with our Company for an initial term of
three years with effect from the 26 January 2024. Ms. Zhang has entered
into service agreement with our Company for an initial term of three years
with effect from the 12 April 2024. All of the said service agreements will
be renewable from time to time thereafter until terminated by not less than
three months’ prior notice in writing.

Mr. Tony Yuen was re-designated as an non-executive Director has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term
of three years with effect from the 13 May 2024. All of the said letter of
appointment or service agreement has been or will be renewed from time
to time thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ prior
notice in writing.

Mr. Wong has entered into a letter of appointment for an initial term of
three years with effect from 17 June 2022. Mr. Yang has entered into
a letter of appointment for an initial term of three years with effect from
12 April 2024. Ms. Li has entered into a letter of appointment for an
initial term of three years with effect from 31 July 2024. All of the said
letters of appointment will be renewable from time to time thereafter until
terminated by not less than three months’ prior notice in writing.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS
THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION TO THE
COMPANY'’S BUSINESS

Save for disclosed in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements,
no significant transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company’s subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 13 to 18 of the annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five individuals with
highest emoluments are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME
Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out in note
16 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions in which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or
which were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered
in the register referred to therein, or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:

ESRBRETRAEBREQATEMEEEE
MR - HEROREEENESRAR

MR2025F3A31H  ARAREERFETRAERA
AR E AR AE (F & R EH R EEKRGIEXVER)
B - B D RERER  BEBRBEIHFRPEK
BPIEEXVEET7 RESHBAME AR B MR TR
EAKR (BERSREES RPEENE BIE R A
PR ERENERRAR) RIRBFHFRAEEHE
352 BRBEZ G T E M AR RIAR - 3
RIEGEM LR AIEE5.46 = 5.67 IF A& AN A 7) M B
RETERRARIT ¢

Long positions 3=}
Ordinary shares of the Company KAFEBEAR
Number Percentage of the
of shares Company’s issued
Name Capacity and nature of interest (note 1) share capital
BRHEHE EADTE BT
o] SORERME (KiaE1) REZBS L
Mr. Wang Yicheng Beneficial owner 136,230,000 (L) 17.03%

E—RKEE BEREAA
Note:
1. The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shareholder’s interest in the

share capital of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company or their associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which each of them has taken or deemed to be taken under the
provisions of the SFO); or which were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered into the register referred to therein; or which
were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 and 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2025, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
persons, not being Directors or chief executive of the Company had,
or were deemed to have, interests or short position in the shares or
underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or indirectly, to be interested
in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company:

Long positions
Ordinary shares of the Company

FERREEMALTREDTRG REER D
SRR E

20253 AB1 H - BMEEZMAME - THAL (LI E
FRAARRAESITERAB) RRG S ABERG P Ak
WRABRBIREES MR GEMEXVIBE 2 3D EME
NARARARFENESIAR  HALHENARFIR
EEFH M AIEEPIE 336 IRATFE S fiEm ik R
N EESKHEEEAMFEANRERER T ERERRR
FRR R A S FIREME MR ANEE 5% 3 A i

He
KN E]EBR
Number Percentage of the
of shares Company’s issued

Name Capacity and nature of interest (note 1) share capital
RGHHE HAEARATERIT
"L LB SO RERNE (Fiat1) REZBEZHE
Mr. Yao Han (“Mr. Yao”) (hote 2) Beneficial owner 131,785,000 (L) 16.47%
wkER s ([ Bk %) (Kt 2) BEmEA A
Ms. Jian Yanmei (“Ms. Jian”) (note 2) Interest of spouse 131,785,000 (L) 16.47%
Bt (B ) (Mix2) Jinkiist = dan
Super Arena Limited Beneficial owner 209,770,000 (L) 26.22%
(“Super Arena”) (note 3)
Super Arena Limited EmlAA
(TSuper Arena ) (#17#3)
Mr. Wu Rong (note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 209,770,000 (L) 26.22%

REFHE (K1773) R EE R
Notes:
1. The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shareholder’s interest in the

share capital of the Company.

2. Ms. Jian is Mr. Yao’s spouse and is therefore deemed to be interested in all
Shares held by Mr. Yao under the SFO.

3. Super Arena is beneficially owned as to 100% by Mr. Wu Rong. Mr. Wu

Rong is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Super Arena under
the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Directors are not
aware of any other person, other than Directors and the chief executive
of the Company who had, or was deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO;
or who is directly or indirectly, to be interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of the Company or options in respect
of such share capital.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the paragraphs headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company or any Associated Corporations”
and “Share Option Scheme” in this annual report, and save for the
reorganisation and the capitalisation issue as explained in the Prospectus,
at no time during the year ended 31 March 2025 was the Company, or
any of its subsidiaries or its parent company a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors and chief executives (including their respective
spouse and children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any of its associated corporation.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Share Option Scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed
by the then Shareholders on 18 January 2018 for the primary purpose
is to attract, retain and motivate talented participants, to strive for
future developments and expansion of the Group. Eligible participants
of the Share Option Scheme include any employees, any executives,
non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors),
advisors, consultants of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

The Share Option Scheme will remain valid and effective for a period of
10 years commencing on the date on which the Share Option Scheme
was adopted, after which no further share options will be granted but the
provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall in all other respects remain in
full force and effect and share options which are granted during the life of
the Share Option Scheme may continue to be exercisable in accordance
with their terms of issue. The principal terms of which were summarised
in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the
Prospectus. No share option has been granted under the Share Option
Scheme since its adoption.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save and except for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in the
paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” above, no equity-linked
agreement that (i) will or may result in the Company issuing shares or (i)
requires the Company to enter into any agreement that will or may result
in the Company issuing shares, was entered into by the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2025 or subsisted at the end of the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

i SR #9165 =
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS FTEEFRMLER
Sales Purchases
HE 23
The largest customer BAEP 13.9% N/AT 8
Five largest customers in aggregate AREF#HET 45.2% N/A-TE
The largest supplier SABER N/A 73 A 48.3%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate hAREERE AT N/A T35 A 76.1%

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, to the best of knowledge of the
Directors, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact
on the businesses and operations of the Group.
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DISCLOSURES UNDER RULES 17.22 TO 17.24 OF THE
GEM LISTING RULES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had no circumstances which would give
rise to a disclosure obligation under Rules 17.22 to 17.24 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND KEY RELATIONSHIP
WITH EMPLOYEES

Discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and key relationship
with employees is set out in the section headed “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” from pages 19 to 38 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to the factors
as set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of the related party transactions of the Group are set out in
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 1 February 2025, Prime Intelligence Trading Company Limited, being
an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
tenancy agreement (as tenant) with Brilliant Capital Resources Limited
(as landlord) (“Brilliant Capital”) for the term from 1 February 2025
to 31 January 2026 at a rent of HK$150,000 per calendar month. The
premise has been used by the Group as a workshop. Brilliant Capital
was owned as to approximately 42.5%, 42.5% and 15.0% by Mr. Yuen
Jackson Kwok Leung (“Mr. Jackson Yuen”), Mr. Tony Yuen and Ms.
Pauline Yuen respectively. Since Mr. Tony Yuen, Ms. Pauline Yuen and
Mr. Jackson Yuen are “family members” as defined in Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules and they together owned over 50% of the total
issued share capital of Brilliant Capital, Brilliant Capital is an associate of
Mr. Tony Yuen and Ms. Pauline Yuen pursuant to Rule 20.10(2)(b) of the
GEM Listing Rules. Therefore, the entering into a tenancy agreement by
SE Engineering (as tenant) with Birilliant Capital (as landlord) constitutes a
continuing connected transaction.

Details of the above tenancy agreement of the Group are set out in note
40 to the consolidated financial statements.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, none of the Directors, the
controlling shareholders and their respective associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) as at 31 March 2025 had any interest in any business
which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group or any other conflicts of interest with the Group.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Each of Mr. Tony Yuen, Ms. Pauline Yuen and Delighting View (collectively
the “Covenantors” or each, a “Covenantor”), being the then Controlling
Shareholders, has entered into the deed of non-competition (the “Deed
of Non-competition”) pursuant to which each of the Covenantors has,
among other things, irrevocably and unconditionally undertaken with
the Company (for itself and as trustee for its subsidiaries), on a joint and
several basis, that at any time during the period commencing on the date
of Listing and expiring on the earlier of (i) the date upon which the Shares
cease to be listed on the Stock Exchange; or (i) the date upon which the
Covenantors and their close associates cease to own 30% or more of
the then issued share capital of the Company directly or indirectly, such
Covenantor shall not, and shall procure that neither their respective close
associates nor companies controlled by the Covenantors (other than the
members of the Group) will (i) directly or indirectly, be interested in or
involved in or engaged in or acquire or hold any right or interest (in each
case whether as a director or shareholder (other than being a director
or shareholder of any member of the Group)) in any form of business,
including but not limited to any joint venture, alliance, cooperation,
partnership which competes or is likely to compete directly or indirectly
with the Group’s business in any area in which the Group carries or may
carry on business (the “Restricted Activity”) from time to time; nor
provide support in any form to persons other than the members of the
Group to engage in business that constitutes or may constitute direct
or indirect competition with the businesses that the Group is currently
and from time to time carrying on; (i) solicit any existing employee of the
Group for employment by him/her/it or his/her/its close associates or
companies controlled by him/her/it; and (i) without the consent of the
Company, make use of any information pertaining to the business of the
Group which may have come to his/her/its knowledge for any purpose of
engaging, investing or participating in any Restricted Activity. Such non-
competition undertaking does not apply to holding shares of a company
which conducts or is engaged in any Restricted Activity provided that,
such shares are listed on a recognised stock exchange and: (a) the total
number of the shares held by the Covenantors and/or their respective
close associates (in aggregate) does not amount to more than 5% of the
issued shares of such company; and (b) the Covenantors and/or their
respective close associates are not entitled to appoint a majority of the
directors or management of that company. Details of the Deed of Non-
competition have been disclosed in the section headed “Relationship with
the Controlling Shareholders” of the Prospectus.
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As Delighting View Global Limited, Mr. Tony Yuen and Ms. Pauline Yuen
ceased to be the Controlling Shareholders from 30 June 2021, the
undertakings under the Deed of Non-competition expired on the same
date.

On 30 November 2015, Mr. Jackson Yuen has also entered into a deed
of non-competition with the Company, pursuant to which Mr. Jackson
Yuen has made similar undertakings to the Company as those given by
the Controlling Shareholders under the Deed of Non-competition.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company’s corporate governance report is set out on pages 39 to
61 of this annual report.

STRATEGIC COOPERATION FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT
On 14 June 2024, the Group entered into a strategic cooperation
framework agreement (the “Strategic Cooperation Framework
Agreement”) with Guizhou Little Butterfly Cultural Tourism Industry
Development Co. Ltd.* (BN /N (LR EXER AR Q7))
(“Guizhou Little Butterfly Cultural”), a company established under
the laws of the People’s Republic of China which mainly operates the
business of entrusted operation and management of tourist attractions.
Pursuant to Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement, the Company
and Guizhou Little Butterfly Cultural will cooperate on various matters
including but not limited to joint development of intellectual property rights
in digital cultural tourism and exploration of potential opportunities through
the operation of e-commerce platforms or other feasible approaches.
The Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement shall be effective for
a term of one year. Details of the above are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 14 June 2024.
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PROPOSED CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

The Board proposes to change the dual foreign name in Chinese of the
Company from “MEFERIREB AR AT to “BERBKIZERER QR
The proposed Change of company name is conditional upon the following
conditions having been satisfied: (i) the passing of a special resolution
approving the proposed change of company name by the shareholders
of the Company at an extraordinary general meeting to be convened
and held by the Company; and (i) the approval being granted by the
Registrar of Companies in the Cayman Islands for the proposed change
of company name. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 27 January 2025 for details of the proposed change of company
name.

AUDITOR

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited has been appointed as the
auditor of the Company following the resignation of World Link CPA
Limited due to its reorganisation under which the audit engagement
director and the audit engagement team joined another professional
accounting firm with effect from 10 February 2020 and McMillan Woods
(Hong Kong) CPA Limited was appointed to fill the casual vacancy.

A resolution to re-appoint McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited

as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Wang Yicheng
Chairman

Hong Kong
30 June 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BN RS

M McMillanWoods

Professionalism at the forefront
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

PRIME INTELLIGENCE SOLUTIONS GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Prime
Intelligence Solutions Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 82 to 167,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
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separate opinion on these matters. We have determined (i) allowance for

inventories; and (ii) impairment of trade receivables to be the key audit

matters to be communicated in our report.

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BREZEE EEEERPNAEERBREREE
()  Allowance for inventories
() FEWEE
Refer to material accounting policy information in note
4(g), critical judgement and estimates in note 5(ij) and its
relevant disclosures in note 20 to the consolidated financial
Statements.
BRI A B IS IRR N i 4(Q) EXEFHBIREN - W5t 5(i) Bt
HIBT R AZF LA R T 7F 20 B9 166G 15 75 F2E -
The Group had inventories with net carrying amount of  Our procedure in relation to net realisable value determination
approximately HK$19,310,000 as at 31 March 2025 (after as well as allowance assessment of inventories carried out by
related allowance of approximately HK$4,632,000 provided the management included:
as at 31 March 2025). EEHREEERENERFEETUARTERET
A2025F3A381H - BEEMAREFEL 19,310,000 T 156’37&!*@% :
S (KRR 2025 F 3 A 31 B EHEHIABRIBHE ) 4,632,000
HBITI&) © —  Reviewing the ageing of inventory;
— BREEREK:
The Group operates in an industry where technological
development may significantly affect the valuation of —  Identifying and assessing aged and obsolete items of
inventories as its products would become slow-moving or inventory while attending the physical inventory Count
outdated when products with new technology emerge. — ZSHEBTFERINN BARMEEERREFER
e Ei REMETHENNE  MRERGUTFRAEE B
AEELER  EAERERMERL  HERGFIHNEFRN -
— Assessing the Group’s internal control over the
The estimation of the allowance for inventories requires inventory provision in particular the Group’s policy on
management to make judgements based on these allowance for slow-moving and outdated inventories;
inventories’ ages, obsolescence, future sales plan, estimated — 74 BSREHFERENADES  LEE &%
net selling prices as well as inventory disposal plans. Actual B¥FERREFTENBEIOR
sales are likely to be different from those estimated or
forecast since anticipated events sometimes do not occur as —  Assessing the appropriateness and reasonableness
expected and unforeseen events may arise, and their impact of the methodologies adopted by the management
on estimates and forecasts may be material. in determining the net realisable value for those slow-
FREBAEENZSTENRE  RERE - RAREETE - moving and outdated items of inventory; and
EEFEBEURFELEAEELAE  UEFZEEFEE — FAAEERETZSAHEIREFRERERFE
R - BRIHERFTALEZF AT HIEAAR - ThHER R EmAEEREEE &
i‘;ﬁ§+$1¢ﬁﬁ%?\ﬂuﬁHﬁﬂﬁ%’%&"ﬁ BHETERT AN EM
mEHEFT RFEANTEREEBERX ° —  Reviewing the subsequent sales to corroborate the
assumptions used by the management.
— BREBHEUSETEREGAOMRE -
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Key Audit Matter
BREZEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EEEERPNAIEERREREE
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Impairment of trade receivables

B 5 WA B

Refer to material accounting policy information in note 4(v),
critical judgement and estimates in note 5(iii), financial risk
management in note 6(b) and its relevant disclosures in note
21 to the consolidated financial statements.
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During the course of business, the Group would grant credit
terms to its customers ranged between 30 to 90 days. The
Group would perform periodic assessment on the impairment
of trade receivables by basing on information including
credit risk characteristics of each customer, historical ageing
and settlement records, subsequent settlement status,
expected timing and amount of recovering outstanding
balances, and on-going trading relationships with the
relevant customers and forward-looking information that may
impact its customers’ abilities to repay the outstanding trade
receivables in order to estimate the expected credit losses
(“ECL”) for the impairment assessment.
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Due to the significance of the amount of trade receivables
to the Group’s consolidated financial statements and the
impairment of assessment under the ECL model involved the
use of significant management judgements and estimates,
we considered this as a key audit matter.
HREZRUFENSHY SEEONGEMBERENS
BEX - MRBTEREEEEEETREN S RER
BEREBBHE R MESR BB EZSEE -
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Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of trade receivables included:

EERHE SRYGREREN HNERIZRF 81

- Understanding key internal controls over credit control,
debt collection and estimate of ECL;

— THREEEH - WEESEREREEEBGFT AR
EBIE I 5

—  Assessing, with the assistance of the auditor’s expert,
the reasonableness of the Group’s ECL models by
examining the model input used by management to
form such judgements, including testing the accuracy
of the historical default data, evaluating whether
the historical loss rates are appropriately adjusted
based on current economic conditions variables and
assumptions used in each of the economic scenarios
and their probability weightings and assessing whether
there was an indication of management bias when
recognising loss allowances;
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—  Re-performing, with the assistance of the auditor’s
expert, the calculations in the ECL model;

— ERHMERNBE T EFETRBEEBEENN

— Inspecting settlements after the financial year end
relating to the trade receivables as at 31 March 2025;
and

— RURFEEHEREBRENR2025F3A31BNE FJE
WHIEHBENEEBER : &

—  Reviewing the appropriateness of the disclosures made
in the consolidated financial statements in relation to
the Group’s credit risk exposure.

—  ESTEMRGAMBERTAELEE BEEE
FRRHBEERNREN -
77



Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in
the Company’s annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors of the Company
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors of the Company in discharging

their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR S

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business units within the Group as a basis for forming express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% BLAD ¥

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hui Chi Kong

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number: PO7348

24/F., Siu On Centre
188 Lockhart Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

mEEEkEMZEIRER

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

2025 2024
2025 £ 2024 fF
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
Biat FHET FHET
Revenue W =5 8 67,384 54,372
Cost of sales and services rendered SHE R EREARB A (36,307) (29,178)
Gross profit EF 31,077 25,194
Other income and other gains, net E A R E A 5 9 1,586 3,008
Selling and distribution costs SHE M SHRCAR (7,127) (10,100)
Administrative and other operating expenses 77} E th 4% & B % (23,518) (33,386)
Impairment loss of trade receivables B S EWGIARERE (150) (138)
Profit/(loss) from operation RELE Z®A/ (FE) 1,868 (15,422)
Finance costs EUR AN 10 (280) (234)
Profit/(loss) before tax BREBLATRF/ (BE) 11 1,588 (15,656)
Income tax (expense)/credit FsR () % 12 (24) 29
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to A B EE A B
equity owners of the Company FRBRFN,(EE) 1,564 (15,627)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income BB AHMEE (EH8) Ik
after tax:
Items that will not be reclassified to profit TeEH SR Em AR -
or loss:
Remeasurement (losses)/gains REBMERAREFEIZ
on defined benefit pension plans BT E (BE), kst (11) 121
Items that may be reclassified to profit AJEEM D Bm 2B -
or loss:
Exchange differences on translating MEGINETS B H ZEE
foreign operations (72) (345)
Release of foreign currency translation HERB AR SRR NS E
reserve on disposal of a subsidiary 1 = 40
(72) (305)
Other comprehensive loss FREMZHEERE - HRBIE
for the year, net of tax (83) (184)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for ZAATEREEAEBGEARE
the year attributable to W, (EE) M
equity owners of the Company 1,481 (15,811)
Earnings/(loss) per share (HK cents) BRERN,(EBER)CGBl)
— Basic and diluted — BEAXREE 15 0.20 (1.95)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

At 31 March 2025
720253 431 H

2025 2024
2025 F 2024
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
k=3 TET FHET
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE MRS 17 269 426
Right-of-use assets FREEE 18 - -
Intangible assets BV AE 19 - -
269 426
Current assets RBEE
Inventories 78 20 19,310 21,334
Trade receivables B S E 21 18,762 16,624
Other receivables, prepayments Hip e GRIAa - R RERES
and deposits 22 4,208 2,791
Tax recoverable AIUg B 7T 192 213
Bank and cash balances RITRIB % 23 4,201 3,802
46,673 44,764
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables =) ANE e 24 2,503 4,730
Other payables and accrued expenses HihER B R EETER 25 10,644 4,307
Lease liabilities HEaE 26 1,280 3,501
Contract liabilities X ON=Kr- 27 8,059 10,885
22,486 23,423
Net current assets RBEEFE 24,187 21,341
Total assets less current liabilities HEERTBHEE 24,456 21,767
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 1,047 1,454
Contract liabilities BREE 27 831 1,215
Retirement benefit obligations IRIRAE N ZE 28 373 313
Promissory notes O E R 29 1,939 -
4,190 2,982
NET ASSETS EEFE 20,266 18,785
MR £ B IR A A / 452025 83



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

At 31 March 2025
120253 531 H

2025 2024
2025 £ 2024
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt TET FHET

Capital and reserves BARKHE
Share capital RE A 32 8,000 8,000
Reserves i 34 12,266 10,785
TOTAL EQUITY R 20,266 18,785

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June 720254 6 A 30 B 4% & =& it fe MR T3 -
2025.

Wang Yicheng Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline
- Brxi

The accompany notes from an integral part of these consolidated financial — BEMI M 3T A1t S5 A M B HREH —EH -
statements.
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Consolidgted Statement of Changes in Equity
MERRBER

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

Foreign
currency
Share Share Merger Legal  translation Accumulated  Subtotal of Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses reserves equity
B BReEE AHRE AERE HMBARRE 2itER 1005 mgs
(note 34(c)(i))  (note 34(c)fii)  (note 34(c)fii))  (note 34(c)iv))
(HE3ACN) (W3 (M3 (HEE34CI)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThT TAT TAT TAL TAT TR TAT TAT
At1 April 2023 R2023%4 A1A 8,000 51,682 17,079 12 (416) (41,761) 26,596 34,596
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - (15,627) (15,627) (15,627)
Other comprehensive loss HEh2EER - - - - (305) 121 (184) (184)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ~ FRZEEEAE - - - - (305) (15,506) (15,811) (15,811)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 #2024 F3A31H
R2024%4 718 8,000 51,682 17,079 12 (721) (67,267) 10,785 18,785
Profit for the year FRER - - - - - 1,564 1,564 1,564
Other comprehensive loss Hth2EFR - - - - (12) (1) (83) (83)
Total comprehensive income ER2ENRLE
for the year - - - - (72) 1,553 1,481 1,481
At 31 March 2025 M2025%E3A31H 8,000 51,682 17,079 12 (793) (55,714) 12,266 20,266
R R EE AR A F / 382025 85



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEEHERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
HiaE FHT FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REZHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax BB (EE) 1,588 (15,656)
Adjustments for: AT SEEL T
Interest income FEWA (13) (144)
Bad debts written off on trade receivables 8 5 JiE i 2} 18 122 BR 1 179 -
Depreciation of property, Y - BB MR EITE
plant and equipment 242 394
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 465 1,203
Finance costs R IDN 280 234
Impairment loss of trade receivables Z 5 RUGRIBRERE 150 138
Impairment loss on property, WE - BE KRB REEIE
plant and equipment 114 258
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets EAEEERERE 1,568 2,953
(Reversal of allowance)/allowance FE(BERD), BiE
for inventories (874) 272
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary B D RIS (1,069) (2,366)
Gain on disposals of property, HEWE  BERE&EKE
plant and equipment (20) (21)
Operating profit/(loss) before working LEESEBATEERET
capital changes (B#E) 2,610 (12,739)
Decrease in inventories FERL 2,857 605
Increase in trade receivables B 5 FE U TR IALE hn (2,481) (6,124)
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables, HAbEUGRIA - AR FIER
prepayments and deposits =e (38R (956) 296
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables Z SN FHAECRLD)/ & (2,221) 2,471
Increase in other payables HE eI MBS E A
and accrued expenses 0 3,491 3,915
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities AHEECHD) Em (3,209) 3,251
Increase in retirement benefit obligations RIREAIEHEIE N 36 422
Cash from/(used in) operations KRS (TR RE 127 (7,899
Income taxes paid B (3) (115)
Interest on lease liabilities HEaENE (228) (222)
Net cash used in operating activities R FTRIR S F 58 (104) (8,236)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 TET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETZHRERE

ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BB ¥ - = L& E (199) (2,407)
Net cash effect on disposal of a subsidiary ~ HEMB AT ZFHETE 37(a) (10) (225)
Net cash effect on acquisition of a subsidiary YWHEHIE QA RFHR & TE 37(b) 156 -
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWE  BEMKREEHE

plant and equipment 20 66
Interest received BEF B 13 144
Net cash used in investing activities REEBFAESFE (20) (2,422)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MELTHRERE

ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of promissory notes BT RIRFTS A 1,900 -
Principal element of lease payments HMERZFASHS (3,805) (3,243)
Advance from a director of the Company KERNANB —ZBEENRAIR 2,500 -
Net cash from/(used in) financing activites ~ BYEEENFTE,/(FTA) BE £ %% 595 (3,243)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH H&RBELSZEYE i,

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS CR2) B8 47 (13,901)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes RSB 2 (72) (165)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FEYNRERBESEEY

BEGINNING OF YEAR 3,802 17,868
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT ERNRERBESEEY

END OF YEAR 4,201 3,802
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH RERASEEBYHNDIN

EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances RITRBE % 23 4,201 3,802
WRERHEEE AR AR / F1§2025 87



Notes to the Financial Statements

PSR AR B EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

1.

88

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempt company with limited liability under the Companies Law (as
revised) of the Cayman Islands on 16 October 2015. The address
of its registered office is P.O. Box 1350, Clifton House, 75 Fort
Street, Grand Cayman, KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The address
of its principal place of business is located at Room 1506, 15/F.,
Olympia Plaza, 255 King’s Road, North Point, Hong Kong. The
Company’s shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 14 February
2018 (the “Listing”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are sales of biometrics identification
devices and other devices and accessories and provision of
auxiliary and other services.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards, which in collective
term includes all HKFRS Accounting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing
Rules”) and with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (the “HKCO”).

The HKICPA has issued certain new and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the Group. Note
3 below provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these developments to
the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.
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Al o H 3l 3% 2 5% #h 41k /2 P.O. Box 1350, Clifton
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B AL

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(@) Amendments to standards adoption by the Group
The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 April 2024 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
(“HK Int 5”) (Revised) Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand

Clause
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements

The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in the current year had no material impact on
the Group’s financial position and performance for the
current and prior year and/or the disclosures set out in the
consolidated financial statements.

MR EE AR AR / 32025
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PSR AR B EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS 3.

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued) 28 (&)
(b) New standards and amendments to standards not yet (b) EREAE

920

effective

The Group has not applied any new and amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued but are
not yet effective for the financial year beginning 1 April 2024.
The new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

-

BRAVETR] RARERT BB B |MEER T

| R 2E RIERT A<

AN B 4 B R AL 2 R AR 1B X 2024
F4 81 HFIEHIEFE AR ERAFR]
MR B BM M E LR ST R
EFHE MRIERI B BRI ME LR FHE
AIBFEA T E AL BEAHHIAR -

%

Effective for

accounting periods

beginning on or after

RUTR#s 2%
BB ST HEENR

Amendments to HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1 — Lack of Exchangeability
BB ERIE 215 REBM B MEERIE 155 (IBETAR) — RZ Al Kkt
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 — Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments
BEMBREENFE IR LEBVBRELNE 75 (BFIA) — 2R ITANDELE
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent Electricity
BBMGMELNE IR REBUBWMEERIE 75 (BRI R) P REEEAEREEENNERN
Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11
BRUBRELNFESCERE — £111#
HKFRS 18 — Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements
B EMEERE 185 — M MK 25 LR
HKFRS 19 — Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures
EEMBHREEIF 10N —BARMEMNNBERR - BE
Amendments to HK Int 5 — Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
BEEREBESR (BFIAR) — MBHRERNEY — ERAHBE AR ZRKERERY
EHERN DA
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
EEMBREENFE 10K REEGFERE 285 (BF]A) — REFRARE Ak
AEPECZENEEREITE

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these new and amendments to standards
are expected to be in the period of initial application. Except
for below, the new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards are unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

1 January 2025
202591 A31H
1 January 2026

202641 A1H
1 January 2026

20261 A31H
1 January 2026
20261 A1H
1 January 2027
20271 A1H
1 January 2027
20271 A31H
1 January 2027

20271 A1AH

To be determined

by the HKICPA
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B AL

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

(b)

R REERRA

New standards and amendments to standards not yet
effective (continued)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements”

HKFRS 18 will replace HKAS 1 “Presentation of financial
statements”, introducing new requirements that will help
to achieve comparability of the financial performance of
similar entities and provide more relevant information and
transparency to users. Even though HKFRS 18 will not impact
the recognition or measurement of items in the consolidated
financial statements, HKFRS 18 introduces significant
changes to the presentation of financial statements, with a
focus on information about financial performance present
in the statement of profit or loss, which will affect how the
Group present and disclose financial performance in the
financial statements. The key changes introduced in HKFRS
18 relate to (i) the structure of the statement of profit or loss, (i)
required disclosures for management-defined performance
measures (which are referred to alternative or non-GAAP
performance measures), and (i) enhanced requirements for
aggregation and disaggregation of information.

The directors of the Company are currently assessing the

impact of applying HKFRS 18 on the presentation and the
disclosures of the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PSR AR B EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

4,

92

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
Accounting Standards requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

A summary of the material accounting policy information applied in
the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set
out below.

(@) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up
to 31 March. The financial statements of the subsidiaries
are prepared for the same reporting year as that of the
Company. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group. Subsidiaries are entities over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The Group has
power over an entity when the Group has existing rights that
give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e.
activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential voting
right is considered only if the holder has the practical ability to
exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control and continue to be consolidated until
the date when such control ceases.

4.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(@

R REERRA

Consolidation (continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of
any investment retained in that subsidiary determined on the
date when control is lost; and (i) the carrying amount of the
Company'’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any
remaining goodwill and any accumulated foreign currency
translation reserve relating to that subsidiary.

All intragroup transactions, balances, unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement
of changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between the non-
controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling
and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed
to the owners of the Company.

Al / F%%2025

4,

EXEFBEER (H)

(a)

e (&)

ﬁD%ﬁ%l‘ﬁ% AIEBREESE  ZRK
SR EIEEATMENZRE()HEREN
NP EMZMERTRENEMRENRD
FEHMRREENEEAETE)  ROARQ
AN R E AR EEFEREE MR
ZMB AR BEREOEFEAEHERERNZR
FHMNEIE R

MEEEARRIERS  #th - KEBERK
SEAIE T AMER o R IR BRI T LA
BRI ZIREMEREERENERE -
B ARG RNV ERFRE - AR
REBARERBOG TR

FERESEYFEEARERBARA
ZMB AR - FFERERNES M
HRR%’%&GQ*E*“@%Z% S5k o

GESRMGABELEMEEKE
zizlfﬂ FFERESEIAFABRRRER
WEHAARAEFERBRRERRAEEAZ
B DAL

BamkHEMEE KR & EEK R R
RARBZHAANFIEEBRAR - AL
REGHIFERE R BALEER

ARRRMBARBEAEESREFH (LT
BERKEEGIRE)SIERERR 5 (AN EER
ANAR SRR AN S HETHRS) A
B o PR RIEIERE SR EE S T AR
B ARBERHE A ARG R 2
3'5? B iE RS 2 S R AT AT (E
AFEZENTAEZFAEERESPE
WERBRARTEBA ©

93



Notes to the Financial Statements

PSR AR B EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(b)

()

94

Separate financial statements

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
loss, unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).
Cost includes direct attributable costs of investments. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received or receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwiill.

Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

(i) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial

statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. The transaction date is the date
on which the company initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary items that
are measured at fair values in foreign currencies are
translated using the exchange rates at the dates when
the fair values are determined.
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B ISR AR B AL

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)
(c) Foreign currency translation (continued)

(i)

(i)

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements (continued)

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or
loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

— Income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are translated at average exchange rates for the
period (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the
exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

—  Allresulting exchange differences are recognised
other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of monetary items that form part of the
net investment in foreign entities are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign
operation is sold, such exchange differences are
reclassified to the consolidated profit or loss as part of
the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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4,

96

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in the profit or loss during the period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their costs less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.
The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as
follows:

Furniture and fixtures 20%
Biometric identification devices 20%
Motor vehicles 30%
Computer equipment 20%
Leasehold improvement 20%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. The
gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in
profit or loss in the year in which the item is derecognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

()

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired are measured on initial recognition
at cost. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be whether finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and the ability
to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.
Product development expenditure which does not meet
these criteria is expensed when incurred. With respect to
staff costs incurred directly attributable to solution service
income, it will be regarded as cost of sales and charged to
profit or loss of the Group accordingly.

Software development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line
basis over the commercial lives of the underlying products
not exceeding five years, commencing from the date when
the software are put into commercial production.
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98

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

U]

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that
use.

The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-
lease component(s), the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets, which for the Group are primarily office
premises. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not capitalised are
recognised as an expense on a systematic basis over the
lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the lease liability. After initial recognition, the lease liability
is measured at amortised cost and interest expense is
calculated using the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not
included in the measurement of the lease liability and hence
are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which
they are incurred.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

U]

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by
the group entities, which do not have recent third-party
financing, and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the
individual lessee (through recent financing or market data)
which has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the
group entities use that rate as a starting point to determine
the incremental borrowing rate.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised
is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial
amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments made
at or before the commencement date, and any initial direct
costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-
use assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located, discounted to their
present value, less any lease incentives received. The right-
of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

U]

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index
or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced
to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“Lease
Modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate
lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on
the revised lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is
not the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(9)

(h)

R REERRA

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out basis
and comprise all costs of purchase and, where applicable,
cost of conversion and other costs that have been incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the
sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur
to make the sale. When inventories are sold, the carrying
amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in
the period in which the related revenue is recognised. The
amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable
value and all losses of inventories are recognised in the
profit or loss in the period of write-down or loss occurs.
The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories
recognised as an increment in the amount of inventories
and recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which the
reversal occurs.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. A contract liability would also be recognised if the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such
cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

U]

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the
company or the counterparty.
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B ISR AR B AL

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

0

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets.

Debt investments
Debt investments held by the Group are classified into one of
the following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the
effective interest method.

— Fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI”) — recycling, if the contractual cash
flows of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is held
within a business model whose objective is achieved
by both the collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the recognition in
profit or loss of expected credit losses (“ECL”), interest
income (calculated using the effective interest method)
and foreign exchange gains and losses. When the
investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated
in other comprehensive income is recycled from equity
to profit or loss.

—  FVTPL if the investment does not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the investment
(including interest) are recognised in profit or loss.
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4,
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(0]

(k)

Financial assets (continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading purposes
and on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes
an election to designate the investment at FVTOCI (non-
recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such elections
are made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition of equity
from the issuer’s perspective. Where such an election is
made, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive
income remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
until the investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal,
the amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not recycled
through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity
securities, irrespective of whether classified as at FVTPL or
FVTOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other income.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to receive
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time
is required before payment of that consideration is due.
If revenue has been recognised before the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount is
presented as a contract asset.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less allowance for credit loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B AL

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(V)

(m)

(n)

(0)

()

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management are also included as
a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose
of the consolidated statement of cash flow. Cash and cash
equivalents are assessed for ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRS Accounting Standards. An
equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific
financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue recognition and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales
taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.
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BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(p)

(@)

106

Revenue recognition and other income (continued)
Revenue from the sale of biometric identification devices,
security products and other accessories is recognised when
control of the goods has transferred, being when the goods
have been delivered to the buyer’s specific location (delivery).
Under the Group’s standard contract terms, customers are
entitled to a one-year maintenance. At the point of sale, a
contract liability and corresponding adjustment to revenue
is recognised, representing the unfulfilled performance
obligation of the maintenance services. The contract liability
would be recognised as income on a straight-line basis over
the warranty period.

Revenue from provision of solution, installation and other
services are recognised when the relevant services are
rendered and delivered to customers.

Revenue from maintenance services are recognised on a
straight-basis over the term of the maintenance period.

Revenue from provision of online information and digital
marketing services is recognised when the services have
been provided.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised
cost or FVTOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the
effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount
of the asset. For credit impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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B ISR AR B AL

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)
(@) Employee benefits (continued)

(i)

(i)

Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme in
Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on 5% of
the employees’ relevant income, subject to a ceiling
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the
employer MPF contributions expected to be offsetted
as a deemed employee contribution towards the LSP
obligation in term of HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a) and it
is measured on a net basis. The estimated amount
of future benefit is determined after deducting the
negative service cost arising from the accrued benefits
derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that have
been vested with employees, which are deemed to be
contributions from the relevant employees.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.
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4,

108

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

U]

(s)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group
that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings
made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying
asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic basis
in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred.
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B ISR AR B AL

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(t)

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

MR EE AR AR / 32025

4,

EXEFBEER (H)

()

B8
FS Bt BN EARE TR BOEAE TR IR 2 4858 o

BUHEARE N IR IR DR 6 9 2 JE SR s M &t
H o ERTUR N BB AR ENE
FRRRE - TR ETBEE S E N ER
B AT R AR IR - BETTTE
FERRRBATAIHIRIAR - REEAH
BBz BB RANBEHREET
SBECDBITZREGHE -

EERBVECRAVBBRRNEERE
Bz R {E R ERDE N E 2 8/E
MEZZR - BEHRBRE -REZAARE
AT ZHEERAR MEERAEE
1) & 2 T8 H e SR M) AT R 8 R T 40
MEREE  RPARABBER R AH
BESHEIAR HERZEIA/RE
HERER T ERRTG M K& 5HE A
ZRB(EBEMHBRIN T ZEMBEERE
EmEL AT emAEHREERARE -

RBARZREMESL Z BRI E =
HHRARELCHARE  EHARE 2
HEREE 2 EE  UIRMZERHEES
AEEr BB ERID

109



Notes to the Financial Statements

PSR AR B EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

4,

110

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(t)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(u)

R REERRA

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed
at each reporting date for indications of impairment and
where an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense
through the consolidated statement of profit or loss to its
estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets. If this is the case,
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the
higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal
of the individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash
flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset/cash-
generating unit whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first
against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst
the other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent
increases in the recoverable amount caused by changes in
estimates are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they
reverse the impairment.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

v)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL measured
at amortised cost such as trade receivables. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial
instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are estimated
using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time
value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk
on the financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to
12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

v)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Forward-looking information considered includes
the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports,
financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks
and other similar organisations, as well as consideration of
various external sources of actual and forecast economic
information that relate to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

° significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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4,

114

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

v)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credlit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

i) The financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(i) The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and

(i) Adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit
risk when the asset has external credit rating of “investment
grade” in accordance with the globally understood definition
or if an external rating is not available, the asset has an
internal rating of “performing”. Performing means that the
counterparty has a strong financial position and there is no
past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

v)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable.

° when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

° information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

° the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

° it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

v)

116

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Werite-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
including when the debtor has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two
years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information as described above. As for the exposure
at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the
assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date; for
financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the
amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with
any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the
future by default date determined based on historical trend,
the Group’s understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting
date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met,
the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal
to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for
assets for which simplified approach was used.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

v)

(w)

)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle
the obligation. The discount rate used to determine the
present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to
the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.
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5.

118

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

(continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are discussed below.

(i) Impairment loss for property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining whether
an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment
and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether
an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect the
asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value
in use, the net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3)
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating
the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections
and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the assets belongs. Changing the
assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates or
the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially
affect the net present value used in the impairment test.
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5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

)

(i)

Impairment loss for property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment as
at 31 March 2025 was approximately HK$269,000 (2024:
HK$426,000). Right-of-use assets and intangible assets were
fully impaired at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

During the year, impairment for property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets of approximately HK$114,000 (2024:
HK$258,000) and HK$1,568,000 (2024: HK$2,953,000)
were charged to profit or loss respectively.

Allowance for inventories

Allowance for inventories is made based on the ageing,
change in the market conditions and estimated net realisable
value of inventories. The assessment of the allowance
amount involves judgement and estimates. Where the actual
outcome in future is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of inventories and
allowance charge/write-back in the period in which such
estimate has been changed.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of inventories was
approximately HK$19,310,000 (2024: HK$21,334,000).

During the year, a reversal of allowance for inventories
of approximately HK$874,000 (2024: an allowance for
inventories of approximately HK$272,000) was credited
(2024 charged) to profit or loss.

MR EE AR AR / 32025

5.

B W & E RS ()

fhET TRERZNEEZRE (&)

()

(i)

ME - BELRRE EAREERERE
E (BB 895 (EE 18 ()
MN202543A31E W% WERRKRE
7 BR M E %) 5269,000 7 Jr(2024F -
426,000 7T) - HARAERBEEER
20254 K 2024 £ 3 B 31 AZBZUR/E -

FRN -ME BEERIEURERAESR
E R E o Bl #1114,00078 JT (2024 4F :
258,0007% 7T) & 1,568,000 7 7T (2024 4 -
2,953,000 7T) B B8 0k ©

FERE

FERBBEDERER TREPRFEN
AEFAERFEEL - FEBEESES R
HE R ARG - W AR BRERERA G5
TR FHAEZERBTEELEHMATE
BV BRI & B R, BB 2 BRI E -

MR2025F3A3IA FEMNEEBELN A
19,310,000 7T (2024 4F : 21,334,000/87T) °

N - 17 E B AE R R 49 874,0007% 7T (2024

F . FEEREEH272,0008 L) Bt AR
(20244 : B BIB=HBR) ©

119



Notes to the Financial Statements

PSR AR B EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(i) Impairment of trade receivables
The management of the Group estimates the amount of
impairment loss of trade receivables under ECL model based
on the credit risk of trade receivables. The amount of the
impairment loss based on ECL model is measured as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to
the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition. Where
the future cash flows are less than expected, or being revised
downward due to changes in facts and circumstances, a
material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of trade
receivables was approximately HK$18,762,000 (2024:
HK$16,624,000), net of allowance for impairment under ECL
of approximately HK$985,000 (2024: HK$835,000).

(iv)  Actuarial assumptions on defined benefit retirement plans
Accounting for defined benefit plans may be complex
because actuarial assumptions are required to measure the
obligation and the expense, with the possibility that actual
results differ from the assumed results. These differences
are known as actuarial gains and losses. Defined benefit
obligations are measured using the Projected Unit Credit
Method (PUCM), according to which the Group has to make a
reliable estimate of the amount of benefits earned in return for
services rendered in current and prior periods, using actuarial
techniques. In addition, in cases where defined benefit
plans are funded, the Group has to estimate the fair value
of plan assets. As a result, the use of the PUCM involves a
number of actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include
demographic assumptions such as mortality, turnover and
retirement age and financial assumptions such as discount
rates, salary and benefit levels. Such assumptions are subject
to judgements and may develop materially differently than
expected and therefore may result in significant impacts on
defined benefit obligations.

The carrying amount of retirement benefit obligations as at 31
March 2025 was HK$373,000 (2024: HK$313,000).
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(@

Foreign currency risk

The functional currency of the Group’s entities are principally
denominated in HK$, Renminbi (‘RMB”), Macau Pataca
(“MOP”) and Great British Pound (“GBP”). The Group has
certain exposure to foreign currency risk as some of its
business transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of respective
Group’s entities such as United States dollars (“US$”),
European dollars (‘EURO”) and RMB.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
risk of movements in exchange rates between HK$ and
US$, and HK$ and MOP to be insignificant since the HK$
is pegged against the US$ and MOP is pegged against
HK$. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is performed on
the movements in exchange rates between HK$ and US$;
and HK$ and MOP. The management is of the view that the
effect of foreign rate measurement between HK$ and EURO
would be insignificant. Whilst, the sensitivity analysis of the
Group’s foreign currency risk exposure in respect of RMB is
set out below:

B m R E R
AEBNEBAAZZRAPBERR - INERR
EERR  FXARETBESRER - NEEH
EREREESFEIN SRS A AR
% SERFAERESAEETBRBEBRNE
ETNZE -

(@ SRR
AEESERNDEEEIENET - A
RE(TARY]) BEPIE(TRME D KR
HF([REHE - INAKEW Y XS
ZH BEERBEDUASEERS AN
WEEBAIMNEE (T (TERx)) - B
TR RARKE) BEM - BASEA
A T INERR

RRBEERE ARNBTEETHE
iIRPIRE BB TR - BT AR TTRBTT
SOBPIEME RS R BREM - Bt - I
BB T 5 3R T R B 7T R P A BE R
PETHREIN - ERERR BEH
BT 2 RERAENZELTEK « AW -
REE A RS EE & MNE R 8 GURE
DITEFIIAT -

Functional Increase/

currency (decrease) in

strengthened/ consolidated

(weakened) by profit after tax

ThEeE® BBl REEER

FHE(B2fE) &, ()

Year ended 31 March 2025 HZE2025F3A31HILEE 5%/(5%) 10/(10)Note) (1i2)
Functional (Decrease)/

currency increase in

strengthened/ consolidated

weakened) by loss after tax

hEEE " MBI RESEE

B (E{E) OGR4, /18 hn

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE2024F3A31HIEFE 5%/(5%) (36)/36Mete) (#izt)
Note: This is mainly a result of foreign exchange gain/(loss) on Bt D EZRRAARBHENRITER

bank deposits, trade and other receivables, trade and other
payables denominated in RMB.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency transactions,
assets and liabilities. The Group monitors its foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.
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6.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its
obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract,
leading to a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit
risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables)
and from its financing activities, including deposits with
banks, foreign exchange transactions and other financial
instruments. The Company’s exposure to credit risk arising
from cash and cash equivalents is limited because the
counterparties are banks and financial institutions with high
credit-rating assigned by international credit-rating agencies,
for which the Company considers to have low credit risk.

Trade receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit
subject to the Group’s established policy, procedures
and control relating to customer credit risk management.
Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer operates.
Trade receivables are due within 30 to 90 days from the date
of billing. Debtors with balances that are more than 1 month
past due are requested to settle all outstanding balances
before any further credit is granted. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral or other credit enhancements from
customers.

The Group has limited concentration of credit risk as it has a
large number of customers.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivable
at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, which is calculated
using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss
patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.

6.

B EBRERE ()
(b) fFERR

EERBERXSHFREBTEANRERT
AXNBEFANEATHEETMEBAEEM
BREANRR - REBENEERBIRE K
2EH(ERERAEHEWHIA) RRE SR
mE BREBITER IEXZREME
MTAE - ARFMELHRTIAESERE
EZEERRAR  REARZXZYH FER
BIEERAREN TS EENRMRTR
TREE  AARHLHRAEERRAE

EEBEMNEAEEREEREFPEER
BREENRER BFREEMART &2
EFEERR -MAEBEETEERED
EPHBEETEMNEENE - ZFTES
PR E P BT B H SR RC 8% S 3R B HO 1
RN LEBEFPHENBERAREP
BEMERLBERENABEN - BHREK
FOHMEER SR 0 E0RNENH - 45
HEBR—EANR EOEBAREEMRE
AMEEEBRED AT HEREANEE - — K
ME  AEETEERFFPXHERRNL
HAFERE -

HREABAERF  AREMNEERRSE
hREAR

RE [ AR & (0 AR B R (E B AR
EELR ©

AEEZAER2HMBHREREEENSE
AEESRUIANEIEREE R
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ERRERITEBRRTATRSHNER
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&y AR R Z Biza iR EE e
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HXEKRER (&)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERRE)
Trade receivables (continued) B SN A (E)

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at

31 March 2025:

TRIBHNR2025F3 31 HNAEEE 5
ERFBEERBR LBHEEBEER

2025

2025 F
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
EHEREE BREAAE EERE
% HK$°000 HK$’000
FH T THET
Current (not past due) BIHA (R ER) 0.9% 3,634 34
1-90 days past due #HAI1 290 H 1.7% 9,701 168
91-180 days past due wHI91 =180 H 5.0% 3,437 172
More than 180 days past due  #Ef#E:E 180 H 20.5% 2,975 611
19,747 985

2024

2024
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
8 B g 1E BRMEBE [EStE R
% HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Current (not past due) BNER (R AR) 0.7% 4,491 30
1-90 days past due BEI1Z00H 0.8% 7,318 60
91-180 days past due #EFO1 =180 H 41% 2,607 107
More than 180 days past due  #HiEB:E 180 H 21.0% 3,043 638
17,459 835

EEABEEDENBENEBABR S
NATBENEN G REBARETY
EHRATAE MRS ATIE EERHERT -

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and adjusted for forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.
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6.

124

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

Movements in the loss allowance for trade receivables during
the year are as follows:

6.

B EBRERE ()
(b) EERE(E)
B SN (&)

FREZREGABEREZBHOT

2025 2024

2025 F 2024 F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

F#& T FHET

At 1 April R4A1H 835 697

Impairment losses recognised for the year 4F R TER A ETIE 150 138

At 31 March K3 HA31H 985 835
Other receivables and deposits Huh fEWH IS

For other receivables and deposits, the directors of the
Company make periodic individual assessment on the ECL of
these balances based on historical settlement records, past
experience, and also qualitative and quantify the information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking information
and concluded that there were no significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition and therefore, the Group
assessed the ECL to be immaterial.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s lease liabilities and promissory notes bear
interests at fixed interest rates and therefore are subject to
fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from its
bank deposits. These bank deposits bear interests at floating
rates varied with the then prevailing market condition.

Except as stated above, the Group does not have other
significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities at the end
of reporting period, its income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.

At the end of reporting period, the Group assess the
exposure to cash flow interest rate risk to be insignificant and
thus no sensitivity analysis is presented.

(c)

FEMERKIBERIZEME  ARRES
BREESEECE  BELR  HzSH
HENFEHEEERETERERIFMG - R
HEBLIFHRMEENNERETEN
e FH&R  BYVRERAKREER
[\ b 30 B R E AL 00 - E k- NEEFF AT
HEEBBEYITERX -

FlZ=m B
AEMWTEE B ERANZERIRETFIX
e EtERATEFEER -

AEEMFHERRK S LBTER - AW
RTFRETBFIE S - FIEBEE S
RTEH -

B b - A REREE AR
EXGBAERARE HUARGERS
REABLBIATSHEORE -

RIBEMR - AEEFGEAEEBNRSR
EBNRERITERK - FHUR25GURME
AT

N
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HXEKRER (&)
(d) Liquidity risk (d REBELER
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and AN B K HUR & E B B IR K FE BB YR
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains PHESFE - UBRELREUENEH
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in EBRERARBESHF KNRSHE -
the short and longer term.
The following tables show the remaining contractual TRETFAEESRBEENSRSEHRY
maturities at the end of each reporting period of the Group’s BRTENIEHER  DERRIBRER
financial liabilities, based on undiscounted cash flows 2 (BEREHFIES (WNES) kRS HE
(including interest payments computed using contractual BIEAFI R A BRI B AR RAEE A 1 2
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the reporting REERE B EEL
date) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.
The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities based ERGHARUERBRERENIEESRE
on contractual undiscounted cash flow is as follows: BEEBRITOT :
Less than Between Between
On demand 1year 1and2years 2andb5 years
RER DPR1E 182F 2E5F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET T TET
At 31 March 2025 R2025F3A31H
Trade payables B S ENFA = 2,503 = -
Other payables and accrued Ho o < 5B M FE AT
expenses EH 2,500 8,144 = =
Lease liabilities HEBE - 1,361 589 509
Promissory notes AN EE - - 2,090 -
At 31 March 2024 R202453A31H
Trade payables B SRR - 4,730 - -
Other payables and accrued HAth JEAS 0B % B AT
expenses &H - 4,307 - -
Lease liabilities HEBE - 3,657 1,488 -
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6.

126

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(e) Categories of financial instruments at 31 March

6.

PR EE (8
() MIANHEHMERIAES

2025 2024
2025 £ 2024 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Financial assets: cWMEE
Financial assets at amortised costs REHENATBEN S REE 24,631 21,537
Financial liabilities: EHMEE
Financial liabilities at amortised costs LB ATENSREARE 15,086 9,037

(f)  Fair values
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement
of financial position approximate their respective fair values.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has two reportable segments as follows:

—  Sales of biometrics identification devices, security products
and other accessories

— Provision of auxiliary and other services includes (i)
maintenance, installation and solution services; (i) software
licensing; and (iii) online information and digital marketing
services.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that
offer different products and services. They are managed separately
because each business requires different technology and marketing
strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
those described in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
Segment profits or losses do not include other income, finance
costs, unallocated costs, which comprise selling and distribution
expenses, corporate administrative and other operating expenses,
impairment loss of trade receivables and income tax expense.

Segment assets and liabilities are not presented in the consolidated
financial statements as they are not regularly reviewed by the
Group’s directors.

h 2FE
AEENEREEREBBENGAME
AR R R EEERLE BN R FER

ot

Eo

7 EBER
AR EE R E A 2D T

-  HELVBHEMEKE RLERREM
[

—  REREREMRS  RE()EE TER
BRR T MRS ¢ () BT AT R (i) EE
T 2R 2 S PR TS o

AEBW R 2D B RRETRER KRB
RIEMEREBEM - RS FEHBRLARM N2
B - ME2WO R EER -

DR B SR B A M AR T4 it
EER - paba MR e mE B - %
BRA ~ ROBCARA (A BRI EE Ry Y -
ETBREMEERY  BoREFERERR
AR B

DHBEERBBERESREMBERERT LS THE
REXTEMBAEREEEN -
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. HER(E)
(a) Operating segment of the Group (@) ATEELES
Information about reportable segment profit or loss: BT EWMOFBERANER
Sales of  Provision of
biometrics auxiliary,
identification online
devices, information
security and digital
products marketing
and other services and
accessories other services Total
HELEMEH RERE -
HAlFEE - WLEEAR
REEMm HBEHRE
REMEG URHMARE Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHT
Year ended 31 March 2025 BZE202553 31 HLLFE
Revenue from external customers 3£ B MNERE P HY I 2 42,553 24,831 67,384
Segment profit 73 B A 17,987 13,090 31,077
Year ended 31 March 2024 BZE2024F3A31HLEE
Revenue from external customers & BN & F B9 UL =S 37,270 17,102 54,372
Segment profit 73 BB A 16,826 8,368 25,194
Reconciliations of reportable segment and profit or loss: A2 EPEEIE e MY EIER ¢
2025 2024
2025 £ 2024
HK$°000 HK$’'000
TFH T FHET
Profit or loss: 8%
Total profit of reportable segments Al 2o FEY % F 4858 31,077 25,194
Other income and other gains, net E b WA SR At 2 )8R 1,586 3,008
Selling and distribution costs $HE R ER A (7,127) (10,100)
Corporate administrative and EITHREMEERT
other operating expenses (23,518) (33,386)
Impairment loss of trade receivables E RN IEREEE (150) (138)
Finance costs BTG AR (280) (234)
Income tax (expense)/credit Frie® (X)), (24) 29
Consolidated profit/(loss) for the year FERGEERN(EE) 1,564 (15,627)
127
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Geographical information
Information about the Group’s non-current assets based on
the geographical location is presented as follows:

7.

7 RPE R ()

(b)

ERAREERMEBRUEZIFRDEE

AR2IUMT :

2025 2024

2025 F 2024 F

HK$’000 HK$’000

TERT FHT

Hong Kong B 269 426

Non-current assets include property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers presented based on the geographical location
where the Group operates is as follows:

FERDEERREYE  BERRE

BEENNEBVEE -

A

ERAEBRELEMEMELE 2 RAI

MEPWENEHZINT

2025 2024
2025 £ 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Hong Kong B8 63,622 48,315
PRC == 2,980 5,814
Macau SEPY 782 243
Consolidated totall FEEME 67,384 54,372
() Information about major customers () EEXTEEFMER

Information about major customers whom transactions have
exceeded 10% of revenue of the Group during the years

R 5 TN E E 20255 K2024F3 A31H
FFEBEBAEENEI0NNIERFE

ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 is as follows: &
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FE T FHET
Customer A EFA 9,345 5,834
Customer B ZFB 7,336 5,942
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8. REVENUE 8. W&
Revenue represents the invoiced values of goods sold and service Was 1 FT & o G IR ARG LS HIBR R B R AT 12
rendered, after allowances for returns and discounts. An analysis of MEEE - AEEFARZHOITOT :

the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

2025 2024
2025 £ 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FHET

Sales of biometrics identification devices, HEEMBEHAIEE  REERK
security products and other accessories H b B 5 42,553 37,270
Provision of auxiliary and other services RHERE RH AR 24,263 17,102

Provision of online information and REE AN LB HERS

digital marketing services 568 -
67,384 54,372
2025 2024
2025 £ 2024
Revenue from contracts with customers FHEPHRELEQE15FEER HK$’000 HK$’000
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HNEEA#HWKE TET FHET
Recognised at a point in time R — A B RERR 53,420 44,347
Recognised over time e RS B 2R 13,964 10,025
67,384 54,372

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance 5
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2025 B

PDEE2025F3 A1 HB TEBHNET(KETH
2h0 RIBIT) IR 5B M IER HARE A RIS a0

and the expected period of recognising revenue as follows: T
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Provision of auxiliary and other services RERERHARS
Within one year R—FRA 8,059 10,885
More than one year but not more than LR —FEDRRE
two years 831 1,215
8,890 12,100
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9. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS, NET 9. HMWARHEMKRFEE
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#&T FHT
Insurance claim RERE - 142
Interest income FMEMA 13 144
Government grants* T8 Bh > 114 -
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEHB ARz KE 1,069 2,366
Gain on disposals of property, plant and HEWE - BEREE

equipment Bz W 20 21
Foreign exchange gains, net M 5 a % 58 288 181
Others Efth 82 154
1,586 3,008

* Government grants represent subsidies from the Government * BT BB BB TR E BN RE R N ET

of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region under the SME
Export Marketing Fund. At the end of the reporting period, there
is no unfulfilled conditions nor other contingencies attached to the

government grants.

BHEREDREMNZRM RREHR  ARFL
EBURH BTSRRI TR R ek AEIH -

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BAEERA
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Interest expenses on lease liabilities AEaENF ST 228 222
Interest expenses on retirement benefit RKENEBH B
obligations 13 12
Interest expenses on promissory notes A EIRAF SR 39 -
280 234
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11.

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is stated after charging/

(crediting) the following:

BRBLATERR,(B518R)
AEBENBBATET(BE) MR (GEA)
AN ZIRR IR -

2025 2024
2025 £ 2024 4F
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
BiaE F#& T FHET
Depreciation e
— Owned assets (note 17) — BEEEME17) (@) 242 394
— Right-of-use assets (note 18) — EREEE(HE18) 465 1,203
Staff costs (including directors’ BINA(BRREESIHE)
emoluments) (b)
— Salaries, bonus, allowances and —He - TEA - RBER
other benefits in kind Ht B = 29,325 31,885
— Commission — e 715 622
— Retirement benefits scheme — RRREFET MR
contributions 1,816 1,698
31,856 34,205
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMBATZ U (1,069) (2,366)
Gain on disposals of property, HEE - BER
plant and equipment B (20) (21)
Cost of inventories sold BEFEEMRAN 24,776 20,272
Foreign exchange gains, net P 34 IR 2505 48 (288) (181)
Operating lease charges in HHEEREE TR ERLE
respect of premises under BEXH
short-term lease arrangements 300 1,090
Auditors’ remuneration ZE AN &
— Audit services — BRRE 530 600
— Non-audit services — IEBIZIRT 50 70
Impairment loss of trade receivables Z 5 e W B E 1R 150 138
Bad debts written-off of & 5 FEMGRIE SR AR 8
trade receivables 179 -
Impairment loss on property, VI~ B KR EREEE
plant and equipment 114 258
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets  ff F # & EE R B 5 12 1,568 2,953
(Reversal of allowance)/allowance for — 175 (¥fE#EE), BiE (BRI E
inventories (included in costs of Rt AR TSR AR)
sales and services rendered) (874) 272
Notes: Mt
() Depreciation on owned assets of approximately HK$1,000 for the (@) HE05F3ANALFENEBEENEN

year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$21,000) is included in costs of

sales and services rendered.

(b) Staff costs of approximately HK$11,108,000 for the year ended 31
March 2025 (2024: HK$5,697,000) are included in cost of sales and

services rendered.

MR EE AR AR / 32025

1,0005% 7T (2024 4 : 21,0007870) Bt A E K&
IREARIEHIAA

H E2025F3A3IHLFE BEIRAY
11,108,000 7% JT. (2024 4 : 5,697,000/ 7t ) B 7
AHE RIRERIS IR A
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12.

132

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 12. Fr8HiE% (E&)
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#&T FHT
Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income Tax BEATTE — R EIZEPRIET
Provision for the year F R 24 _
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BNERREIE — EBFEH
Over-provision in prior years BEFERERE = (29)
Total tax expense/(credit) for the year FARBEL(ER)B5E 24 (29)

The Group is not subject to taxation in the Cayman Islands and the
British Virgin Islands.

Under the two-tiered Profits Tax Regime, one of the Company’s
Hong Kong subsidiaries is subjected to Hong Kong Profits Tax
at the rate of 8.25% (2024: 8.25%) for the first HK$2 million of its
estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% (2024:16.5%) on its
estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million. Other Hong Kong
subsidiaries not qualifying for the two-tiered Profit Tax Regime
are subjected to Hong Kong Profits Tax at the rate of 16.5%
(2024:16.5%) for the year ended 31 March 2025.

For the Group’s subsidiary established and operated in the PRC
is subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at the rate of 25% (2024
25%) during the year. No PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been
provided for the years ended 31 March 2024 as the Group’s PRC
subsidiary either did not generate any assessable profits or has
sufficient tax losses forward to set off against its assessable profit
for the year ended 31 March 2024.

For the Group’s subsidiary established and operated in Macau is
subject to Macao Complementary Tax, under which taxable income
of up to MOP600,000 (2024: MOP600,000) is exempted from
taxation with taxable income beyond this amount to be taxed at the
rate of 12% (2024: 12%) for the year ended 31 March 2025.

AEEBEHNHAS TS REBRLEENTIA -

REMENESHHE - AAREF —HEEHE
NRASMEET ERBIEAN N E 2 A 8B TiZ8.25%
(2024 4F : 8.25%) W T RN B BRI EHL - Wik
BB 2 B BB TRl 5T FE SR T i 12 16.5% (2024
F:16.5%) B KBNS B TS - B ZE 2025
FIABBLEFE  HMAHEMAFEHHE
MEBH B AR ZEZ16.5% (2024 F : 16.5%) K
RN BBFISH o

FR - AEBETRBENLREENHBRRAR
TR 25% (2024 4F : 25%) B P B> ¥FT5H -
P AN S B /O PP B Y B A ) 48 7 A T FE AR AR
a5 M) Sk 8 SR 5 B AR BT A TE B 18 DA S HL AL & 2024
FI3A3 BILFERERTEF - WEZE 2024 F
SASI BIEFENEEEPECEMER -

AN BTE R PR L I A T B A ) A SR P
FISmzEE B 220256 3A31HIEF
& JFERR B A & /3 600,000 58 P9 ¥ (2024 4F -
600,000 PI¥E) BA G 4N HE - R H 32 & BB ) FERR B
IAIE 12% (2024 F : 12%) FUFR RN -
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (continued) 12. Fr8#iEx (&) (&)
The reconciliation between the income tax expense/(credit) and FrEfims (K& ) BrBiarm R, (Ei8) T A
the product of profit/(loss) before tax multiplied by the Hong Kong REBEFBEFSHEMSH 2 BFRENEEREOT ¢

Profits Tax rate of the Group is as follows:

2025 2024

2025 £ 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

FE T FET

Profit/(loss) before tax BRI ALET (E8) 1,588 (15,656)
Tax at the domestic tax rate of 16.5% A 16.5% (2024 F : 16.5%)

(2024: 16.5%) ATERRIE 262 (2,583)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable N ONSL (336) (508)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible 7RI B = BTl 75 2 28 1,440 2,805
Tax effect of temporary differences AERERHEZENT ST

not recognised (127) (187)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not BRAARIARERBBBERNRBETE

previously recognised (1,349) (850)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AIERBRGEROHETE 276 863
Over-provision in prior years A FEEERE = (29)
Tax effect of preferential tax rate BEHENHETE (97) -
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries MEB AR TRRERAFE (45) (40)
Income tax expense/(credit) for the year FRMEHBY(KE) 24 (29)
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 13. EEREEMS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) E=Me
The emoluments paid or payable in respect of a person’s HEEES(THERAARLIEMBARL
services as a director, where of the Company, or its EE)MALE I HS BRSO T

subsidiaries undertaking were as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BZE2025F3A31ALEFE
Retirement
Other benefits
Salaries and  Discretionary benefits scheme
Fees allowances bonus inkind  contributions Total
Hity RINEF
e FERER ETA EWFE HE 23 @t
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR THET THET TET TR TR
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Wang Yicheng (note i) T—REE(Ha) - 677 - - 18 695
Ms. Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline ERTT
(‘Ms. Pauline Yuen’) (Mzt]) - 1,764 142 - 18 1,924
Mr. Hui Cho Lung (note i) AR L A (M itii) - 40 - - 2 42
Mr. Lin Shixing (note iv) WEBLE (i) - 120 - - - 120
Ms. Zhang Yushan (note vii) 3R B2l s+ (#fa2 vi) - 166 - - - 166
Non-executive director kGTES

Mr. Yuen Kwok Wai, Tony BrEE LA
(“Mr. Tony Yuen’) (note vi) (k]

(it vi) - 2,022 169 780 18 2,989

Independent non-executive BUEHTES
directors

Mr. Wong Ching Wan IEERE 120 - - = = 120
Mr. Chung Billy (note x) EEBEE M x) 40 - = - o 40
Mr. Ke Tianxiong (note x) R E (Hitx) 40 = o - - 40
Mr. Yang Chuan (note vii) B 5 & (B3t vii) 116 - = = o 116
Ms. Li Dongrin (note i)~ FR 5K+ (W) 80 - - - - 80

396 4,789 311 780 56 6,332
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

(@) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024

13. EERESMHS(E)

(@ E=ME(E
BZE202453A31HILFE

Retirement
Other benefits
Salaries and Discretionary benefits scheme
Fees allowances bonus inkind contributions Total
Hith RIKEH
e HeRER WEEAL EMFlE AR 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FET FET TEL THT THL
Executive directors HiTES
Mr. Wang Yicheng (note j) TRk (W) - 66 - - 3 69
Ms. Pauline Yuen ftz+ - 1,704 137 - 18 1,859
Mr. Mui Pak Kuen (note i BB (hzi) - 280 - - 12 292
Mr. Hui Cho Lung (note i) BRI (M itii) - 240 - - 13 253
Mr. Lin Shixing (note iv) WRELE (KEiv) - 33 - - - 33
Mr. Tony Yuen (note vi) B & (B at vii) - 2,022 163 780 18 2,983
Non-executive director FHITES
Mr. Yam Chiu Fan, Joseph ERAEE (M)
(note v) 190 - - - - 190
Ms. Leung Wai Hing, Ella ZEELL (M)
(note vi) 90 - - - - 90
Independent non-executive BYEHTES
directors
Mr. Wong Ching Wan IEERE 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Chung Billy (note xi) BEEGSAE (Witx) 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Poon Wai Hung, Richard & (& 1 55 4 (Ff7Eix)
(note ix) 105 - - - - 105
Nr. Ke Tamsiong (rote ) RIESEL (Hiitx) 23 . ] : - 2
648 4,345 300 780 64 6,137
R R EE AR A F / 382025 135
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(continued)
(@) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Notes:

(vi)

(vii)

(viil

()

(x)

(i)

Appointed on 26 January 2024

Resigned on 30 November 2023

Resigned on 31 May 2024

Appointed on 22 December 2023

Resigned on 15 January 2024

Resigned on 31 December 2023

Redesignated as non-executive director on 13 May 2024

Appointed on 12 April 2024

Resigned on 15 February 2024

Appointed on 22 January 2024 and resigned on 31 July 2024

Resigned on 31 July 2024

Appointed on 31 July 2024

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments during the years ended 31
March 2025 and 2024.

136

13.

EERkESHE (R)
(@) EBMEE
Bt

(vi)

(vil)

(vii

(i)

20241 26 HEZE

720234 11 A 30 HEHT

2024 %5 A 31 HEHE

202312 22 HEERE

202491 A 15 HEHT

H20234F 12 A 31 HEHT

R2024F5 B13BFALAERITES

R2024F 4 B12 HEERT

2024 F 2 A 15 HEHE

R2024F 1 B22 HEZEF - Wi2024F
7B 31 HEHT

2024 F7 A 31 BEHE

R2024F7 A31 HEEE

REZE2025F K% 202443 A31 HIFFE
WHEEERELRAERET AT -
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(continued)

(b)

(c)

Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the
year ended 31 March 2025 included 2 (2024: 2) directors
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented
in (a) above. The emoluments of the remaining 3 (2024: 3)
individuals are set out below:

13.

EEREEMS (E)
(b) ENUBREHFMAL

HZE2025F3A31BILEE  AEBAN
BRFMALTHRIEIE2E (20244 : 24)
EE HMEE bill@258 9 R o
H#3% (2024 F : 38) ALHBNSH 520
T

2025 2024
2025 £F 2024 5
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Basic salaries and allowances HEAH & KR/ 2,400 4,867
Performance bonus RIRTEAT 783 102
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 3 k& Fll 5+ 2] 4 2k 54 36
3,237 5,005

The emoluments fell within the following band: e BRATEER :

Number of individuals
A

2025 2024
2025 F 2024
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = % 1,000,000/% 7T 2 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 77T 2 1,500,000 7T 1 3

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors
or the highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Senior management’s emoluments

Senior management represents the executive directors. The
emoluments paid or payable to senior management during
the years have been set out in the analysis presented above.

MR EE AR AR / 32025

(c)

H E2025F K 20243 A31H L FE
AEBPEANTAESIESTMALX
HERMEIESMBRMBEAEB KNS
Bk (E AR o

ESREEENE

ERERBEATESE - FRESNRER
BRERENMEE TN X 25D
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 13. EERESMS (&)
(continued)
(d) Directors’ material interests in transactions, (d) EERRS - ZHIREHNPHEAERS
arrangements or contracts
Save for disclosed in note 40 to the consolidated financial B A B REMFA0FTIHES I - BE
statements, no other significant transaction, arrangement ARBRITNFTERRBEERESHE
and contract in relation to the Group’s business to which FTEEXRHEREFHEENERMER
the Company was a party and in which a director of the EEEBEENEMEARS THEE
Company and the director’'s connected party had a material RIPA AR NI D R TF4E o
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year of at any time during the year.
14. DIVIDENDS 14. KE
No dividend had been paid or declared by the Company during the TN BRF AN E T B IRERAR B (2024 5 ¢
year (2024: Nil). K
15. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 15. BRER(&HE)
(a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share (@ EBREXRER(EE)
The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share is based on FREREFN,(BEB) HER TS BT
the following: i
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TF# T FHET
Profit/(loss) AL (E8)
Profit/(loss) for the purpose of calculating  stE&REAREF],(EE)H
basic earnings/(loss) per share A (E1E) 1,564 (15,627)
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 %
’000 ‘000
TR FAx
Number of shares ROEE
Weighted average number of ordinary FEGRERNET(EE) 8
shares for the purpose of calculating B ANNAE T 8N
basic earnings/(loss) per share 800,000 800,000
(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (b) EBREBERR(EBE)
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share was the same as the basic ERITEETEHELBN SRESR
earnings/(loss) per share for the years ended 31 March 2025 F/(E518) B8 = 2025 £ 122024 7 3 A 31
and 2024 as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares. AILEFENERERETR,(EE) R -
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16.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme are calculated at
5% (2024: 5%) of the salaries and wages subject to a monthly
maximum amount of HK$1,500 (2024: HK$1,500) per employee
and vest fully with employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

As stipulated under the relevant rules and regulations in the PRC,
the employees of a Group’s subsidiary established in the PRC
is a member of a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. This subsidiary is required to contribute
certain percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and wages to
the central pension scheme to fund the retirement benefits. The
local municipal government undertakes to assume the retirement
benefits obligations of all existing and future retired employees of
this subsidiary. The only obligation of this subsidiary with respect
to the central pension scheme is to meet the required contributions
under the scheme.

There was no forfeited contribution in respect of the defined
contribution plan available at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

MR EE AR AR / 32025

16.

BAKBEREE
AEBRBERBREDESH G AEEM
FREREEEFERIMAESTE(RESH
B AEEHBRBESHIZHREBFERTE
B15% (2024 F - 6%) i H - B REEFGARS
© % /31,5007 7T (2024 F : 1,500/8 7T ) R AE A
BEREHHEREEARENES

REBEHBARBRR RS - REBEPBERIN
B BB X B B9 B 2 0 75 T BT E (R P SRR IR
Tt 8 - ZMBARARPREKSFEIZER
EAFHERTENET AN BT URRKE
MEBHES - 77 H R AEAEZN B AR
BIRE FORFRINE B RRIREN B - %K B
NAFLR SRR RS S M — T RE N SR
TRERHEK -

72025 F [ 2024 4 3 A 31 B I & 7E FE A AT &l
B ER R AT T -
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HZE2025F3 A31 HIEFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

140

17. Y%  BERRHE

Furniture Biometrics
and identification Motor Computer Leasehold
fixtures devices vehicles equipment  improvement Total
ENEE
GRREE BAEE RE E-E HEHEE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FAT TAT TAT TAT TAT
Cost BA
At 1 April 2023 R2023%4 A1H 1,566 988 2,317 1,242 4,793 10,906
Additions NE 1,012 203 121 177 894 2,407
Disposals HE 43) - (546) - - (589)
Derecognised upon HEWBRRE

disposal of a subsidiary IR (1,431) - - (218) (894) (2,543)
Exchange realignment BN HE (13) - - (17) - (30)
At 31 March 2024 and R2024FE3R31AK

1 April 2024 2024F4 510 1,091 1,191 1,892 1,184 4,793 10,151
Additions nE 33 74 68 24 - 199
Disposals HE - - (506) - - (506)
Exchange realignment  [E 3% @) = = 2 = ()
At 31 March 2025 2025638 31H 1,121 1,265 1,454 1,206 4,793 9,839
Accumulated depreciation R HERFE
and impairment
At 1 April 2023 K2023%4 A1H 1,566 988 1,761 1,242 4,793 10,350
Charge for the year FRZH 106 21 206 8 53 394
Disposals HE (43) - (501) - - (544)
Impairment A 54 182 - 22 - 258
Derecognised upon HEWBRRE

disposal of a subsidiary BIEHER (679) - - (1) (63) (703)
Exchange realignment B 5L AR (13) - - (17) - (30)
At 31 March 2024 and R202453A31H ]

1 April 2024 2024%4 518 1,091 1,191 1,466 1,184 4,793 9,725
Charge for the year FRAXH 4 1 225 12 - 242
Disposals HE - - (506) - - (506)
Impairment B 29 73 - 12 - 114
Exchange realignment  [E 3% @) = = 2 = ()
At 31 March 2025 2025638 31H 1,121 1,265 1,185 1,206 4,793 9,570
Carrying amount RHEE
At 31 March 2025 R202553A31H - - 269 - - 269
At 31 March 2024 #2024437318 - - 426 - - 426
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18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. EHAEEE
Leased
properties
HEWME
HK$’000
FAT
At 1 April 2023 R2023F4A1H -
Additions NE 4,156
Depreciation e (1,203)
Impairment DERES (2,953)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R2024%F 3 31 HKk2024%F431H -
Additions wE 2,033
Depreciation e (465)
Impairment HE (1,568)
At 31 March 2025 2025331 H =

Lease liabilities of approximately HK$2,327,000 (2024:
HK$4,955,000) are recognised with related right-of-use assets
after impairment in full of approximately HK$Nil (2024: HK$Nil) as
at 31 March 2025. These lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security
for borrowing purposes.

MR EE AR AR / 32025

20253 A31H » R E B £492,327,000
P (2024 FF ¢ 4,955,000 7% 7T ) 18 R B EUR B & 8
HEAFREEENTHEILQ024F « THIL) ° #%
EHERETHENTARE  HHAAFEHNA
EEERNEBERRI c HEEETSHER
P& R o
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18.

19.

142

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

18. EHAREE ()

2025 2024

2025 F 2024 F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FE T FHT

Depreciation expenses on right-of-use assets {F FEEENTER 465 1,203

Impairment R 1,568 2,953
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEAENSFRZ G ABBERA)

(included in finance costs) 228 222

Short-term lease charges on premises MERHHEER X 300 1,090

For both years, the Group leases office and staff quarters for

KRMEFE  AEEHERAERBETESMHZ

its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term B 2R MAERETE R2E3F - MEBKIUZE
of 2-3 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis RIEERER - BESET ARG - RETE

and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-

cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract

and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

HPRE AT HEBER RS - AEEERSG
HHER MEE AN ITHIN -

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. BREEE
HK$'000
FHET
Cost 2%
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 and A2023F4H1H - 2024%3H31H -
31 March 2025 20244 H1HBKX202563H31H 1,850
Accumulated amortisation REt#es
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 and A2023%F4H1H 202438318 -
31 March 2025 2024F4A1HK 20253 31 H 1,850

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2025

At 31 March 2024

Intangible assets represent internally generated capitalised software
development costs. Such intangible assets have definite useful life
and are amortised on a straight-line basis over 5 years.

BREE
H2025F3 431 H

R2024F 3 A31H

MBS -

BIVEERANIEE ZEMEBFRERA © %
BYEEAAEARAEAFMTIRERENSF
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20. INVENTORIES 20. ®E
2025 2024
2025 F 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET
Merchandises =R 19,310 21,334

At the end of reporting period, the Group’s inventories are stated at
cost less allowance for inventories.

During the year, a reversal of allowance for inventories of
approximately HK$874,000 (2024: an allowance for inventories of
approximately HK$272,000) was credited (2024: charged) to profit

REEHR - AREFERR AT EREIIE

FR - FEBERREI874,0008 7T (2024 F « 17
EEEL272,0008 ) EFFAEBE (2024 F : B
BRI -

or loss.
21. TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. EZEWFE
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
From third parties KEE= 19,747 17,459
Less: allowance for doubtful debts DAk %Eﬁ?ﬁﬁ (985) (835)
18,762 16,624

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on credit.
The credit period granted to the customers generally range from
30 to 90 days. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly
by the directors of the Company.

MR EE AR AR / 32025

AEBEEPNEFRATIERKRE - AEPE
HEEEH— ﬁﬁﬁ?SOiQOE AREEFEEHE
REERERFORETERRES - BREHRAAR
AESTEHEMN -
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 21.

An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables, net of
allowance for doubtful debts and based on the invoice date is as

B 5 EW0R (&)
AEEIZ R A R E A E 5 B UREOR (1B RAR
BB WIRE DT

follows:
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FHET
1-90 days 12900k 8,678 10,594
91-180 days 91 £180K 4,454 2,958
181-365 days 181 £ 365K 4,456 1,602
Over 365 days 365 KA E 1,174 1,470
18,762 16,624

As of 31 March 2025, trade receivables of approximately
HK$15,162,000 (2024: HK$12,163,000) were past due but not
considered as default. These trade receivables related to customers
for whom are mainly listed companies or large property developers
with no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of these trade
receivables, net of allowance for doubtful debts and based on due
date, is as follows:

202593 A31H - S EIKFKIAL 15,162,000
77T (2024 4F ¢ 12,163,000 7T ) B #1 BB T 4518
BEY - ZFE 5 EUGIEEI AT HE AR 8
MEF(EBAFMARIRAEEEMREN)E
B o %S E 5 EWGIE (IR RERE) R HA
ATEMRESTOT

2025 2024

2025 F 2024 F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE&T FHETT

1-90 days 1£290XK 9,533 7,258
91-180 days 91 &= 180K 3,265 2,500
Over 180 days 180 KM + 2,364 2,405
15,162 12,163

The Group does not charge interest over these balances.

AER B L % A RS
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 21. B SEWFEIEE)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables at the RE|EIR - XEBE 5 ERKIE (KR R BR#
end of reporting period, net of allowance for doubtful debts, are B RRmEN T EEERE -
denominated in the following currencies:
2025 2024
2025 £ 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FHET
HK$ BT 18,722 16,498
RMB AR 8 126
MOP RPIHE 32 -
18,762 16,624
22. OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 22, HEKIHE ANTERES
DEPOSITS
2025 2024
2025 £F 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FHET
Deposits e 2,429 1,990
Prepayments B FOE 793 523
Value added tax receivables FEWUIL(E TS 217 -
Others HAh 769 278
4,208 2,791

Neither of the above assets is past due nor impaired. The financial
assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for
which there was no recent history of default.

MR EE AR AR / 32025

bt EEW ARBESORE o FT A LI AR/
EE TR R i RS EUGRIR A -
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23. BANK AND CASH BALANCES 23. RITRRESER
At the end of reporting period, the bank and cash balances of the RIBERR  AEENRITRRESEHRIZTIE
Group are denominated in the following currencies: WEETME -
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFH T FHET
HK$ BT 3,080 3,432
RMB AR 715 291
MOP SR 393 74
us$ ET 11 3
Singapore dollars AN T 2 2
4,201 3,802
Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s 15 A B HE 5 ¥ 5 YNEE 78 18 <7 A B A E B TR (I 12
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of GEIE - EERNEBERT - A - RIFPEI
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations. PEEIRIRD - AEEEEBRBSIEEREINESE
However, under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Regulations, the BHIRITEARE IR EMEE o

Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
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24. TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables at the end of

reporting period, based on the invoice date is as follows:

24, EHEMRFE

RBERR  REZAMAENAEREZ RN

HRIBMERE AT -

2025 2024

2025 £F 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

FE T FAT

1-30 days 1E230K 117 440
31-60 days 31 E60X 2,096 2,694
Over 60 days 60 XA E 290 1,596
2,503 4,730

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables at the end of
reporting period are denominated in the following currencies:

R|ERR > AEEBSENFENREEAT

FIEEEHE

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 £
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
HK$ BT 2,214 4,297
RMB AR 228 150
us$ e 61 61
EURO E = 202
2,503 4,730
MR E EAIR AT / £ 2025 147
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25. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES 25, HtENSRERESEHR

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FHT
Accruals and other payables FERTE R R E A R 5RIE 8,144 4,307
Amount due to a director (note) FEfTE B FRIE (M aF) 2,500 -
10,644 4,307

Note: The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on Kiat : ENREAEE  RENRERENREE -

demand.
26. LEASE LIABILITIES 26. HEEE
Minimum Present value of minimum
lease payments lease payments
BEHEMN BEHENNRE
2025 2024 2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F 2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR THL
Within one year —&ER 1,361 3,657 1,280 3,501
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 5 - EEFHEF

(BHEEEME) 1,098 1,488 1,047 1,454
2,459 5,145 2,327 4,955
Less: Future finance charges B RREERYT (132) (190) N/A i H N/A RiE A
Present value of lease obligations ~ TEZHHHE 2,327 4,955 2,327 4,955

Less: Amount due for settlement B 2R REIBER
within 12 months (shown ReE(NReaf
under current liabilities) ETHIR) (1,280) (3,501)

Amount due for settlement after R12{E - IHERNSSE
12 months 1,047 1,454
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26.

27.

LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)
The carrying amount of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of

26. HESE(E)
RBERF  AEENFAEREREREN TS

reporting period are denominated in the following currencies: WEETE -
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET THETT
HK$ BT 863 4,942
RMB AR 1,464 13
2,327 4,955

The average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities is
5% (2024: 5%).

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

HARAEREN TR EEEFERAE5% (2024
fF:15%) e

27. EWAE

2025 2024

2025 F 2024 F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET FHT

Contract liabilities AHBE 8,890 12,100

The amounts represent the revenue received from provision of
maintenance and other services exceeding the revenue recognised
on straight-line basis over the respective terms of contract.

MR EE AR AR / 32025

SRERAKRARFEEEREMRBORSEBBIRE
BOEN A W HITRER M A
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27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 27. AHEE(E)
Movements in contract liabilities during the year are as follows: FREHEEEEFUOT -
2025 2024
2025 £F 2024 5
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Balance at 1 April R4 A1 BMES 12,100 8,859
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of AFAERKEGTAR4 1B
recognising revenue during the year was AHaEmMERNAENEERD
included in the contract liabilities as at 1 April (10,885) (7,938)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of B K E Atw AR SR AT B ) B 4R
billing in advance of maintenance and MEMAE L& FEIE N
other services 7,675 11,179
Balance at 31 March M3 A31 B 8,890 12,100
At the end of reporting period, contract liabilities were classified RBEEHR  GNAGEIRBATEITEE R EM
in accordance with the expiry date of the maintenance and other fR7%E #98) Em B Bl 548 -
service contracts entered into.
2025 2024
2025 £ 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#&T FHET
Analysed for reporting purpose: ERERBR 2D
Current liabilities mEAaE 8,059 10,885
Non-current liabilities ERHAB 831 1,215
8,890 12,100
There were no significant changes in the contract liabilities balances RIS EIRT - AN B EARY mE RS -
during the reporting period.
The decrease (2024: increase) in contract liabilities in 2025 was 2025 F A HBERMD (2024 F - 1N EER
mainly due to a decrease (2024: increase) in receipts in advance RERHERELEMREEBENIENE P ZERK
from customers in relation to the provision of auxiliary and other (2024 F = 1EH0)
services.
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28.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57)

Hong Kong employees that have been employed continuously
for at least five years are entitled to long service payments in
accordance with the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance under
certain circumstances. These circumstances include where an
employee is dismissed for reasons other than serious misconduct
or redundancy, that employee resigns at the age of 65 or above,
or the employment contract is of fixed term and expires without
renewal. The amount of LSP payable is determined with reference
to the employee’s final salary (capped at HK$22,500) and the years
of service, reduced by the amount of any accrued benefits derived
from the Group’s contributions to MPF scheme, with an overall cap
of $390,000 per employee. Currently, the Group does not have any
separate funding arrangement in place to meet its LSP obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Amendment
Ordinance, which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived
from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to offset the LSP.
The Abolition will officially take effect on the Transition Date (i.e.,
1 May 2025). Separately, the Government of the HKSAR is also
expected to introduce a subsidy scheme to assist employers for a
period of 25 years after the Transition Date on the LSP payable by
employers up to a certain amount per employee per year.

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group’s mandatory MPF
contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns, after
the Transition Date can continue to be applied to offset the pre-
Transition Date LSP obligation but are not eligible to offset the post-
Transition Date LSP obligation. On the other hand, the accrued
benefits derived from the Group’s voluntary contributions made
pre-, on or post-transition can continue to be used to offset pre-
and post-transition LSP. Furthermore, the LSP obligation before the
Transition Date will be grandfathered and calculated based on the
last monthly wages immediately preceding the Transition Date and
the years of service up to that date.

MR EE AR AR / 32025

28.

BARBENEE

BREEBREBIRA(F57E) XN RBERKE
O

EEREEERRELRSF  EXLBERTHAE
REELERBGRIESRIRES - ELBERLE
REBRFEETA/ITERREMERER %R
BE65 A LB - SERA N REEHIRIL
EREHNBERTEW - BNRARBEENESR
E2EZREMNREFHE (LRA22,50087T) &R
BEEFE - WHRA S E 818 2 5 B
EENERNRERDZSR BREENELRA
390,0007T * B Al - AKEN EAIMEBNE SR
PABRTERBRBEEE

20226 A - BURTIBIEET &R - BEREREE
H TSR ARTEANREF SRS RS
RS % - BEBRERBEBE(R12025F581H)
ERAER - bbb+ TEEE B EBI1TER & BT N8
HH—IEMELET 8] URBNE X ERE A AN
BEMIMEERARGE S  SREEEFES
AJES—ESERN AL -

RIBERTIRD] - REE MR RES M - 0
EREEAILE BEIR - R R B AT A
AREHEEE BB RBRG 2 EE - B8
HHBERARRNRMRBERME - 5~ @
AREETGBER - BIEAEIBIER N B FRHR
PfTEE AE ) 2 5T 28 BT A A8 A A 1K 85 RO B OB
BERERB S - thsh - BIE B HA B R RS
SEESKRRE  URBRZRXBERHINORER
—EARTERBEZRAHNREFR;E -
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28.

152

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)
Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong Employment

28. EAREBENRR ()
REEBEBGS(E7E) XNRBRBE

Ordinance (Chapter 57) (continued) &K (&)
2025 2024
2025 £ 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHBT FHT
Opening unfunded obligation FUNRBHNED 313 -
Service cost PR %A AR
— current year — AEE 36 35
— under-provision for prior year — FFEBRETR - 387
Interest cost F B A 13 12
Remeasurements recognised in REM 2 E ST
other comprehensive income EREF=
— Actuarial losses/(gains) arising from — BEEBRE
changes in financial assumptions ELEBEEE () 11 (121)
Closing unfunded obligation FRREBNERS 373 313

The average duration of the benefit obligation at 31 March 2025 is
15.08 years (2024: 14.82 years).

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the
LSP obligation are discount rate of 3.4% to 3.6% (2024: 3.9%),
expected salary increase of 3.1% (2024: 3%).

7202543 A31 8 ' BARBHTFHHERBA
15.08 FF (2024 £ : 14.824F) -

EERPBRECETNEABERREEII%E

3.6% (2024 4 : 3.9%)KIITER % 2 3.1%(2024 4 :
3%) HOTREARF IS R & -
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29.

PROMISSORY NOTES 29, AHEE
As at 31 March 2025, the Company had issued 6 tranches R2025F 3 A31 H ' AARIBEIT NS BT
of promissory notes with an aggregated principal amount of #1/31,900,000 T AB TTEHE 2 H R B © A
approximately HK$1,900,000 denominated in HKS$. The promissory EENFMNERS% BRFNER4.88%  %F
notes bear interest at 5% per annum with an effective interest rate EABRBAEERRENEITHRETMEAR
of 4.88% per annum. These promissory notes are unsecured and HIEE -
are fully repayable in 2 years from the date of issuance.
HK$'000
FHET
At the beginning of the year RFEA -
Issuance of promissory notes BITERNEE 1,900
Effective interest charged WERE B FE 39
At the end of the year REFER 1,939
2025
2025 F
HK$’000
THET
The promissory notes are repayable as follows: AL ER AN A TR REEE ¢
Over 1 year but within 2 years BiE—FEMFEA 1,939
153
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30. BANK BORROWINGS 30. #RITHER
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s banking HZE2024F3A31 HILFE » AEBHFETRE
facilities were cancelled. [

31. DEFERRED TAXATION 31. EZERHIE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses RBEER ASENKRDATEBEHNA
of approximately HK$24,046,000 (2024: HK$30,835,000) that are 24,046,0007% 7t (2024 4F : 30,835,000/ 7C) * A]
available for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax FREE SRR E R B & K o B 70 R 20 FI AR B9
assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses due to TRIFEAIM - R EEBRY ERRREERIEE
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised E o st AKRERTIBEIBAEIEL) 1,785,000 87T
tax losses are losses approximately HK$1,785,000 (2024: (20244 : 2,608,000 70) B EELRAF
HK$2,608,000) that will expire in 5 years from the year it originated AJEW B SHAR R AR & A ©

for offsetting against future taxable profits.

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32, AR
Number of
shares Amount
BRGOEE S5
‘000 HK$’000
TR FHEIL
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREEC.01B LA TR
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, 202344 518 ~ 2024453 A318 »
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 2024 4 A1 H K% 2025% 3 A31H 5,000,000 50,000
Number of
shares Amount
BREE ot
‘000 HK$'000
Fh% FHET
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAR:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREEO0.01 B ITHL B
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, F2023% 4 A1A - 202443831 A -
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 2024F 4 A1 8 N2025%43A31H 800,000 8,000
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32.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise
the return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt
and equity balance. The capital structure of the Group comprises
all components of shareholders’ equity.

The Group reviews the capital structure frequently by considering
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. The Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs
as well as the issue of new debts, redemption of existing debts
or selling assets to reduce debts. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

The only externally imposed capital requirement for the Group is
that to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it has to have a
public float of at least 25% of the shares. Based on the information
that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge
of the directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public
float of at least 25% throughout the year ended 31 March 2025. As
of 31 March 2025, 83.40% (2024: 82.48%) of the shares were in
public hands.

MR EE AR AR / 32025

32.

R (&)
AEBEREARN AR RAREREEFELLL
BN B BBCER RIRA T ABRR K&
REH - AEENEARBERERRERNAE
HRTTR

REEFBERERKARBLGHEEREHRNR
BMEEESERER - AEERSERIRMNK
B BT MO E R LA R BITHER - BR
REBEHRAHEEENRPDEHRE A FHAE
& AR - RE 220254 K& 202443831 H
ILEE  AXEENEE  BERSUREMEEDL

M—IMERHEERERAREBRGEEED
25% A FBIFIRE DA KRB X ATy LTz o
BEARAARBDEHNER MEESMM - A
NAREE2025F3 531 AL BEAFERNMGERZE
LO5%HIFER AFIFRE - 202543318 -
83.40% (2024 F : 82.48%) AR {5 B A B A LT
ﬁ °
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 33. A2 RMEEARRE

COMPANY
2025 2024
2025 £ 2024 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FHT
Non-current assets FIRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHTB A RIMIRE 16,790 15,790
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits ~ E ff lEIN K IE ~ T 7018 R iR e 528 635
Bank and cash balances RITRBE &% 85 1,823
613 2,458
Current liabilities REBEE
Accrued expenses FEETE A 3,862 465
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERT BB A B3R 3,025 1,980
Lease liabilities HERE = 1,467
6,887 3,912
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (6,274) (1,454)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBARG 10,516 14,336
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Promissory notes R EE 1,939 -
Retirement benefit obligations RINENER 28 12
1,967 12
NET ASSETS BEEFE 8,549 14,324
Capital and reserves BEARRHE
Share capital [N 8,000 8,000
Reserves i 549 6,324
TOTAL EQUITY R 8,549 14,324
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on R202566 A30 B REESHMERITRETIR -
30 June 2025.
Wang Yicheng Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline
E—RK =3
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34. RESERVES 34. f#E
(@) Group (a) A%HE
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements AEERFENSBERAEPNEHERGIE
therein are presented in the consolidated statement of profit mRkEMEERERREEEREHRA
or loss and other comprehensive income and consolidated 275
statement of changes in equity.
(b) Company (b) ZA&RAF
Share Contributed Accumulated
premium surplus losses Total
R EE HABE RitER st
(note 34(c)(i)) (note 34(c)(v))
(Bt 34e))  (HaE34(c)v)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET TET FET
At 1 April 2023 R2023F4H41H 51,682 22,458 (56,151) 17,989
Loss and total comprehensive  FREE &2 H Kz
income for the year ks - - (11,665) (11,665)
At 31 March 2024 and R2024F3 A 31 H
1 April 2024 T 20244 18 51,682 22,458 (67,816) 6,324
Loss and total FRABBR2EKS
comprehensive e
income for the year - - (5,775) (5,775)
At 31 March 2025 20256 3H31H 51,682 22,458 (73,591) 549
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34. RESERVES (continued)
Nature and purpose of reserves

158

(i)

(i)

(i)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
funds in the share premium account of the Company
are distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Share premium represents premium arising from the
issue of shares at a price in excess of their par value
per share and after deduction of capitalisation issue
and issuance costs of shares.

Merger reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference between the
aggregated amount of share capital, share premium
and capital reserve of subsidiaries comprising the
Group at the date on which Power Truth Holdings
Limited (“Power Truth”), the then holding company of
the subsidiaries comprising the Group, was acquired
by the Company, over the nominal value of 2,000
shares issued by the Company pursuant to the group
reorganisation on 10 November 2015.

Legal reserve

The Macao Commercial Code number 377 requires
that companies incorporated in Macau should set
aside a minimum of 25% of their respective profit after
income tax to the legal reserve until the balance of
the reserve reaches a level equivalent to 50% of their
capital.

34. f#% (4E)
(c) RENMEERRS

] B wE
BREREHESRFE  AARKRME
BEREMNESTHIIETFRARRE -
HEEREEREDIKIREERR  AAF
BAENTER B E R EEFEH]
EERS o

B ERASNE RO EENE
RETRMPAELRRE - WO &
BB BT RN EITHIRA

(i)  EHEE
AHEBIEAEEETNERRRA
ARIEAEEETHE QNN
R AR BB AR AR ([HE])
EHZBA - BREERENFEEE
B HEAREIRE2015F11 A10H
B &= B S 4H 2 1T R 2,000 AR Ak 10 E &
2R ZESE o

(i)  EEREE
RPIREAM B 37T IRRTE - R
IR RIERS 8RB R %R
MBELBRBNETEHE EER
18 45 8502 BUB S 7 B R A 50% ) 7K
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34.

35.

RESERVES (continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(iv)  Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises
all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policies set out in note 4(c)(iii) to
the consolidated financial statements.

(v)  Contributed surplus
The contributed surplus arose from the excess of the
consideration over the nominal value of the 1,000
shares issued by the Company pursuant to the
group reorganisation on 10 November 2015. The
consideration represented the net asset value of Power
Truth as at 30 September 2015.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 18 January 2018, written resolution of the shareholders of
the Company was passed to conditionally approve and adopt a
share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) to recognise and
motivate the contributions that eligible participants have made or
may make to the Group.

The Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 18 January
2018 will remain in force for a period of ten years from its effective
date to 17 January 2028. Particulars of the Share Option Scheme
of the Company are set out in Appendix IV to the Company’s
prospectus dated 30 January 2018.

No share option have been granted by the Company under the
Share Option Scheme since its effective date and up to the end of
the reporting period.

MR EE AR AR / 32025

34.

35.

e (&)
() RENMEERRS (&)
(v) SNEHLREEE
SN IR E i B IR R IR B N TS B
BHMEMEENMAEYZ5E - B
1R BRAR A B 765 S 3% MY 5 4(c) (i) FT 8k Y
ST HRRE o

V)  BAZEE
BARBELEBRBHBIEARRIRE
2015F 11 A10AMEEEAETH
1,000 IR AR D 1B 2 8258  RIEIEH
B 201599 A30 HMEEFME -

BRAESTE
20181 A18H » ARAIRREMAZRERA
LA GBI E IR EE IR R T 21 ([ AR RE ST 1))
NRBLABEERSEENAEEBIEL A
BETELE AL

NAEA2018F 1 A 18 BIRMABIRE T8I &
ERABE2028F 1 A17 BIEW T FHR%KEHE
Boe RArBRIEFTEINGFBHNRAAR B A
201841 A 30 MBI =2 M srm -

BAMBMEREEREHMR  ARAMERE
SR AR ST B L (AR AR -

159



Notes to the Financial Statements

PSR AR B EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

36.

160

SUBSIDIARIES 36. KMiEAHE
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025 are AR R @A RN 2026 % 3 A 31 HROFF BHI M
set out below: L
Place/date of
incorporation/ Registered and Percentage of Principal activities and
Name establishment paid up capital ownership interest  place of operation
#18 SMKL RAIEH/ B EEMRHAZRE FEREEAAL TEEBREERY
Direct Indirect
E& Gk
Power Truth British Virgin Islands, 1,000 ordinary shares 100% - Investment holding, Hong Kong
28 August 2014 of US$1 each
HEL EBERES 1,000 R EBREE 100% - RE#ZKR FE
201458 A 28H 1R EBR
Prime Intelligence Management  Hong Kong, HK$100,000 100% - Inactive, Hong Kong
Company Limited 24 April 2018
ELEaERBRAA B 100,000 7T 100% - EBRREOFE
20184 F24H
Prime Intelligence Information ~ Hong Kong, HK$1,000,000 100% - Inactive, Hong Kong
Technology Company 20 April 2020
Limited
ZEREARERER Bk 1,000,000 7T 100% - E2E AR
20204 A 208
Prime Intelligence Trading Hong Kong, HK$1,000,000 100% - Inactive, Hong Kong
Company Limited 20 April 2020
EZEEZHERA 5k 1,000,000/ 7T 100% - EEx FE
20204 4208
Solution Expert Technology Hong Kong, HK$1,500,000 - 100%  Sales of biometrics identification devices and
Limited 7 June 1999 security products; and provision of
application software, Hong Kong
EAMRBR AT 5k 1,500,000/ 7T - 100% HEEMEEEHNRERRZER
199956 /7R RRHEARARY - BF
Solution Expert Engineering Hong Kong, HK$10,000 - 100%  Sales of biometrics identification devices and
Limited 9 April 2001 security products; and provision of system
installation, application software and repair
and maintenance services, Hong Kong
FRTRARAR B 10,0008 7 - 100%  HEEMBHERAIEERRRER
200164 9H RRHZGRE  EREATAUR
EEE S xiiiii‘% B
Solution Expert Technology Hong Kong, HK$1,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding; sales of biometrics
(R&D) Limited 30 May 2003 identification devices and security products;
and provision of application software,
Hong Kong
ERMRHRERERAR BB 1,000,000/ 7T - 100% REZR: BEEMBEENRERRTER
20035 A30H LRHEARARY - BE
Solution Expert Technology Macau, MOP25,000 - 100%  Sales and provision of installation and
(Macau) Limited 13 September 2004 maintenance of security and information
technology system, Macau
AR CEP) BRAR A 25,000 %P9 % - 100% HERRHEZ2REARBRZRNR
20049 A13H #i& - R

Prime Intelligence Solutions Group Limited / Annual Report 2025



Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B AL

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

36. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place/date of

36. KM@ (&)

incorporation/ Registered and Percentage of Principal activities and
Name establishment paid up capital ownership interest  place of operation
A8 BMARYL/RILE/ B EEMRAZRE FEREZEI FEIBREEMY
Direct Indirect
B i
=HRE (R ERAT PRC, Registered and - 100%  Sales of biometrics identification devices;
(note i) 22 QOctober 2003 paid up capital of and provision of application software and
HK$10,000,000 related after-sale services, PRC
AR ORI ERRA R EEINE e - 100% EEEMBEBAIERE  REHERRER
(Histi) 200310 A 228 10,000,000757T Y REBEEERE -
Cohesion Intelligence Company  Hong Kong, HK$1,000,000 100% - Inactive, Hong Kong
Limited 6 April 2024 1,000,000/87C mEX FE
ERRERRERA A 2024F 4 FA6H
Chance Intelligence Company ~ Hong Kong, 9 April 2024 HK$1,000,000 100% - Inactive, Hong Kong
Limited 1,000,000/ 7T g
BIRERRERR B 2024F4A9R
M AREL AR PRC, 8 April 2024 Registered: - 100%  Inactive, PRC
(note (i) RMB1,000,000 mEE . F
R BNELHEER FE - 20244 A8H Paid-up: - (note (i)
(Hizt () i
AR#1,000,0007C
BRR - (W)
Y TTE 22 a8 PRC, 2 August 2024 Registered: - 100%  Inactive, PRC
BIRAT] (hote (i) RMB1,000,000 BEX HH
RIMEZREEEAEERAR BB 2024F8A2AR Paid-up: - (note (i)
(Hz#0) £
AR#1,000,00075
AR : - (Mét (i)
R B R A i PRC, 9 April 2024 Registered: - 100%  Provision of onling information and
BRAF (hote (i) RMB10,000,000 digital marketing services, PRC
AYTERNEAIRERERAR FE - 2024F4A9R Paid-up: - (note (iv)) REB EEMRABELHERE - P
(HizE0) g
AR%10,000,0007C
BRR - (W)
BRIERIRH (%) B PRC, 25 June 2021 Registered: - 100%  Provision of onling information and
( BNEARE) note ()) FE 20216 A25H RMB10,000,000 digital marketing services, PRC
RRIESIRN (A ) Paid-up: - (note (v) REUBLEARBEL ERY &
(T EH%%'JEZ%M)(W&( ) R i
AR®10,000,0007C
BRR - (W)
it CRIDRBBRAR  PRC, 12 June 2024 Registered: - 100%  Inactive, PRC
(note (i) HE - 2024F6A12H RMB1,000,000 BEX HH

BRI CRIDMERER
(hi1)

MR EE AR AR / 32025

Paid-up: - (note (vi))

[EEzaill
AK#1,000,0007T
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36. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Note (i):

Note (ii):

Note (iii):

Note (iv):

Note (v):

Note (vi):

37.

Wholly-foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC.

The registered capital of &Y ZRHE ZBHX B R A 7 amounted
to RMB1,000,000 of which RMB1,000,000 unpaid up to date.

The registered capital of FYI T [E %2 4R 2 L fE $E2 5 BR A 7
amounted to RMB1,000,000 of which RMB1,000,000 unpaid up
to date.
The registered capital of AT ABIEBHEEFR A A
amounted to RMB1,000,000 of which RMB1,000,000 unpaid up
to date.

The registered capital of ZEHEEEIEHE (K8 ARAF amount
to RMB10,000,000 of which RMB10,000,000 unpaid up to date.

The registered capital of £52t42 (FI) BHEARRAE] amount
to RMB1,000,000 of which RMB1,000,000 unpaid up to date.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
(@) Disposal of subsidiaries

M

162

On 29 December 2023, the Group disposed of its
entire interests in Prime Intelligence Marketing Agency
Limited (formerly known as Prime Intelligence Solution
UK Limited) (“Prime UK”), a company incorporated
in the United Kingdom, to an independent third party.
The total consideration of the disposal amounted to
HK$100,000.

Net liabilities of Prime UK disposed at the date of
disposal are as follows:

36. ME2TE (&)

() -
Bt (i) -

Bt & (i)

FEE (iv)

M)

Biat i) <

RAPBKILZ I EBEDE -

AT ARMELZREARARZMERRA
R#1,000,0007T * #ZE B 71 M KRBT AR
1,000,000 7T, °

ARYITHEE % SR LS B PR A Al M A AR
AR#1,000,0007T - #Z B AT HRHTAR
# 1,000,000 7T ©

FIM AR EHEEARARZMELR A
AR¥1,000,0007C - HEB AT EABTAR
#1,000,000 7T °

BREFEAIRE (KM AR AR ZMERAA
R #10,000,0007 * #ZE B AT HAMTAR
# 10,000,000 T

=2t CRIDRRERAREMEREA
R1,000,0007T * #Z B Al RETARE
1,000,000 7T, °

37. GEBREREBRME

(@) HEKBELH

U

R2023F 12 29 + A & @ i
H A HE A 2 A A A Prime
Intelligence Marketing Agency Limited
( A 78 Prime Intelligence Solution UK
Limited * [ Prime UK ) ) 2 #8 # &
ETBUE=F  HEFHEEARER
100,000 T °

K EE B & LM Pime UKE &5
SN

HK$’'000
FHETT

Assets and liabilities: EEHEAE
Property, plant and equipment W - BE MEE 1,840
Bank and cash balances RITRIBREH 225
Other receivables Hth fE U GRIE 326
Other payables E e 5R0E (4,617)
Net liabilities disposed of EHBEFHE (2,226)
Gain on disposal HEWms
Cash consideration receivables JEWR & RME 100
Release of foreign currency translation reserve IR INERE B 40
Net liabilities disposed of EHEBEFH 2,226
Gain on disposal eI 2,366
Net cash outflow arising from disposal HEELRESRHFE
Bank and cash balances disposed of EHIRTT R &EH% (225)
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37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 37. Z&RE&REBRME (&)
CASH FLOWS (continued)

(@) Disposal of subsidiaries (continued) (a) HEWBLAR(E
(i) On 7 March 2025, the Group disposed of its entire (i) HR2025F3A7H AKER—EE
interests in Prime Intelligence Information Technology VEZHHEERELTSEEMBE

BRAR(EREEEMANRE] —
R EB MLz AR B 2 Al
e HEFBEARER1ET -

Company Limited (“PIITCL”), a company incorporated
in Hong Kong, to an independent third party. The total
consideration of the disposal amounted to HK$1.

Net liabilities of PIITCL at the date of disposal are as REEBE - EREEAEHNE

follows: BEFELT -
HK$'000
T
Assets and liabilities: EERAE:
Bank and cash balances RITRIE % 10
Other payables H At FERTFIE (226)
Lease liabilities HEAE (842)
Amount due to sole director JEME—EEFIE (11)
Amounts due to the Group JERt AR B FIE (401)
Net liabilities disposed of EHBEFE (1,470)
Gain on disposal HER S
Cash consideration received BUIR e RE =
Net liabilities disposed of EHBEFHE 1,470
Waiver of amounts due to the Group HEENAEERIE (401)
Gain on disposal s 1,069
Net cash outflow arising from disposal HEELRESFHFE
Cash consideration received BUEIRESRE =
Bank and cash balances disposed of EHRITRREER (10)
(10)

*

MR EE AR AR / 32025

Represent amount less than HK$1,000

* RESEDN1,00087T
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37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 37. ZEAR&REBRMET (&)
CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b)

(©)

164

Acquisition of a subsidiary (b) UWEBHIE AR
On 14 November 2024, the Group acquired 100% of the R2024F 11 148 "EBELBREA
issued capital of & % ZE £l pk #B for a total consideration R T EE B RIZE AR EB 100% M) B 31T
of RMB1. & | # gl B #B is engaged in providing online MRS o ZBBIZEAIRL EBIL FIRE M EEM K
information and digital marketing services. The acquisition is FUSLHRS - WHEFHEEZ TILER
for the purpose of diversifying the Group’s business. REEE T o
The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of &} USRS BB - P UEE B R EE AR AR A T
ARk #B acquired as at the date of acquisition were as follows: AEERBENATENT
HK$’000
FHET
Assets and liabilities acquired: FRBEEREE:
Bank and cash balances RITRIB T EH 156
Other receivables Hofth FEURIE 453
Other payables H e3R8 (609)
Satisfied by cash LAIR & 1 -
Net cash inflow arising from disposal HEEERESRATHE
Cash consideration paid ENESRE =
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FrER e RIREEEY 156
156
* Represent amount less than HK$1,000 RESELDLN1,00087T
Major non-cash transaction () FEFREBRZS

Addition of ROU assets during the year of HK$2,033,000
(2024: HK$4,156,000) were financed by lease liabilities.

NN A F A #E & E 2,033,000 JT
(20244 : 4,156,000 7T ) LAl & & & &
fF o
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (continued)

()

(e)

BREMZEEARA

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

The table set forth below is the detail changes in the Group’s
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows are, or future cash
flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement
of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

For the year ended 31 March 2025

37. HMEBREHRERMFT(E)

d) BEFHRELEEZIHER

T%%%ZE\JZJSElﬁﬁiﬁ?ﬁéﬂﬁﬁéiﬁ%zﬁ

MED BRASNIIFRSEDH - BER
@Jﬁﬁ&ﬁzZE@Bﬁ%ﬁiéF&ﬂinﬁ
EREFNAEEGERERERDEAR
RERBMSHREREZAE -

BZE2025F3A31 AILFEE

Derecognised
New upon
1 April lease disposal of Interest Exchange 31 March
2024 arrangement  Cashflows  a subsidiary charges  realignment 2025
024% HENBARN 20255
4A18 SEERE BeRE EJ1R:+ HSER ERHE 3A31A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TEn Thn TEn TEn Thn
Amount due to a director (note 25 JER —AEZ A (3t 25) - - 2,500 - - - 2,500
Lease liabilties (note 26) HEERE ’”226 ) 4,955 2,033 (4,033) (842) 228 (14) 2,321
Promissory notes RAZEB (2 29)
(note 29) - - 1,900 - 39 - 1,939
4,955 2,038 367 (842) 267 (14) 6,766
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE2024F3A31HLEFE
New
1 April lease Interest Exchange 31 March
2023 arrangement Cash flows charges realignment 2024
2023F 2024 F
4R18 MRERH Hene FMEBA EHAE 3A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx TiEx TiEx TiEx TiEx TiEx
Lease liabilties (note 26)  THE & (i3 26) 4,052 4,156 (3,465) 202 (10 4,955
Total cash outflow for leases () HERERHBAE
Amounts included in the cash flow statements for lease BRERSRERANHEESREENT
comprise the following: FIA
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Within operating cash flows REHSREN 528 1,312
Within financing cash flows mﬁéiﬁ e} 3,805 3,243
4,333 4,555
7/ #2025 165
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

37.

38.

39.

40.

166

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (continued)
(e) Total cash outflow for leases (Continued)

37. RERERERME(H)

() HERERHAREE)

These amounts relate to the following: HLATIER /BRS¢

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FHT

Lease rental paid in respect of TREHELANES
finance leases 4,033 3,465

Lease rental paid in respect of TEHHEYNES
short-term lease 300 1,090
4,333 4,555

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 38. BEAREKIE

Save as note 36, except for the unpaid share capital that has
been committed but not yet paid, the Group had no other capital
commitments as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any contingent liabilities at the end of the
reporting period (2024: Nil).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save for those transactions or balances of related parties disclosed
in note 25 and elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had the following material transactions with its related
parties during the year.

BRPEEE36 5N + B B AR B 1M R AT B R AT AR AR
N ANEBER2025F K2024F3 A31 HI EE
B ARIE o

39. RAEME
74 55 834 3525 B 3 48 4F ) 38 B £ (2024 %F -
7).

40. BEEBAIRS
BH 25 REANBRREMSHBENZEH
B SREEBIN  REBREREEBH TS
THEARZS °
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31 HIEFE

41.

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 40. BEBAIRS (E)
(@) Transactions with related parties (a) EEEBAINXRS
2025 2024
2025 £F 2024
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
il TH BT
Sales of goods to a related company:  [AEE: A FlSYEE R
— Long Yield Company Limited —EeBRAF(ER])
(“Long Yield”) (i), (i) 62 32
Services rendered to a related MEREE A R AR
company:
— Long Yield 3 (i), iy 84 124
Short-term lease charges on [SEREzz) NG ok B SR
premises paid to a related company  FHER X
— Briliant Capital Resources Limited — SE&EAFRAF ([EH])
(“Brilliant”) (i), (iii) 300 575
On 28 July 2023, the Group entered into an 18-month MR2023F7 F28H » AEBEHE—HEEHA
lease agreement with a related company, Brilliant, the RIS EZT AE18EA 2 HEWE - K&
amount of rent payment by the Group under the lease is ERERAESNZ2HEE AT A 150,000/
HK$150,000 per month. At the date of lease agreement, the T NHEWZRE  AEBREEF B
Group recognised a right-of-use asset and a lease liability of FRREERNE 16 ERERAEEEREE
HK$2,598,000 under HKFRS 16. 5 152,598,000 7T °
Notes: st -
0} The pricing of the related party transactions are mutually 0] BTS2 EEHRANER RERE AT L
agreed by the Group and related companies. R E °
(ii) Mr. Tony Yuen and Ms. Pauline Yuen are directors of Long (ii) B Kbt + AMEIRHESE -
Yield.
(iii) Mr. Tony Yuen and Ms. Pauline Yuen are able to exercise (i) Bricd BBt e TR Sz i s AL o
control over Brilliant.
(b) Key Management Compensation b)) FEEEEHN
Key management mainly represents the Company’s TEEREXIEREARAES - BEOH
directors. Their remunerations have been disclosed in note B2 R 4R A B TS TR R B 5T 13(a) R EE -
13(a) to the consolidated financial statements.
APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 41, MAEBMBRE
The consolidated financial statements were approved and GEMBHMADN2025F6 A0 AKESS I E
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2025. R RET) B o

MR EE AR AR / 32025
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Five Year Financial Summary

hFMBHE

Year ended/As at 31 March
HZ3A3MALEE M3A31H

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
2025 F 2024 F 2023 F 2022 F 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FExT FHET FHT FHET FHT
OPERATING RESULT REEE
Revenue Wz 67,384 54,372 43,151 48,952 45,987
Cost of sales and services rendered 4% & B 12 1 ARk 2% (36,307) (29,178) (30,143) (32,284) (26,201)
Gross profit EF 31,077 25,194 13,008 16,668 19,786
Other income and other gain, net  HAw g A K& E A Uy 25558 1,586 3,008 1,497 122 2,466
Selling and distribution costs SHE R SRR (7,127) (10,100) (9,639) (7,158) (4,840)
Administrative and other expenses 17 & B4 5 2 (23,518) (33,386) (28,675) (26,197) (23,817)
Impairment losses on trade 2 5 EYGRIEREEE
receivables (150) (138) (96) (65) (215)
Profit/(loss) from operation mERRN(BER) 1,868 (15,422) (23,905) (22,935) (6,620)
Finance costs B (280) (234) (119) (107) (176)
Profit/(loss) before tax BRBIALER(B8) 1,588 (15,656) (24,024) (23,041) (6,796)
Income tax (expense)/credit Frigfi (M%), e (24) 29 (132) (146) (305)
Profit/(loss) for the year FERRF S (BE) 1,564 (15,627) (24,156) (23,187) (7,101)
Other comprehensive BREEEMEEmKE
income after tax:
Items that will not be reclassified TEENHEEERZ
to profit or loss: HA -
Remeasurement gains on defined  RERAERIKS T2
benefit pension plans stk (11) 121 - - -
Items that may be reclassified to A[EEEF P HEBm >
profit or loss: EH
Exchange differences on BEBINETBR 2
translating foreign operations fE X ZE% (72) (345) (406) 141 538
Release of foreign currency BB A IR R BR
translation reserve on disposal HNEE S B
of a subsidiary - 40 - - -
(72) (305) (406) 141 538
Other comprehensive income FRHEMEERE
for the year, net of tax HIRBIE (83) (184) (406) 141 538
Total comprehensive income AKAREEAEBLER
for the year attributable to 2HEHKEAE
the owners of the Company 1,481 (15,811) (24,562) (23,046) (6,563)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Total assets BB E 46,942 45,190 55,029 73,018 97,096
Total liabilities FEY=N (26,676) (26,405 (20,433) (13,860) (14,892)
Net assets EEEE 20,266 18,785 34,596 59,158 82,204
Equity attributable to owners ENGIE 2PN
of the Company 20,266 18,785 34,596 59,158 82,204
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